

Universidad de Cádiz

FACULTAD DE CIENCIAS

GEOMETRIC INVARIANTS AND INNER STRUCTURE

Almudena Campos Jiménez



GEOMETRIC INVARIANTS AND INNER STRUCTURE

Director: Dr. Francisco Javier García Pacheco

Firma del Doctorando

Firma del Director

Cádiz, Septiembre 2023

A mis padres, por hacer de mí la persona que soy. A mi hermano y a mis abuelos, por hacer de mí la persona que quiero ser.

Acknowledgements

Esta tesis no es sólo un conjunto de teoremas y definiciones matemáticas, sino también el resultado del trabajo físico, emocional e intelectual de muchas personas, aunque su nombre no aparezca firmando la portada. Por ello, me gustaría dedicar unas líneas a expresar lo afortunada que me siento por la gente que me ha acompañado a lo largo de estos años y que ha hecho este proyecto posible.

Como no podría ser de otra forma, me gustaría empezar dándole las gracias a Paco, a pesar de que no tengo palabras que expresen lo fundamental que ha sido para mí en este proyecto: no sólo por todo lo que he aprendido de él como matemático y como persona, por hacer que me sienta una más en el departamento, o por el apoyo, la paciencia y la motivación, sino por haber hecho del trayecto la mejor parte del viaje. Gracias por hacer esta tesis tan tuya como si la fueras a defender, por aceptar la dirección de ésta sin apenas conocerme, por todas las horas dentro y fuera de horario que me has dedicado, pero sobretodo por hacer grato algo tan árido como pueden ser los primeros años de investigación. Gracias por ser como Qui-Gon para Obi-Wan, el concepto de padre matemático no hace honor a un director de tesis así.

También me gustaría agradecerle a la Universidad de Cádiz, en particular, a Fernando León,

M. Concepción Muriel y al proyecto la oportunidad para haber hecho el doctorado, además de a Antonio Peralta, por guiarme desde el máster y ponerme en contacto con Paco. Trabajar en la universidad habría sido sólo un sueño de no ser por ellos. También mencionar a todos los que han hecho que este trabajo sea incluso mejor: a Dani, por resolver todas mis dudas y ayudarme nada más llegar (e incluso a día de hoy) sin esperar nada a cambio; a José y a Clemente, por sacarnos del encierro en el que a veces nos metemos los matemáticos y hacer que pongamos los pies en el suelo; a Kike, a quien he tenido el honor de suceder en la línea de los últimos analistas funcionales, agradecerle todo el apoyo, las charlas sobre videojuegos y la habilidad que tiene para simplificar la vida en general y las matemáticas en particular; a Sole, por ser como es, además de una gran profesora; y a Almu, por hacer equipo y por todas las horas, las clases y reuniones que han hecho que enseñar álgebra sea más ameno, hecho que he de reconocerle también a mis estudiantes. Gracias al departamento en general, por amenizar el trabajo y hacer que me sienta parte de éste.

I am deeply indebted to Prof. Lajos Molnàr, who kindly invited me to do a research stay at the Bolyai Institute, even though he barely knew me. I really appreciate the privilege of having spent time together and all I learned from him. I would also like to express my gratitude towards Kertész Csilla for her warm hospitality and the way she encouraged me before every seminar I delivered.

Otra cosa que tengo clara es que este trabajo no habría salido adelante sin todo el apoyo que he tenido fuera de la universidad y para ser justos, he de empezar dándole las gracias a Samu, quien ha dedicado a esta tesis horas suficientes para escribir la suya propia: gracias por el apoyo, por escucharme y por darme fuerzas para llegar a la meta. Gracias por hacer que la carrera de fondo se hiciera corta, por el millón y medio de videollamadas, por los viajes y las mudanzas, por hacer de Cádiz también tu hogar. Gracias por visitar cada una de las casas que me han visto convertirme en doctora, ya fuera en Hungría o San Fernando, y por hacer

de las tuyas un punto de referencia al que volver. Definitivamente, esta tesis no habría sido posible sin ti. Otra persona sin la que este proyecto no habría visto su fin es Pepe, quien me animó a intentarlo cuando la tesis era sólo un atisbo de algo real. Gracias por ser el mejor psicólogo que un doctorando podría tener. Tampoco estaría haciendo un doctorado a día de hoy de no ser por Jessica y la cantidad no numerable de veces que se ha preocupado por mí después de días de estudio matemático intensivo, gracias por ser la mejor familia que podía elegir y estar siempre ahí; por no mencionar al resto de mis compañeras de piso: Ángela, que me vio cómo matemática incluso antes de entrar en la carrera; Patri, que ha sido mi mejor alumna aunque haya sido yo quien ha aprendido de ella; a Lluri, por su humor científico y ánimos; a Aída y Sofi, que hicieron que me enamorase de Cádiz sin ser ellas de aquí y a Wanda, por todas las horas de estudio en las que me acompañó. Gracias también a Marta, por ayudarme a terminar la carrera y por haber confiado en mí sin tener pruebas para ello; a Noelia, por su transparencia a la hora de hablar; a Sevi, por todas las visitas mientras estudiaba en lugar de hacer otros planes; a Paloma, por el cariño, los abrazos en la distancia y el lugar que se ha trabajado siendo ella misma; pero sobretodo gracias a Jerry, que desde el último examen en ecuaciones diferenciales me ha acompañado en estos años, gracias por estar ahí, en todos y cada uno de los momentos importantes de mi vida. A todas ellas no puedo más que agradecerles el haber estado conmigo durante toda la trayectoria.

Hacer un doctorado es resultado además de las personas que me acompañaron hasta ahí: Mari Ángeles, que hizo que me enamorase más perdidamente de las matemáticas de lo que ya estaba y Alicia, quién metió en mi cabeza la idea de hacer un doctorado: gracias por todo el tiempo de más que me habéis dedicado sin tener que hacerlo, además de ayudarme, ha sido algo que he disfrutado y de lo que he aprendido, sois el ejemplo de docente (y persona) que me gustaría ser. A todos mis compañeros y gente con la que he estudiado (con mención especial a Bart, Jesús y Lidia) y compartimos esa fascinación irracional por lo abstracto, gracias por enseñarme que las matemáticas son una ciencia que crece en comunidad y compartir la soledad del matemático. También tengo que agradecerle, pero esta vez a la tesis, el haber conocido a Claudia, quien espero que, al igual que el título de doctora, sea para toda la vida.

Si tuviera que mencionar a todas las personas a las que les agradezco de una forma u otra el haber llegado a este punto, tendría que escribir un libro aparte. Gracias a todas ellas por convertirme en la persona que soy y por haber compartido estos años conmigo, aunque no aparezcan sus nombres de manera explícita, se lo agradezco a todos y cada uno de ellos.

Por último, no quiero cerrar este apartado sin dar las gracias a todas las que lucharon y abrieron camino para que estudiar matemáticas resulte una opción inherente a mi realidad.

Suena A Cruel Angel's Thesis - Yōko Takahashi.

Contents

1	Abst	ostract				xi
	1.1	Abstract				xi
	1.2	Resumen				xii
2	Intro	roduction				xv
	2.1	State of the art				xv
	2.2	Objectives				xix
	2.3	Methodology				xx
	2.4	Feasibility and broader imp	pact			xxi
3	Mat	erials and Methods		1		
	3.1	Topological vector spaces	Fopological vector spaces			
	3.2	Extremal Theory				3
		3.2.1 Extremal structure				4
		3.2.2 Starlike structure .				9
		3.2.3 Smoothness				10
		3.2.4 Inner structure				12
		3.2.5 Minkowski function	nal			19

CONTENTS

	3.3	Operator Theory			
4	Geo	ometric structure of the unit ball 2			
	4.1	4.1 Some technical tools			
	4.2	.2 Inner Structure			
	4.3	3 Structure of Facets and Frames			
	4.4	4.4 Flatness			
5	Geo	eometry of the unit ball under surjective isometries of the unit sphere			
	5.1	New simpler proofs for already proved invariants	68		
	5.2	Preservation of Flatness and Faces under surjective isometries	70		
	5.3	Invariance of Segments	82		
6	Geo	ometry of the unit ball under projections 8			
	6.1	A new class of norm-one projections: <i>S</i> -projections	86		
	6.2	Extremal Structure under 1-Complementation	90		
A	Con	Conclusions			
В	Nota	ation	97		
С	Pilla	Pillars of Functional Analysis			
	C.1	Basic background	101		
	C.2	Weak and Weak* Topologies	105		
		C.2.1 Initial topology	106		
		C.2.2 Weak topology for a normed space	107		
		C.2.3 Weak* topology for the dual of a normed space	111		
	C.3	C.3 Another important results in Functional Analysis			

Bibliography

119

Abstract

First thing, a summary of this dissertation in both English and Spanish will be presented.

1.1 Abstract

The geometry of the unit ball of Banach spaces is defined as the central object of study in this dissertation. In particular, we will deeply study the geometry of the inner structure and the extremal structure of this unit ball. First, we establish some conditions for a convex set to hold the equality between its inner points and non-support points, and we present a nontrivial weakly compact and convex subset of an infinite-dimensional Banach space lacking inner points. Then we focus on extremal structure by means of a deep study of facets and frames of the unit ball: we present novel definitions, such as the P-property, flat set, starlike envelope or the pre-maximal face definition. Also, we relate the different types of points

and well-known subsets in a unit ball. A new reformulation of the frame of the unit ball is presented by using the relative interior of its facets. In the same chapter, several new terms concerning flatness are defined, for instance, the mentioned starlike envelope, almost flat or flat subsets, and we go over their relations and behaviour as convex components in the unit sphere. The last part of this thesis is devoted to determine how the structure of the unit ball is affected under different operators. In the first place, the mappings considered are surjective isometries defined between unit spheres and new (and shorter) proofs for known results are presented. In addition, we prove the invariance of flatness, faces, and segments under particular circumstances, where the original new properties will be employed. Also, we show the invariance of antipodal rotund points and antipodal maximal faces. Here, the inner structure will play a fundamental role. The second part, related to Operator Theory, concludes this dissertation with the analysis of the geometry of the unit ball under projections. A new type of projection is introduced, named as S-projection. This kind of projections will help us to extend the extremal subsets of the projected space into the large one. Finally, we define the term of strongly maximal face and we show its preservation under a particular type of 1-projections, namely, L^2 -projections.

1.2 Resumen

El principal objeto de estudio dentro de esta tesis es la geometría de la bola unidad de un espacio de Banach. En particular, estudiaremos en profundidad la estructura interna y extremal de dicha bola. Para empezar, establecemos algunas condiciones para las cuales se tiene la igualdad entre los puntos internos y los puntos de no-soporte de subconjuntos convexo y presentamos un subconjunto no trivial débilmente compacto y convexo sin puntos interiores en un espacio de Banach de dimensión infinita. Después, nos centramos en la

estructura extremal con el estudio en profundidad de las "facetas" y los "marcos" de la bola unidad: presentamos nuevas definiciones, como la Propiedad P, los conjuntos planos, la "envolvente estrellada" o una cara pre-maximal. Asimismo, relacionamos los diferentes tipos de puntos y subconjuntos conocidos de la bola unidad. Presentamos una reformulación nueva del "marco" de la bola unidad usando el interior relativo de sus "facetas". En el mismo capítulo, se definen varios términos nuevos relacionados con la planitud, como la envoltura estrellada, los subconjuntos planos y casi planos, y haremos un estudio sobre sus relaciones e interacciones como componentes convexas de la esfera unidad. La última parte de la tesis está destinada al estudio del comportamiento de la estructura de la bola unidad bajo distintos tipos de operadores. En primer lugar, las aplicaciones consideradas serán las isometrías sobreyectivas definidas entre las esferas unidad y presentaremos nuevas pruebas para resultados ya conocidos. Además, probaremos la invarianza de la planitud, caras y segmentos bajo ciertas hipótesis, donde serán de ayuda las nuevas propiedades definidas en la tesis. También mostraremos la invarianza de los puntos antípodas cuando sean redondos y de las caras maximales antípodas. Aquí, la estructura interna jugará un papel fundamental. La segunda parte relacionada con teoría de operadores concluye la tesis con el análisis de la geometría de la bola unidad bajo proyecciones. Presentaremos las S-proyecciones como una nueva aplicación de este tipo. Estas proyecciones nos serán de gran ayuda para extender subconjuntos extremales del espacio projectado al espacio grande. Finalmente, definiremos el nuevo término de caras fuertemente maximales y veremos cómo se mantienen bajo un tipo particular de 1-proyecciones, a saber, las L^2 -proyecciones.

CHAPTER 2

Introduction

Contents

2.1	State of the art xv
2.2	Objectives xix
2.3	Methodology
2.4	Feasibility and broader impact

2.1 State of the art

This work is entirely framed in the General Theory of real Topological Vector Spaces. We consider important to make the reader beware that the category of real Topological Vector Spaces naturally includes the category of real vector spaces by simply endowing the vector space with the locally convex vector topology.

2. INTRODUCTION

There are many different versions of geometry, depending on the category we are working on. For example, the relevant category in Differential Geometry is constituted by differential manifolds. The category of algebraic manifolds is crucial in Algebraic Geometry. In Metric Geometry, the main category is the one of metric spaces. A particular version of geometry, Analytical Geometry, makes the category of real normed spaces come into play as one of its typical and characteristic categories.

Then Analytical Geometry is the field of geometry taking care of the geometrical aspects of real topological vector spaces. One of the most important and impacting branches of Analytical Geometry is the Extremal Theory, where some known subjects of this study are faces, extremal subsets, facets, rotund points or exposed faces, among others.

Extremal Theory encompasses a large research and a huge amount of results. On of these results is the invariance under surjective isometries between unit spheres of Banach spaces for maximal faces, proved by Tanaka in (1, Lemma 3.5). Geometrically speaking, maximal faces are just convex components of the unit sphere. Tanaka used this invariance together with the invariance of proper exposed points to fully determine the surjective isometries for the operator norm unit sphere of $n \times n$ matrices (2, Theorem 6.1), where proper exposed points are those elements of the unit sphere formed by the intersection of all the maximal faces containing it. This idea motivates our original definition of premaximal faces and Property P (3). The latter condition allows us to show the invariance of faces (3, Theorem 13), which is not proved in the general case . Another subject of study in Extremal Theory is the behaviour between the objects mentioned before. For example, rotund points (which are singleton maximal faces of the unit ball) are proper exposed points, which are in fact exposed points, and they also satisfy the extremal condition. We want to highlight the notion of exposed face between all the mentioned objects: informally speaking, exposed faces are

those subsets of the unit ball shared with a particular hyperplane, and if we consider the boundary respect to that hyperplane, we have what we called an edge (4). The union of all the edges is called the frame of the unit ball. In (1, Theorem 3.7) the invariance of the frame under surjective isometries was also proved. Nevertheless, we present a new reformulation of the frame by using the relative interior of facets respect to the unit sphere in (3, Theorem 7), what makes simpler to prove the invariance of the frame (3, Theorem 11). As well as all the terms cited above, facets (understood as faces with no empty interior relative to the unit sphere) are into the research of Extremal Theory and its invariance under surjective isometries is a direct consequence of the fact that this types of operators are in particular homeomorphisms.

Our background about Extremal Theory comes to an end with the study of the starlike structures. The term of starlike set was originally introduced, just for finite dimensional vector spaces, by Tingley in (5), where the concept was characterized in Lemma 4 and Corollary 5. This kind of subsets where defined in general normed spaces (1; 6; 7) as those elements of the unit sphere which are at distance 2 from the opposite of the center of the starlike set, and this set is characterized as the set of points in the unit sphere whose segment, with the center as the other extreme, is contained in the sphere, and also as the union of all the maximal faces containing the center of the starlike set. Even more, for separable Banach spaces, in (1, Lemma 3.3) it was demonstrated that every maximal convex subset of the unit sphere is a starlike set. Compared to this result, in (3, Theorem 9) we have shown that, for a general normed space, a convex starlike set is the only maximal face containing any of its elements. This Tingley's paper is the birth of what is known as Tingley's problem, which asks when it is possible to extend a surjective isometry defined between the unit spheres of two Banach spaces to a linear surjective one defined in the whole space. The amount of literature generated around this question in the last thirty years (1; 2; 4; 7; 8; 9; 10; 11; 12; 13; 14; 15) has

2. INTRODUCTION

made this topic considered as a long-lasting opened problem (the two-dimensional case has been already proved barely last year (16; 17; 18; 19) and the proof is made up by partial solutions due to Banakh and Cabello-Sánchez), and it has conceived even new generalized questions, such as the Mazur-Ulam property or the Strong Mankiewicz property, which are Tingley's problem for every surjective isometry and for arbitrary convex subsets instead of the unit spheres, respectively.

The main result in the quoted Tingley's paper (5) shows that surjective isometries between the unit spheres of finite dimensional Banach spaces preserves antipodal points. A version of this result is established in the case of two compact C^* -algebras by Tanaka and Peralta in (14, Theorem 3.7), and as far as we know, there is no generalization of this Tingley's result for arbitrary dimensional spaces. An extension of it was provided in (3, Theorems 14 and 15), where this antipodal preservation is proved for rotund points and for maximal faces with inner points respectively.

As it turns, inner and extremal structure are notably related, but the latter is greatly more developed than the first one. By this inner structure we mean the existence of inner points, internal points or even interior points. The inner structure of a (not necessarily convex) set was formally introduced in (20). The interest in those inner points is that they are independent of the ambient space, for example, it is possible to provide an intrinsic characterization of linear manifolds through inner points, which was not possible by using internal points (20). Regarding the existence, in (20; 21; 22), non-trivial convex sets with no inner points are presented. One of those papers shows that it is not an easy task to find non-trivial convex sets lacking inner points, example found in (20, Theorem 5.4). These facts brings the question if it is possible to find a non-singleton compact and convex subset free of inner points in an arbitrary Hausdorff locally convex topological vector space. An approach to its answer is exposed in (23, Theorem 4.8), where we provide a full solution to this question in

the normed space setting endowed with the weak topology. In order to prove this theorem, all the background about inner points will be used, such as the fact that inner and internal points coincide for convex sets. In fact, a new characterization of the set of inner points for convex sets is presented in (23, Theorem 3.3) by using the set of non-supporting vectors. Supporting vectors, as well as all the applications they had not only in Functional Analysis but also in Optimization Theory applied to Engineering, simply because many optimization problems in Physics and Engineering can be reformulated as the problem of finding the unit vectors at which a certain matrix attains its Euclidean norm (24; 25), are extremely related with the Geometry of the unit ball: exposed faces are convex sets of 1-supporting vectors (a special subset of supporting vectors considered when the linear operator is a functional) or the fact that a norm-1 operator is an isometry if and only if the unit sphere coincides with the set of supporting vectors of that isometry. Respect to this research, in (26) there are plenty of characterizations for supporting vectors, but what is more appealing in this paper is that L^{∞} -projections are characterized in terms of supporting vectors (26, Proposition 3.1) or the characterization of 1-projections in strictly convex Banach spaces through supporting vectors (26, Corollary 3.4). This is why we decided to entail an study of the geometry of the unit ball under projections.

2.2 Objectives

The main objectives pursued by this work are the following:

- 1. To revisit the geometric properties of 2-dimensional real Banach spaces, mostly those properties directly involved with the Mazur-Ulam property and Tingley's problem.
- 2. To study the relation between the Strong Mankiewicz Property and the strict convexity

in arbitrary Banach spaces with special attention for the 2-dimensional ones.

- 3. To study whether the facial structure of the unit ball is a geometric invariant under surjective isometries defined between unit spheres of Banach spaces.
- 4. To determine the behaviour of facets under surjective isometries.
- 5. To analyse the behaviour of surjective isometries after equivalent renormings.
- 6. To provide a partial or total solution to Tingley's problem.

Keeping in mind all the research and articles generated around Tingley's problem, Extremal Theory and Inner Structure, the achievement of any of these specifics objectives is a huge advance in this line of research and produces enough material for a dissertation.

2.3 Methodology

The methodology employed in taking this research work into a successful project is mainly described in the fourth, fifth and sixth chapters, where the reader can realize that the objectives proposed previously have been successfully achieved, and all the necessary background and results are gathered in Chapter 3.

There is a general methodology employed that we can describe here though. This methodology is simply the Purely Mathematical Method, which consists in axiomatic-deductive method of the first-order language Zermelo-Fraenkel with the Axiom of Choice (ZFC).

We have also employed a hybrid submethodology consisting in following the Bourbaki School for results more oriented to the inner and extremal structure, and the Category Theory for results more oriented to the relations, via morphisms, of different mathematical objects. All our results as well as all the background employed in this dissertation is framed within the Category of real Topological Vector Spaces. The subcategory of real normed spaces will be mostly used.

2.4 Feasibility and broader impact

The feasibility of this research work is primarily supported by the contingency plan consisting of dividing the objectives into sub-objectives in case the main objectives could not be accomplished. However, as the reader may check in the Conclusions chapter, the main objectives have been accomplished and then the feasibility is proved.

Respect to the broader impact, every purely mathematical work always finds some trouble to have a broader impact than the simply direct one on its field. However, this purely mathematical research work differentiates from others in the fact that some of the obtained results can be directly applied to other areas of Mathematics, such as Operator Theory, see (27; 28), and to solve optimization problems in Physics and Engineering (24; 25; 29; 30).

CHAPTER B

Materials and Methods

Contents

3.1	Topological vector spaces		
3.2	Extremal Theory 3		
	3.2.1	Extremal structure	
	3.2.2	Starlike structure	
	3.2.3	Smoothness	
	3.2.4	Inner structure	
	3.2.5	Minkowski functional	
3.3	3 Operator Theory		

As we have mentioned in the Methodology of the previous chapter, we start by gathering the necessary background concerning Banach Space Theory and well-known terms for Banach Space Geometers. This chapters is split into two branches: Extremal Theory and Operator

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

Theory. The first one is aimed to make a survey about the geometrical terms that we will work with in the following chapters, such as extremal subsets, faces, exposed faces, facets, rotund points, among others, and well-known results about them, for example, the equivalence between convex components and maximal faces of the unit ball (Proposition 3.2.7), the invariance of maximal faces under surjective isometries (Theorem 3.2.9), or the characterizations of those geometrical terms (Theorem 3.2.13, Equation 3.2.6, Theorem 3.2.32, etc.), whereas the second one is focused in operators defined between normed spaces, such as projections. We want the reader to notice that all the Geometrical Inner Structure is summarized in the Extremal Theory section, as it is expected after the motivation given in the state of the art, but we introduce this kind of structure with more detail in its corresponding subsection. In addition, we will briefly talk about supporting vectors and for what they are useful in the last section of this chapter.

3.1 Topological vector spaces

All vector spaces considered throughout this manuscript will be over the reals. If *X* is a normed space, then B_X , U_X , S_X will stand for its (closed) unit ball, its open unit ball, and its unit sphere, respectively. If $x \in X$ and r > 0, then $B_X(x, r)$, $U_X(x, r)$, $S_X(x, r)$ will denote, as expected, the (closed) ball of center *x* and radius r > 0, the open ball of center *x* and radius r > 0, and the sphere of center *x* and radius r > 0. For metric spaces, we will keep using the same notation for the closed balls, the open balls and the spheres.

If *X* is a vector space, and $A \subseteq X$, int(*A*), cl(*A*), bd(*A*) will denote the interior, the closure and the boundary of *A* respectively, and if $B \subseteq A$, the relative interior of *B* respect to *A*, the relative closure of *B* respect to *A* and the relative boundary of *B* respect to *A* will be denoted by int_{*A*}(*B*), cl_{*A*}(*B*), bd_{*A*}(*B*). A topological vector space (TVS) just means that the vector addition and the scalar multiplication are continuous with respect to the given topology. Important examples of topological vector spaces are the Hausdorff locally convex topological vector spaces (there exists a local basis of zero-neighborhoods which are balanced, convex, and absorbing). Besides, if we consider the topology induced by the family of all seminorms on *X* we have what we call the finest locally convex vector topology, which is locally convex and Hausdorff.

Notice that every vector space can be endowed with the finest locally convex vector topology by taking the collection of all absorbing and absolutely convex as local basis of zeroneighborhoods. In other words, every vector space can be turned into a Hausdorff locally convex topological vector space (independently of the linear dimension). Even more, any vector space can actually be endowed with a norm the following way: fix a Hamel basis and take the norm of a vector as the summation of the absolute values of the coordinates of the vector with respect to such basis. Note that the previous constructed norm is not complete in general.

3.2 Extremal Theory

The concepts from this section are well known among the Banach Space Geometers and belong to the folklore of classic literature of Banach Space Theory. For further reading on these topics, we refer the reader to the classical texts (31; 32; 33).

3.2.1 Extremal structure

Definition 3.2.1 (Extremal subset). Let *X* be a normed space, and $E \subseteq F \subseteq X$. We say that *E* satisfies the extremal condition with respect to *F* provided the following condition holds:

$$\forall x, y \in F, \forall t \in (0,1) \text{ such that } tx + (1-t)y \in E \implies x, y \in E.$$
(3.2.1)

In this case, we call *E* extremal in *F*. In the particular case that $E = \{e\}$ is a singleton, *e* is called an extremal point in *F*. The set of all the extremal points of *F* is denoted by ext(F).

The non-empty intersection of extremal subsets is extremal as well. Besides, if *E* is extremal in *F* and *D* is extremal in *E*, then *D* is extremal in *F*, and $ext(D) \subseteq ext(E) \subseteq ext(F)$.

An important example of extremal subsets is the supporting hyperplane.

Definition 3.2.2 (Supporting hyperplane). Let A be a non-empty subset of a vector space X and $f \in X^*$. The supporting hyperplane relative to f in A is defined as

$$F(f,A) := \{ x \in X : f(x) = \max f(A) \}.$$

A supporting hyperplane is an example of an extremal subset, provided that $F(f,A) \neq \emptyset$. If X is also a normed space and A is the closed unit ball B_X , we will simply write F(f).

The extremal condition allows to define other geometrical concepts, as face, exposed faces, etc. The notions of face and facet defined in (5) are what we call in this work exposed face and maximal face, respectively.

Definition 3.2.3 (Face, extreme point). Let *X* be a normed space, and $A \subseteq B_X$. We say that *A* is a face of B_X if it is convex and extremal. The extremal points of a convex subset $A \subseteq B_X$ are

called extreme points.

It is easy to check that every extremal subset *E* of B_X satisfies that either $E = B_X$ or $E \subseteq S_X$ (it is sufficient to consider $e \in E$ and $x \in B_X \setminus S_X$, the segment [tx + (1 - t)e, x] with t < 0and close enough to 0 and apply the extremal condition of *E*). As a consequence, proper faces of the unit ball are always contained in the unit sphere. Also, a point *x* is an extreme point of a convex set *A* if and only if $A \setminus \{x\}$ is also convex.

Definition 3.2.4 (Exposed face, exposed point, Edge). Let X be a normed space. An exposed face of B_X is a set of the form $F(f) = \{x \in B_X : f(x) = \max f(B_X)\}$, for some $f \in S_{X^*}$. An equivalent form of an exposed face that will be used along this work is $F(f) = f^{-1}(\{1\}) \cap B_X$, for some $f \in S_{X^*}$. In case that an exposed face $F(f) = \{x\}$ is a singleton, $\{x\}$ is called an exposed point of B_X , and we will denote the set of all exposed points of B_X as $\exp(B_X)$. Besides, we define an edge E(f) of the unit ball with respect to $f \in S_{X^*}$ as $E(f) = bd_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(F(f))$.

Note that exposed faces are examples of proper faces, and the inclusion $\exp(B_X) \subseteq \exp(B_X)$ is straightforward from their definitions (relaying on the fact that 1 is an extreme point to prove it). We also want to remark to the reader that the definition of edge give above is the same as the one seen in (4, Theorem 1.1) and (1, Section 2), and it differs from the one provided in (34, Definition 1.2.).

Remark 3.2.5. If $(C_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a family of exposed faces in B_X with $\bigcap_{n\in\mathbb{N}}C_n \neq \emptyset$, then the intersection $\bigcap_{n\in\mathbb{N}}C_n$ is also an exposed face of B_X . Indeed, for each C_n , take $f_n \in S_{X^*}$ such that $C_n = F(f_n)$, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $\bigcap_{n\in\mathbb{N}}C_n = F(f)$, with $f := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^n} f_n$.

Definition 3.2.6 (Maximal face, rotund point). Let *X* be a normed space. A proper face *C* is called a maximal face if it is a maximal element respect to the set of proper faces of B_X endowed with the inclusion. In case that $C = \{x\}$ is a singleton, we called $\{x\}$ a rotund point, and the

set of all rotund points of B_X is denoted by $rot(B_X)$.

Notice that every maximal face of the unit ball is an exposed face: let *C* be a maximal face and consider the open unit ball, U_X . Since *C* is a proper (maximal) face, $C \subseteq S_X$, therefore *C* and U_X are convex subsets, disjoint and U_X is open, then, relaying on Hahn-Banach Separation Theorem (see Theorem 4i), there exists a functional $f \in X^*$ such that $\inf f(C) \ge \sup f(U_X)$. On the other side, $c \subseteq B_X$, then $\sup f(B_X) \ge \inf f(C)$, and $\sup f(B_X) = ||f|| = \sup f(U_X)$, then f(C) = ||f||, which is the definition of an exposed face. At that point, if *C* is a maximal face of B_X , then *C* is a convex component of S_X , and a maximal exposed face of B_X . Since being a maximal exposed face of B_X trivially implies that it is a maximal face of B_X , we have proved the next equivalences:

Proposition 3.2.7. For a subset $C \subseteq S_X$, where X is a normed space, the following are equivalent:

- i) C is a convex component of B_X ,
- *ii)* C is a maximal face of B_X ,
- iii) C is a maximal exposed face of B_X .

Therefore, we will indistinctly talk about maximal convex subsets of the unit sphere and maximal faces of the unit ball. In addition, notice that

$$\operatorname{rot}(B_X) \subseteq \exp(B_X) \subseteq \operatorname{ext}(B_X).$$
 (3.2.2)

The following examples show that the contentions in Equation (3.2.2) are strict for some kind of Banach spaces.

Example 3.2.8. In $\ell_{\infty}^2 = (\mathbb{R}^2, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$, each corner of the unit ball is an exposed point which is not rotund. If we renormed the space so that we smoothen the corners of $B_{\ell_{\infty}^2}$, then each extreme of any edge is an extreme point which is not an exposed point.

One of the invariants studied along this memory are maximal convex sets of the unit sphere, which trivially implies the invariance of maximal faces and maximal exposed faces of the unit ball. This invariability is proved on detail in (1, Lemma 3.5) and (2, Lemma 6.3).

Theorem 3.2.9. Let X and Y be Banach spaces, and $T : S_X \to S_Y$ a surjective isometry. Then, C is a maximal convex subset of S_X if and only if T(C) is a maximal face of S_Y .

The term of proper exposed point was coined by Tanaka in (2, Definition 3.2), and it is given below. This definition will inspire an original one of this work, and it will be introduced in the following chapter as *pre-maximal face* (see Definition 4.3.1).

Definition 3.2.10 (Proper exposed point). Let *X* be a normed space and $A \subseteq B_X$, a proper face of the unit ball which is the intersection of all maximal faces containing *A*, that is,

$$A = \bigcap \{ C \subseteq B_X : C \text{ is a maximal face such that } A \subseteq C \}.$$
(3.2.3)

If $A = \{x\}$ is a singleton, x is called a proper exposed point, and the set of all proper exposed points of B_X is denoted by $pexp(B_X)$.

The following chain of inclusions is trivially verified

$$rot(B_X) \subseteq pexp(B_X) \subseteq ext(B_X),$$

and, by relaying on Remark 3.2.5 or on (2, Proposition 3.4), one can see that $pexp(B_X) \subseteq$

 $ext(B_X)$, and the above equation is generalized as

$$\operatorname{rot}(B_X) \subseteq \operatorname{pexp}(B_X) \subseteq \operatorname{exp}(B_X) \subseteq \operatorname{ext}(B_X).$$
(3.2.4)

As we mentioned before, in (5), the term of facet used by Tingley is what we call maximal faces of the unit ball. Next, we give the notion of facet that is the same as the one given in (34, Definiton 1.2)

Definition 3.2.11 (Facet). If X is a normed space, a proper face A of B_X is called a facet if $int_{S_X}(A) \neq \emptyset$, and we will the denote the set of all facets of the unit ball as

$$\mathscr{C}_X = \{ C \subset S_X : C \text{ is a facet} \}.$$

Remark 3.2.12. It is clear that surjective isometries $T : S_X \to S_Y$ which we work with along this work are homeomorphisms. As a consequence, if X, Y are Banach spaces, $T : S_X \to S_Y$ is an onto isometry, and $C \subset S_X$ is a facet, then so it is its image. Indeed, since C is a facet, $\operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C) \neq \emptyset$, and, since T is an homeomorphism, we claim that $\operatorname{int}_{S_Y}(T(C)) \neq \emptyset$, which is the condition for T(C) to be a facet.

We recover some geometric properties of facets (we refer the reader to (34, Theorem 2.8) for more detailed proofs).

Theorem 3.2.13. Let X be a Banach space and C a convex subset of S_X . The following conditions are equivalent:

(1) C is a facet of B_X .

(2) *C* is a face of B_X satisfying $int_{S_X}(C) \neq \emptyset$.

(3) *C* is a convex component satisfying $int_{S_X}(C) \neq \emptyset$.

The third statement of theorem above makes clear that facets of the unit ball are maximal faces. Using Theorem 3.2.9 and Remark 3.2.12, its image will be also a facet. We put the invariance of facets under onto isometries of the unit sphere in the following result.

Corollary 3.2.14. Let X, Y be Banach spaces and $T : S_X \to S_Y$ a surjective isometry. If $C \subseteq S_X$ is a facet of B_X , then T(C) is a facet of S_Y , meaning that $T(\mathscr{C}_X) = \mathscr{C}_Y$.

3.2.2 Starlike structure

Starlike sets were originally introduced (for finite dimensional vector spaces) in (5), and they were characterized by Tingley in the same paper, see (5, Lemma 4 and Corollary 5). In this subsection, we recall some known terms and properties about starlike sets.

Definition 3.2.15 (Starlike set). Let X be a normed space and $x \in S_X$. The starlike set of x is defined as

$$st(x, B_X) = \{y \in B_X : ||x + y|| = 2\}.$$
 (3.2.5)

We have to do some observations about starlike sets. The first one is that $st(x, B_X) \subseteq S_X$ for an arbitrary $x \in S_X$, and $st(-x, B_X) = -st(x, B_X)$. The other one is starlike sets are easier to work with when we use metric space notation, more precisely, the starlike set of x is the sphere of center -x and radius 2 in the metric space given by the unit sphere, that is, $S_{S_X}(-x, 2)$. Finally, it is easy to check using Proposition 3.2.7 that the following characterization of starlike sets holds:

$$st(x, BX) = \{y \in S_X : [y, x] \subseteq S_X\} = \bigcup \{C \subseteq S_X : C \text{ is a maximal face containing } x\}.$$
(3.2.6)

Remark 3.2.16. It is clear that if $T : X \to Y$ is an isometry between metric spaces, for all $x \in X$ and r > 0, the following contentions hold: $T(B_X(x,r)) \subseteq B_Y(T(x),r)$, $T(U_X(x,r)) \subseteq U_Y(T(x),r)$, and $T(S_X(x,r)) \subseteq X_Y(T(x),r)$. Furthermore, if T is an onto isometry, the equalities hold in every previous contentions, that is, $T(B_X(x,r)) = B_Y(T(x),r)$, $T(U_X(x,r)) = U_Y(T(x),r)$, and $T(S_X(x,r)) = S_Y(T(x),r)$.

In view of previous remark, we have the following infinite dimensional version of (5, Lemma 10 and Corollary 11).

Remark 3.2.17. Let $T : S_X \to S_Y$ be a surjective isometry between metric spaces X, Y. Then, for every $x \in S_X$

$$T(st(x, B_X)) = T(S_{S_X}(-x, 2)) = S_{S_Y}(T(-x), 2) = S_{S_Y}(-(-T(-x)), 2) = st(-T(-x), B_Y).$$

3.2.3 Smoothness

In this section, we give a few strokes about smoothness and we recommend (32; 33; 35) for a deeper understanding. Firstly, we recall the definition of smoothness.

Definition 3.2.18 (Smooth point, smooth space). Let X be a normed space. We say that $x \in S_X$ is a smooth point of B_X if there exists a unique functional $f \in S_{X^*}$ attaining its norm at x, that means, f(x) = 1. We will denote the set of all smooth points of B_X as smo(B_X). In case

that $smo(B_X) = S_X$, we will call X a smooth space.

A smooth point $x \in S_X$ is, geometrically speaking, an element of the unit ball which has a unique hyperplane at x. This fact allows us to notice that in smooth spaces, the exposed faces are pairwise disjoint.

We recall some terms related to smoothness that will be useful along this memory.

Definition 3.2.19 (Duality mapping, spherical image map). Let *X* be a normed space. The duality mapping of *X* is defined as follows

$$J: X \to \mathscr{P}(X^*)$$
$$x \mapsto J(x) := \{x^* \in X^* : x^*(x) = ||x^*|| ||x||\}.$$

This mapping induces the definition of spherical image map:

$$\nu: S_X \to \mathscr{P}(S_{X^*})$$
$$x \mapsto \nu(x) := \{ x^* \in S_{X^*} : x^*(x) = 1 \}.$$

For each $x \in S_X$, the reader have to notice that $\nu(x) = J(x) \cap S_{X^*}$, in other words, $\nu(x)$ is the subset of the unit sphere S_{X^*} whose members are the supporting functionals of the unit ball B_X at x. More than that, $\nu(x) = F(x)$ when x is seen as an element of X^{**} .

Remark 3.2.20. If a point is smooth, $x \in \text{smo}(B_X)$, then v(x) is a singleton, and we will identify v(x) with its only element. Under this statements, F(v(x)) is the only exposed face of B_X containing x, thus F(v(x)) is the only maximal face of B_X containing x.

By using the spherical image map, we provide a novel reformulation of the frame of the unit ball of a Banach space X. The known formulation for the frame could be found in (4,

Equation before Theorem 1.1) and (1, Section 2).

Definition 3.2.21 (Frame). Let X be a normed space. The frame of the unit ball B_X is defined as follows

$$\operatorname{frm}(B_X) := \bigcup \left\{ E(f) : f \in \bigcup_{x \in S_X} \nu(x) \right\}.$$

With this definition, it is easy to see that the frame of the unit ball is formed, geometrically speaking, by all the edges related to a supporting functional. The invariance of the frame of Banach spaces was proved in (1, Theorem 3.7):

Theorem 3.2.22. Let $T : S_X \to S_Y$ be a surjective isometry between the unit spheres of Banach spaces X, Y. Then $T(\operatorname{frm}(B_X)) = \operatorname{frm}(B_Y)$.

3.2.4 Inner structure

Even if inner structure appears implicitly for convex sets in (36; 37), it was not introduced until (20, Definition 1.2) for non-convex sets. For a wider perspective on inner structure, we refer the reader to (20; 21; 38). Concerning this manuscript, we will only make use of inner structure for convex sets. Below, in this subsection we will make a brief review about inner points and some results about them.

In vector spaces, we will write a closed segment as

$$[x, y] := \{tx + (1 - t)y : t \in [0, 1]\},\$$

an open segment as

$$(x, y) := \{tx + (1-t)y : t \in (0, 1)\},\$$
and a half-open segment (or half-closed) segment as

$$[x, y) := \{tx + (1-t)y : t \in (0, 1]\}.$$

The following definition can be also given for non-necessary convex sets, as it could be seen in (20, Definition 1.2). However, as far as what is concerned, we will focus in the study of inner points for convex sets.

Definition 3.2.23 (Inner points). Let *X* be a vector space and $M \subseteq X$ a convex subset with at least two points. We define the set of inner points of *M* as follows:

$$\operatorname{inn}(M) := \{x \in X : \forall m \in M \setminus \{x\}, \exists n \in M \setminus \{m, x\} \text{ such that } x \in (m, n)\}.$$

The particularity of those inner points is that they are independent of the ambient space.

The set of inner points of a convex subset in a finite dimensional vector space is what Tingley called "relative interior" of convex sets in \mathbb{R}^n in (5). In this article, Tingley pointed out that "the relative interior of convex sets may be empty" for infinite dimensional Banach spaces. In fact, in (20, Theorem 5.1) it is proved that every non-singleton convex subset of a finite dimensional vector space has inner points:

Theorem 3.2.24. If X is a finite dimensional vector space and M a convex subset which is not a singleton, then $inn(M) \neq \emptyset$.

For infinite dimensional vector spaces (20, Corollary 5.3), it is always possible to find a nonsingleton convex subset free of inner points. For sake of showing with detail the convex set free of inner points, we have to make a digression to introduce some concepts. A sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of a Banach space *X* is a *basic sequence* if it is a Schauder basis of $cl(span(x_n : n \in \mathbb{N}))$, where the latter is the closure of the vector subspace generated by $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. There exists separable Banach spaces with no basis, as it is shown in (39), whereas the existence of basic sequences will be always guaranteed in our framework, as it is shown in the following result, which is originally proved in the literature for complete normed spaces, and here we provided an original proof for general normed spaces:

Theorem 3.2.25. *Every infinite dimensional normed space has a basic sequence.*

Proof. Let *Y* be an infinite dimensional normed space and let *X* denote the completion of *Y*. Since *X* is Banach, by the Basic Sequence Existence Theorem (40, Corollary 1.5.3), there exists a basic sequence $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq X$. Denote by $(x_n^*)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq X^*$ the sequence of coordinate functionals associated to $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. Fix an arbitrary $0 < \rho < 1$. Since *Y* is dense in *X*, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists $y_n \in Y$ with $||x_n - y_n|| < \frac{\rho}{2^n ||x_n^*||}$. Then

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|x_n - y_n\| \|x_n^*\| \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\rho}{2^n} = \rho < 1.$$

By the Basic Sequence Perturbation Theorem (41, Theorem 12.2.6), $(y_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a basic sequence in *X* equivalent to $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. Finally, $(y_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a basic sequence in *Y* because $\overline{\text{span}}^Y \{y_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\} = Y \cap \overline{\text{span}}^X \{y_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$.

Finally, we can properly shows the example of a convex subset with no inner points, borrowed from (20, Theorem 5.2):

Example 3.2.26. if X is an infinite dimensional normed space, the convex subset of the unit ball free of inner points $C \subseteq B_X$ is given by

$$C = \left\{ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n e_n : t_n \ge 0, \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n = 1, t_n \in c_{00} \right\},\$$

where $(e_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq S_X$ is a basic sequence and c_{00} is the vector space of eventually zero sequences.

Remark 3.2.27. We convey that $inn(M) = \emptyset$ when M is a singleton in Definition 3.2.23. Also, it is trivial that $inn(M) \subseteq M$. In (21, Remark 1.1) is claimed that if $x \in inn(M)$ then $[x,m) \subseteq inn(M)$ for all $m \in M$, concluding another direct property for the set of inner points, which is that inn(M) is also convex, and cl(inn(M)) = cl(M). In the same article, in particular, in (21, Lemma 2.1), it is proved that if F is an extremal subset of M, then $F \cap inn(M) = \emptyset$. More precisely, what the lemma sais is that for a convex subset $M \subseteq X$ of a vector space, $C \subseteq M$ a convex subset, and D a face of M satisfying that $inn(C) \cap D \neq \emptyset$, then $C \subseteq D$. Besides, in this reference it is also proved that for a topological vector space X and E a extremal subset of a convex set $C \subseteq X$ satisfying $E \cap int(C) \neq \emptyset$, then E = C.

The following remark we will be made use of later on and it will turn out tu be crucial.

Remark 3.2.28. Let X be a vector space and $x, y, z \in X$ three different points not aligned. Then

$$inn(co(\{x, y, x\})) = co(\{x, y, z\}) \setminus ([x, y] \cup [y, z] \cup [x, z])$$
$$= \{rx + sy + tz : r, s, t \in (0, 1), r + s + t = 1\}.$$

Let us show a few results about inner points that, besides giving us a wider perspective about inner structure, will be used along the proofs of the following chapter.

We recall that an element $x \in X$ of a vector space X is called an *internal point* of a non-empty subset $M \subseteq X$ if every line of X passing through x contains a segment entirely contained in M, with x laying on its interior (we suggest (42, TVS II.26) for a wider perspective about internal points). The set of all the internal points of M will be denote by inter(M). We refer the reader to (43; 44) for an example of an internal point which is not in the topological interior. Next result is borrowed from Lemma 5 (22) and it shows the relations between internal, interior and inner points.

Lemma 3.2.29. Let X be a topological vector space and M a non-empty subset of X. Then:

- 1. $int(M) \subseteq inter(M) \subseteq inn(M) \subseteq M$.
- 2. If M is open, then int(M) = inter(M) = inn(M) = M.
- 3. If *M* is convex and inter(*M*) $\neq \emptyset$ then inter(*M*) = inn(*M*).
- 4. If M is convex and $int(M) \neq \emptyset$, then int(M) = inn(M).
- 5. If M is convex, $int(M) \neq \emptyset$ and M = inter(M), then M is open.

The following theorem, whose proof can be found in Theorem 6 (22), will be necessary to prove Theorem 4.2.2 in next chapter.

Theorem 3.2.30. Let $M \subseteq X$ be a non-empty convex and absorbing subset of a vector space X. Then M is a neighborhood of 0 in the finest locally convex vector topology of X. More generally, if M is convex satisfying that inter $(M) \neq \emptyset$, then inter(M) is the interior of M in the finest locally convex vector topology of X.

We also want the reader to notice that isomorphisms preserves inner points, as it is pointed out in (20, Proposition 1.3).

Proposition 3.2.31. Isomorphisms of vector spaces map inner points to inner points.

Next result gives a relation between the set of internal and inner points for an arbitrary set.

For the details about its proof, we refer the reader to (20, Theorem 4.1).

Theorem 3.2.32. Let M be a non-empty subset of a vector space X. Then, $inter(M) \subseteq inn(M)$. Moreover, if M is also convex and $inter(M) \neq \emptyset$, then inter(M) = inn(M).

Theorem 3.2.32 is very accurate as we can see in the following examples original from (20): consider $M := ((-1,1) \times (-1,1)) \cup ((2,3) \times \{0\})$ in \mathbb{R}^2 (see Figure 3.1). Note that $M = inn(M) \supseteq inter(M) = ((-1,1) \times (-1,1))$. On the other side, consider now $M := (-1,1) \times \{0\}$ in \mathbb{R}^2 (see Figure 3.2), then M = inn(M) but $inter(M) \neq \emptyset$.



Figure 3.1: Example of inner points which are not internal



Figure 3.2: Example of the need to the condition inter(M) $\neq \emptyset$

For next two theorems, originally from (20, Theorem 2.3) and (20, Theorem 4.2), it is necessary the definition of strongly adjacent point: for a non-empty subset M of a vector space X we say that an element $x \in X$ is *adjacent* to M if there exists $m \in inn(M) \setminus \{x\}$ such that $(x,m] \subset inn(M)$. Under the same hypotheses, we say that $x \in X$ is *strongly adjacent* to M if the same condition holds for all $m \in inn(M) \setminus \{x\}$. We denote them by adj(M) and sadj(M) respectively.

Theorem 3.2.33. Let $\emptyset \neq M \subseteq X$ be a non-empty subset of a vector space X such that $inn(M) \neq \emptyset$.

- 1. If $M \subseteq \operatorname{sadj}(M)$, then $\operatorname{inn}(\operatorname{inn}(M)) = \operatorname{inn}(M)$.
- 2. If M is convex, then inn(M) is convex and $M \subseteq sadj(M) = adj(M)$.
- 3. If inn(M) is convex and M = adj(M), then M is convex.

Theorem 3.2.34. Let *M* be a non-empty subset of a vector space *X*. The following conditions hold:

- If M is absorbing, then $0 \in inn(M)$ and span(M) = X.
- If $0 \in inn(M)$, span(M) = X and $M \subseteq sadj(M)$, then inn(M) is absorbing.

We recall the notion of non-support point:

Definition 3.2.35 (Non-support point). Let A be a non-empty subset of a vector space X, and let $h(A) := \{f \in X^* : f \text{ attains its sup at } A \text{ and it is not constant on } A\}$. The set of non-support points of A is defined as $nsupp(A) := A \setminus \bigcup_{f \in h(A)} F(f, A)$.

We have to make the reader note that h(A) could be empty. For example, if *A* is the open unit ball of a normed space, then $h(A) = \emptyset$.

3.2.5 Minkowski functional

We give a briefly survey about some parts of the folklore of the literature of Geometry in Topological Vector Spaces. For a deeper perspective, we refer the reader to (42; 45; 46).

Definition 3.2.36 (Balanced, absorbing, absolutely convex, linearly bounded). *For a subset* $A \subseteq X$ *on a vector spaces, A is said to be:*

- Balanced if $[-1, 1]A \subseteq A$.
- Absorbing if for all $x \in X$, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $[-\delta, \delta]x \subseteq A$.
- Absolutely convex if A is balanced and convex.
- Linearly bounded if A does not contain straight lines or rays.

We recall the definition of the Minkowski functional, also called gauge function. For a wider perspective on this functional see (41, Chapter 10.4)

Definition 3.2.37 (Minkowski functional). Let A be a non-empty subset of a vector space X. Suppose that A is absorbent, balanced and convex. The Minkowski functional of A is the mapping $\mu_A: X \to \mathbb{R}$ given by

$$\mu_A(x) = \inf \left\{ \lambda > 0 : x \in \lambda A \right\} = \inf \left\{ \lambda > 0 : \frac{x}{\lambda} \in A \right\}, x \in X.$$

The Minkowski functional assures that every absorbing absolutely convex subset $A \subseteq X$ defines a seminorm on *X*:

$$||x||_A := \inf\{\lambda > 0 : x \in \lambda A\}, x \in X.$$

If $U_{X,A}$, $B_{X,A}$ are the open and closed unit balls of $(X, \|\cdot\|_A)$, it is easy to check that $U_{X,A} = int(A)$ and $B_{X,A} = cl(A)$. Another fact about this seminorm is that $\|\cdot\|_A$ is a norm on X if and only if A is linearly bounded.

Let X be a Banach space and A a bounded, closed, absolutely convex subset of X with nonempty interior. The Minkowski functional of A defines an equivalent norm in X since every absolutely convex subset with non-empty interior in a topological vector space is a neighborhood of 0.

In view of the Krein-Milman Theorem (see C.3.1), for a Hausdorff locally convex topological vector space *X* and a non-empty compact subset $K \subseteq X$, then $ext(K) \neq \emptyset$. Moreover, if *K* is also closed and convex, then $K = \overline{co}(ext(K))$. As a consequence, we notice the following:

Remark 3.2.38. If X is a reflexive Banach space, and $C \subseteq X$ is a closed, convex and bounded subset, then $ext(C) \neq \emptyset$, since C is weakly closed and bounded, thus it is weakly compact.

3.3 **Operator Theory**

This section is devoted to summarize the necessary background about projections and supporting vectors that will be used in Chapter 6.

It is well known that if *X* is a vector space and *M*, *N* are subspaces of *X* such that X = M + Nand $M \cap N = \{0\}$, then *X* is said to be the direct sum of *M* and *N*, and we use the notation $X = M \oplus N$. In this case, it is possible to write every vector $x \in X$ as x = m + n with $m \in M, n \in N$, and this form is unique. We say that *M* and *N* are complementary subspaces and both are the algebraic complement to each other. Since every Hamel basis of a particular subspace can be extended to a Hamel basis of the whole space, the existence of the algebraic complement is always guaranteed for any subspace *M*, but, it has not to be unique, for example, in \mathbb{R}^3 , the algebraic complement of every plane is any line not contained in the plane.

Let us make a brief introduction about projections on vector spaces and Banach spaces in order to use it in Chapter 6. We recommend (47, Chapter 4) for a wider perspective about projections.

First of all, we recall the definition. Some texts establish the definition for vector spaces and non-continuous projections, for instance, Proposition 3.3.3 remains true if the space considered is a vector space and P is just linear and idempotent. For what it may concern to us, X will be, at least, a normed space and our projections will be continuous.

Definition 3.3.1 (Projection). For a normed space X, a linear operator $P : X \to X$ is called a projection if it is continuous and idempotent, that is, P(P(x)) = P(x) for all $x \in X$, or equivalently, $P^2 = P$. Examples of famous projections are the orthogonal projections in Hilbert spaces or the L^p -projections, with $1 \le p \le \infty$. We recall their definitions in sake of completeness.

Definition 3.3.2 (L^p -projection). Let $P : X \to X$ be a projection in a normed space X. Then, P is called an L^p -projection if it satisfies

$$||x||_{X} = ||(||P(x)||_{X}, ||(I-P)(x)||_{X})||_{p}, \quad \forall x \in X, \ 1 \le p \le \infty.$$

Particular studied examples of L^p -projections are M-projections and L^2 -projection (also called orthogonal projections), whose conditions to verify are $||x|| = \max \{||P(x)||, ||(I-P)(x)||\},$ $||x||^2 = ||P(x)||^2 + ||(I-P)(x)||^2$, for all $x \in X$, respectively.

The proof of the following result can be found in (47, Proposition 4.8) and it shows how to split a vector space into a direct sum by using projections.

Proposition 3.3.3. Let X be a normed space and $P : X \to X$ a linear mapping. Let M, N be closed subspaces of X.

i) P is a projection if and only if I - P is a projection. In such case, it holds that

$$P(X) = \ker(I - P), \ \ker(P) = (I - P)(X), \ and X = \ker(P) \oplus P(X).$$

ii) If $X = M \oplus N$, then, there exists a projection $P : X \to X$ such that P(X) = M and ker(P) = N. In this case, P is called the projection of X onto M with kernel N.

In the above proposition, the projection I - P is named as the complementary projection of P. Another important projection related to P is its dual operator $P^* : X^* \to X^*$, which is also a projection, where $P^* : X^* \to X^*$ is defined as $f \mapsto P^*(f) := (f \circ P)(x) = f(P(x))$ with

 $x \in X$ and for each $f \in X^*$.

We also refer the reader to (33, Chapter 3) to delve into the study of projections. For example, next results are borrowed from this reference, where the proofs are detailed.

Theorem 3.3.4. Let X be a normed space and $M \subseteq X$ a subspace. Then, M is topologically complemented in X if either of the following statements holds:

- 1. *M* is closed and finite-codimensional.
- 2. M is finite-dimensional.

Remark 3.3.5. If $P : X \to X$ is a projection in a normed space X, then $P(X) = \{x \in X : P(x) = x\}$.

Let us see an interesting property about projections, but first, we need to recall a few notions about supporting vectors. As we have mentioned in the state of the art, supporting vectors are connected with the Extremal Theory when the operators considered are functionals, besides the fact that they are very useful not just in optimization problems, but also if we work with projections, as it can be seen in (26). Next, let us recall the definition of supporting vectors for a continuous linear operator. The geometrical nature and topological structure of the set of supporting vectors is discussed in (26; 48) and we recommend these references for a wider perspective on this topic.

Definition 3.3.6 (Supporting vector). Let $T : X \to Y$ be a linear operator between normed spaces. The set of supporting vectors of T is defined as

$$suppv(T) := \{x \in S_X : ||T(x)|| = ||T||\}.$$

The reader has to pay special attention to the closed convex set $suppv_1(x^*) := \{x \in S_X : x^*(x) = ||x^*||\}$, with $x^* \in X^* \setminus \{0\}$, which is also known by the Banach space geometers as exposed faces of B_X (see Definition 3.2.4 with $x^* \in S_{X^*}$).

Supporting vectors have plenty of applications, not just in functional analysis but also in engineering problems (24; 25). Besides, supporting vectors serve to characterize certain types of operator, such as isometries: a norm-one operator T is an isometry if and only if $S_X = \text{suppv}(T)$. In our case, they will be a useful tool in Chapter 6 to study the extremal structure under 1-complementation. And now, let us make the following note about the norm of a projection.

Remark 3.3.7. Notice that the idempotence of *P* gives an inequality about the norm of the operator, that is, every non-zero projection has norm greater than or equal to 1. Indeed, if $P: X \rightarrow X$ is a projection, in particular, it is linear an idempotent, then

 $||P|| = ||P \circ P|| \le ||P|| ||P||.$

Looking at this equality, if $P \neq 0$, then $||P|| \neq 0$, hence

$$1 = \|P\| \leq \|P\| \|P\| \iff 1 \leq \|P\|.$$

Related to this comment, we have the following definition.

Definition 3.3.8 (1-Projection). A projection with norm equal to 1 it is called a 1-projection, norm-one projection or contractive projection, and if its complementary projection is also a 1-projection, then it is called a (1,1)-projection or bicontractive.

Well-known examples of norm-one projections are the orthogonal projections in the setting

of Hilbert spaces (49, Theorem 3.1). We recommend (49) for a deep perspective about the study of 1-projections.

Example 3.3.9. Notice that for *M*-projections the condition $||x|| = \max\{||P(x)||, ||(I-P)(x)\}$ and $||P|| \ge 1$, $||(I-P)|| \ge 1$, implies that *M*-projections have norm one. Even more, in (26, Proposition 3.1), *M*-projections are characterized as those (1,1)-projections for which $S_X = \operatorname{suppv}(P) \cup \operatorname{suppv}(I-P)$.

We end this summary about projections by talking about complemented subspaces. Again, we refer the reader to (47, Chapter 4) for more details about this topic, such that the motivation of the following definition.

Definition 3.3.10 (Complemented subspace). Let X be a normed space and M, a closed subspace of X. We said that M is complemented in X if there exists a projection (that is, linear, continuous and idempotent) $P: X \to X$ such that P(X) = M.

In definition above, if we call $N := \ker(P) = (I - P)(X)$, it holds that $X = M \oplus N$, and it is said that X is the topological direct sum of M and N. Besides, M and N are known as the topological complement of each other.

Next result is borrowed from (47, Corollary 4.7), where the proof can be found on detail. As a consequence of the following result, Proposition 3.3.12 holds.

Proposition 3.3.11. Let $T : X \to Y$ be a linear operator between normed spaces.

a) If X is finite dimensional, then T is continuous.

b) If T(X) has finite dimension, then T is continuous if and only if ker(T) is closed.

c) If Y has finite dimension, then T is an open mapping if and only if T is surjective.

We include the proof of the following proposition in order to know how to split a normed space in a direct sum, but the proof is original from (47, Proof of Proposition 4.10)

Proposition 3.3.12. Let X be a normed space and $M \subseteq X$ a closed subspace with finite codimension. Then every algebraic complement of M is a topological complement.

Proof. Let *N* be an algebraic complement of *M*, that is, $X = M \oplus N$. Let us show that the projection $P : X \to X$ verifying P(X) = N is continuous. Indeed, just observe that $\ker(P) = M$, which is closed by hypothesis, and P(X) = N, which has finite dimension, hence, by Proposition 3.3.11, *P* is continuous.

Let us finally mention that finite codimensionality does not imply closedness. Indeed, if X is any infinite-dimensional normed space, then there exists a non-continuous linear functional whose kernel is obviously not closed but of codimension 1.

CHAPTER

Geometric structure of the unit ball

Contents

4.1	Some technical tools	29
4.2	Inner Structure	35
4.3	Structure of Facets and Frames	41
4.4	Flatness	55

The aim of this chapter is to study the behaviour of the geometrical notions we have introduced; by this behaviour we mean how they interact between them or original characterizations of those concepts that we will present. First section is a compilation of some original technical tools that we have needed during the develop of the dissertation. We have leaved these results aside just in order to facilitate the reading. We carry the chapter on with a wide study on Inner Structure: we underline Theorem 4.2.2, where we prove the equivalence between the set of inner points and non-support points for convex sets with inner points,

4. GEOMETRIC STRUCTURE OF THE UNIT BALL

and Theorem 4.2.5, which gives an approach in the affirmative to the question about the existence of non-trivial compact and convex subsets lacking inner points, result borrowed from the submitted paper (23). The section about facets and frames starts with some original definitions: what a pre-maximal face is (Definition 4.3.1) and what we understand by Property P (Definition 4.3.2), proving in Corollary 4.3.7 that there are several examples of Banach spaces failing this P-property. Noteworthy results in this section are Proposition 4.3.10, which shows one of the cases when faces and facets coincide, and Theorem 4.3.12. This last result presents a new reformulation of the frame of the unit ball that will be crucial to prove the invariance of this geometrical concept in Chapter 5. The last section of the current chapter is devoted to the study of a "new" part of the unit ball: the *flat* section. Again, we present new original definitions, in this case, motivated by the concept of starlike set, which are the starlike envelope, almost flat/flat set or the starlike-compatible/generated set (see Definition 4.4.1). As we will see in the following chapter, these geometrical subsets of the unit sphere will be invariants under surjective isometries. We highlight Example 4.4.3 as an example of an almost flat set which is not flat and a non-convex-starlike generated set. This example motivates the Flat Property (Definition 4.4.5), which states a convenient environment considering the hypotheses of Lemmas 4.4.8 and 4.4.9. This last result establishes a generalization of Tingley's results (5, Lemma 2 and Corollary 3), as well as it gives a deeper perspective about starlike sets. In particular, it will be used in order to prove Theorems 4.4.10 and 4.4.13. These theorems show that starlike sets are the only maximal faces containing its center when the starlike is convex and it shows conditions for which the convexity holds for starlike sets.

4.1 Some technical tools

This section is a compilation of technical lemmas, theorem and results about the behaviour of the unit ball and its elements. We will also include some statements which works in the unit ball but are related to general cases in normed spaces.

The following remark will be crucial towards finding geometric invariants under surjective isometries, which is the main purpose of the following chapter.

Remark 4.1.1. Let X be a normed space. For every non-zero $x, y \in X$, ||x + y|| = ||x|| + ||y||if and only if the closed segment $\left[\frac{x}{||x||}, \frac{y}{||y||}\right] \subseteq S_X$. Indeed,

 \Rightarrow) if ||x + y|| = ||x|| + ||y||, then

$$\frac{\|x\|}{\|x+y\|}\frac{x}{\|x\|} + \frac{\|y\|}{\|x+y\|}\frac{y}{\|y\|} = \frac{x+y}{\|x+y\|}$$

is a strict convex combination which is in the unit sphere S_X , therefore it should be contained in a face of the sphere, which means that the whole closed segment $\left[\frac{x}{\|x\|}, \frac{y}{\|y\|}\right] \subseteq S_X$.

⇐) Conversely, if $\left[\frac{x}{\|x\|}, \frac{y}{\|y\|}\right] \subseteq S_X$, then using a similar reasoning as above

$$\frac{x+y}{\|x+y\|} = \frac{\|x\|}{\|x+y\|} \frac{x}{\|x\|} + \frac{\|y\|}{\|x+y\|} \frac{y}{\|y\|} \in \left[\frac{x}{\|x\|}, \frac{y}{\|y\|}\right] \subseteq S_X,$$

then $\|\frac{x+y}{\|x+y\|}\| = 1$, which means than $\|x+y\| = \|x\| + \|y\|$.

We recall to the reader that a normed space *X* is said to be rotund (or strictly convex) if its unit sphere has no non-trivial segments, which is equivalent to $ext(B_X) = S_X$. We suggest

(33, Chapter 5) for a deeper study about rotundity.

Remark 4.1.2. If $C \subseteq X$ is a convex set of a normed spaces containing at least three points which are not aligned, then $C \setminus \{c\}$ is connected for all $c \in C$.

The following remark will be useful to construct a new unit ball in \mathbb{R}^3 , that will serve as a counterexample.

Remark 4.1.3. Let K be a compact convex subset of a finite dimensional Banach space X, satisfying that K has non-empty interior. Suppose that there exists a functional $x^* \in S_{X^*}$ such that $x^*(x) > 0$ for all $x \in K$. Take $A := co(K \cup -K)$. Then A is compact, absolutely convex and a neighborhood of 0. Therefore, A defines an equivalent norm in X.

Lemma 4.1.4. Under the settings of Remark 4.1.3, $ext(A) \subseteq ext(K) \cup ext(-K)$.

Proof. Let $a \in \text{ext}(A) = \text{ext}(\text{co}(K \cup -K))$ be an arbitrary extreme point of A. Notice that there exist $t \in [0, 1]$, $k_1, k_2 \in K$ such that $a = tk_1 + (1 - t)(-k_2)$. Since a is an extreme point, it holds that $a = k_1$ or $a = -k_2$. Suppose with no loss of generality that $a = k_1$. Then, $a \in \text{ext}(A) \cap K \subseteq \text{ext}(K)$.

Now, we go through several technical remarks and lemmas that are going to made use of with the goal of finding an example of a non-trivial convex and compact set free of inner points in Section 4.2 of this chapter.

Remark 4.1.5. Let X be an infinite-dimensional Banach space and $(e_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq X$ a bounded

basic sequence. Let us consider the following operator:

$$T: \ell_1 \longrightarrow X$$
$$(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \longmapsto T\left((t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}\right) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n e_n$$

The previous operator verifies some properties: T is well-defined. Also, $\ker(T) = 0$ since $(e_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a basic sequence, thus, T is one-to-one or injective. Besides, the operator is linear by its definition. Let us show that T is also bounded. Indeed, $(e_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is bounded, which means that $\|(\|e_n\|_X)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}\|_{\infty} < \infty$. Then

$$\begin{split} \|T\|_{\infty} &= \sup \left\{ \|T((t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}})\|_X : \|(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}\|_1 = 1 \right\} \\ &\leq \sup \left\{ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |t_n| \|e_n\|_X : \|(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}\|_1 = 1 \right\} \\ &\leq \sup \left\{ \|e_n\|_X : n \in \mathbb{N} \right\} = \left\| (\|e_n\|_X)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \right\|_{\infty}. \end{split}$$

The above inequalities show that T is bounded. Even more, we can prove that $||T|| = ||(||e_n||_X)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}||_{\infty}$. Let $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \ell_1$ be the canonical basis, then $||u_n||_1 = 1$ and $T(u_n) = e_n$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, hence, $||T(u_n)||_X = ||e_n||_X$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Now, consider a subsequence $(e_{n_k})_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ satisfying $||e_{n_k}||_X \to ||(||e_n||_X)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}||_{\infty}$ as $k \to \infty$. This is equivalent to $||T(u_{n_k})||_X \to ||(||e_n||_X)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}||_{\infty}$ as $k \to \infty$, meaning that $||(||e_n||_X)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}||_{\infty} \leq \sup_{x \in B_{\ell_1}} ||T(x)||_X = ||T||$.

Observe that this supremum is attained: let $\varepsilon > 0$, then, there exists $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$M - \varepsilon < \|e_k\| \le M, \tag{4.1.1}$$

where $M = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \{ \|e_n\| \}$. Now, let $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \ell_1$ be the canonical basis. Notice that $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq B_{\ell_1}$ and the image of this basis is precisely our bounded sequence, that is, $T(u_n) = e_n$ for each

 $n \in \mathbb{N}$, hence, $||T(u_n)||_X = ||e_n||_X$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Putting this together with Equation 4.1.1, it holds that

$$M - \varepsilon < ||T(u_k)|| \le ||T|| = \sup\{||T(t_n)|| : (t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq B_{\ell_1}\}.$$

If we make $\varepsilon \to 0$, the next inequality holds $M \le ||T|| \le M$, meaning that $||T|| = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \{||e_n||\}$.

As a consequence, T is continuous. In particular, T is w - w continuous, so T maps w-compact subsets of ℓ_1 to w-compact subsets of X. Also, T is an isomorphism of vector spaces over its image, which means that T maps convex sets free of inner points of ℓ_1 to convex sets of X free of inner point, in view of (20, Section 1).

We refer the reader to (41, Chapter 6, Section 4) for more details about weak-* and weak convergence. We recover the following observation.

Remark 4.1.6. Let X be a normed space. If $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a bounded sequence of X^* such that there exists $x_0^* \in X^*$ verifying that $(x_n^*(y))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent to $x_0^*(y)$ for all $y \in Y$, where Y is a dense subspace of X, then $(x_n^*)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is w^{*}-convergent to x_0^* .

Lemma 4.1.7. Consider $(x_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ a bounded sequence of ℓ_1 such that $(x_k(n))_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, there exists $x_0 \in \ell_1$ such that $(x_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is w^{*}-convergent to x_0 .

Proof. We pick x_0 defined as the sequence whose n^{th} -term is given by $x_0(n) := \lim_{k \to \infty} x_k(n)$, and let M > 0 such that $||x_k||_1 \le M$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. We will follow some steps through this proof:

1) Let us see that $x_0 \in \ell_1$. For this, we will show that for every $p \in \mathbb{N}$, $\sum_{n=1}^p |x_0(n)| \le M$.

Indeed, fir an arbitrary $p \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. By hypothesis, we know that $(x_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is

coordinate-convergent, thus, for every $n \in \{1, ..., p\}$ there exists $k_n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$|x_k(n)-x_0(n)| < \frac{\varepsilon}{p}, \quad \forall k \ge k_n$$

Take $k_0 := \max\{k_1, ..., k_p\}$, then

$$\sum_{n=1}^{p} |x_0(n)| \ge \sum_{n=1}^{p} |x_0(n) - x_{k_0}(n)| + \sum_{n=1}^{p} |x_{k_0}(n)| \le \sum_{n=1}^{p} \frac{\varepsilon}{p} + ||x_{k_0}||_1 \ge \varepsilon + M.$$

The arbitrariness of $\varepsilon > 0$ leads to $\sum_{n=1}^{p} |x_0(n)| \le M$, and the arbitrariness of $p \in \mathbb{N}$ gives us that $x_0 \in \ell_1$.

2) Let us show that (x_k)_{k∈ℕ} w*-converges to x₀ using the previous remark. Notice that c₀₀ is dense in c₀, and (x_k)_{k∈ℕ} is coordinate-convergent to x₀. In particular, (x_k(y))_{k∈ℕ} → x₀(y), for all y ∈ c₀₀, where x_k(y) means x_k acting on y in the dual l₁ = (c₀)*, that is x_k(y) := ∑_{n=1}[∞] x_k(n)y(n). Then, by Remark 4.1.6, (x_k)_{k∈ℕ} is w*-convergent to x₀.

Remark 4.1.8. Let X be a topological space, $\gamma : D \to X$ a net in X, where D is a directed set and $x \in X$. If every subnet λ of γ has a further subnet δ with $x \in \lim(\delta)$, then $x \in \lim(\gamma)$.

Next lemma generalizes Remark 4.1.6 and Lemma 4.1.7 at once.

Lemma 4.1.9. Let $(x_n^*)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq X^*$ be a bounded and pointwise convergent sequence of a normed space. Then, there exists $x_0^* \in X^*$ such that $(x_n^*)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is w*-convergent to x_0^* .

Proof. By the Banach-Alaoglu Theorem C.2.3, $(x_n^*)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ has a w^* -convergent subnet to some x_0^* in X^* . The pointwise converges assures that $x_0^*(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} x_n^*(x)$ for all $x \in X$. We will prove that $(x_n^*)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is w^* -convergent to x_0^* using Remark 4.1.8. Indeed, let $(x_{n_a}^*)_{\alpha \in A}$ be any subnet of $(x_n^*)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. Since $(x_{n_a}^*)_{\alpha \in A}$ is bounded, the Banach-Alaoglu Theorem assures again that it is possible to extract a further subnet $(x_{n_{a_\beta}}^*)_{\beta \in B}$ which is w^* -convergent to some $x_1^* \in X$. For every $x \in X$, $(x_{n_{a_\beta}}^*(x))_{\beta \in B}$ is a subnet of $(x_n^*(x))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$, then

$$x_{1}^{*}(x) = \lim_{\beta \in B} \left(x_{n_{\alpha_{\beta}}}^{*}(x) \right)_{\beta \in B} = \lim_{n \to \infty} x_{n}^{*}(x) = x_{0}^{*}(x).$$

This equality implies that $x_1^* = x_0^*$ and $\left(x_{n_{\alpha_\beta}}^*\right)_{\beta \in B}$ is *w**-convergent to x_0^* . By using Remark 4.1.8, $(x_n^*)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is *w**-convergent to x_0^* .

The next result is a refinement of (50, Lemma 2.3) with a simpler proof. This lemma will be crucial to show the example of a weakly compact convex subset with no inner points (the example will be studied in Theorem 4.2.5).

Lemma 4.1.10. Let $(e_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a basic sequence of an infinite-dimensional Banach space X, and let T the operator given in Remark 4.1.5. Then, if A is a w*-closed bounded subset of ℓ_1 , then T(A) is w-sequentially closed in X. If A is also convex, then T(A) is w-closed.

Proof. Let $((t_n^k)_{n\in\mathbb{N}})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of *A* satisfying that its image via *T* is weakly-convergent, that is, $(T((t_n^k)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}))_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is *w*-convergent to some $x \in X$. For every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we will denote by $e_n^* \in X^*$ the Hahn-Banach extension of the coordinate functional respect to e_n . We notice that $(e_n^*(T((t_n^k)_{n\in\mathbb{N}})))_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges to $(e_n^*(x))$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Besides, $(e_n^*(T((t_n^k)_{n\in\mathbb{N}})))_{k\in\mathbb{N}} = t_n^k$, for all $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$. This means that $((t_n^k)_{n\in\mathbb{N}})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a bounded sequence of ℓ_1 which is pointwise convergent to $(e_n^*(x))_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$, therefore, we are under the hypotheses of Lemma 4.1.7 or Lemma 4.1.9, concluding that $(e_n^*(x))_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \in \ell_1$ and $((t_n^k)_{n\in\mathbb{N}})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is *w**-convergent

to $(e_n^*(x))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. We recall that $((t_n^k)_{n \in \mathbb{N}})_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence of A, which is w^* -closed, then, $(e_n^*(x))_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in A$. We conclude that $x \in T(A)$ noticing that

$$x = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} e_n^*(x) e_n = T\left((e_n^*(x))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}\right) \in T(A).$$

To conclude the proof, assume *A* is convex. Then, T(A) is convex. Besides, T(A) is *w*-sequentially closed, so, T(A) is closed (respect to the norm) and convex, then, by the Hahn-Banach Separation Theorem, T(A) is *w*-closed.

We conclude this section about technical necessary remarks in order to give an example of a non-trivial weakly compact convex set free of inner points with the following remark.

Remark 4.1.11. The set $\{(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}\} \in \ell_1 : t_n \ge 0\}$ is w^{*}-closed in ℓ_1 . This assertion is clear just considering that w^{*}-convergence implies pointwise convergence in ℓ_1 , since ℓ_1 is a dual space, $\ell_1 = c_0^*$, and in a dual space the pointwise convergence is equivalent to weak^{*}-convergence (see Proposition C.2.16.1).

4.2 Inner Structure

Along this section, we will profoundly develop the inner structure introduced in the previous chapter and give new results about concepts related to this study. Notice that for a generalized view of the inner structure, some parts of the work are not into the unit ball, but it still suits our purpose in the next results.

We start this study giving the relation between the set of inner points and non-support points of a convex subset under particular conditions. This relation belongs to (3, Theorem 5).

Theorem 4.2.1. Let C be a convex subset of a vector space X, satisfying that $h(C) \neq \emptyset$. Then, $inn(C) \subseteq nsupp(C)$.

Proof. Fix an arbitrary $f \in h(C)$, where

 $h(C) = \{f \in X^* : f \text{ attains it sup at } C \text{ and it is not constant on } C\}.$

We know that F(f, C) is extremal in *C* in view of Definition 3.2.2. Next, we call Remark 3.2.27 to conclude that $F(f, C) \cap \operatorname{inn}(C) = \emptyset$, which means that $\operatorname{inn}(C) \subseteq C \setminus F(f, C)$. Keep in mind that $\operatorname{nsupp}(C) = C \setminus \bigcup_{f \in h(C)} F(f, C)$ and the arbitrariness of $f \in h(C)$, it holds

$$\operatorname{inn}(C) \subseteq \bigcap_{f \in h(C)} C \setminus F(f, C) = C \setminus \bigcup_{f \in h(C)} F(f, C) = \operatorname{nsupp}(C).$$

We complete result above in (23, Theorem 3.3), which is exposed in next theorem.

Theorem 4.2.2. Let X be a vector space and $C \subseteq X$ a convex subset of X. If $h(C) \neq \emptyset$ and $inn(C) \neq \emptyset$, then inn(C) = nsupp(C).

Proof. \subseteq This inclusion has been already proved in Theorem 4.2.1.

⊇ First, we assume that $0 \in inn(C)$ and consider Y := span(C). We claim that *C* is absorbing in *Y* by Theorem 3.2.34, see (2) of (20, Theorem 4.2). Indeed, by hypotheses, $0 \in inn(C)$ and span(C) = Y. The condition $C \subseteq sadj(C)$ is due to the convexity of *C* and Theorem 3.2.33(2), see also (20, Theorem 2.3), then inn(C) is absorbing, implying that *C* is also absorbing, since $inn(C) \subseteq C$. By Theorem 3.2.4 (with (22, Theorem 6) as the original reference), it holds that *C* is a neighborhood of 0 in

Y endowed with the finest locally convex vector topology. Keeping in mind Lemma 3.2.29(6), we have that $inn(C) = int_Y(C)$. Now, we are in the right position to prove the other inclusion. Assume on the contrary that there exists $x \in nsupp(C) \setminus inn(C)$. Thus, $x \notin int_Y(C)$. Since the finest locally convex vector topology is Hausdorff and locally convex, the Hahn-Banach Theorem guarantees the existence of a functional $f \in X^*$ such that f(c) < f(x) for all $c \in int_Y(C)$, therefore, $sup f(int_Y(C)) = f(x)$ and f is not constant in C. If we denote the linearly extension of f to the whole space X by f, we have that $f \in h(C)$ and $x \in F(f, C)$, which contradicts the fact that $x \in nsupp(C)$. Now, consider that $0 \notin inn(C)$ and let $c \in inn(C)$. Now we follow the same reasoning for the translation D := C - c. Notice that inn(D) = inn(C) - c, nsupp(D) = nsupp(C) - c, and $0 = c - c \in inn(D)$. We finish the proof using that $nsupp(C) = c + nsupp(D) \subseteq c + inn(D) = inn(C)$.

_	_	_	1

We recall that ℓ_1 is the notation for the Banach space of all sequences $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that its series is absolutely convergent, that is, $\ell_1 = \{(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} : \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |x_n| < \infty\}$.

In (20), it was showed that it is not an easy task to find non-trivial convex sets lacking inner points (see Example 3.2.26) when we work with infinite dimensional vector spaces, and it is even harder to find closed convex sets which are non-trivial and satisfying the same property, as we can see in next result taken from (20, Theorem 5.4).

Theorem 4.2.3. There exists a closed convex subset D of S_{ℓ_1} free of inner points. In particular,

$$D = \left\{ (t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in S_{\ell_1} : t_n \ge 0 \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N} \right\}.$$

Therefore, the next natural step is to find a non-singleton compact and convex subset $K \subseteq X$ free of inner points, with X a Hausdorff locally convex topological vector space. Let us see that the example given above does not fit our purpose.

Proposition 4.2.4. The closed convex subset $D := \{(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in S_{\ell_1} : t_n \ge 0 \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ is not weakly compact in ℓ_1 .

Proof. Suppose on the contrary that *D* is weakly compact. Then, by the Eberlein-Smulian Theorem C.3.2, *D* is weakly sequentially compact. As *D* is in ℓ_1 , sequential weak convergence and norm convergence are equivalent by Schur Theorem C.3. Thus, *D* is sequentially compact, which implies that *D* is compact, as ℓ_1 is a metric space. Finally, consider the sequence of canonical vectors $(e_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ of ℓ_1 . This sequence is contained in *D*. However, notice that $(e_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ satisfies that $||e_i - e_j||_1 = 2$ whenever $i \neq j$, which means that $(e_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ does not have convergent subsequences, reaching the contradiction.

Taking into consideration all these previous results and technical remarks and lemmas given in Section 4.1, we are in the right position to provide a compact and convex subset free of inner points in an infinite-dimensional Banach space endowed with the weak topology, as we have done in the pre-printed article (23, Theorem 4.8).

Theorem 4.2.5. Let X be an infinite-dimensional Banach space. Then, there exists a non-trivial weakly compact and convex subset $K \subseteq X$ lacking inner points.

Proof. Let us construct $K \subseteq X$ and prove the assertions given in the theorem in a few steps. Consider $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subseteq S_X$ a normalized basic sequence, and let $(e_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ be the scaled basic sequence based on $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$, that is $e_n := \frac{u_n}{n}$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. The reader has to notice that since $(e_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to 0, $\{0\} \cup \{e_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ is compact. Now, let us define *K*,

$$K := \left\{ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n e_n : t_n \ge 0, \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n \le 1 \right\},\,$$

and we will follow three steps:

- *K* is closed and convex. The convexity of *K* is clear by how it is defined. Notice that *K* = *T*(*A*), where *T* is the operator given in Remark 4.1.5, where *A* is the *w**-closed and bounded subset of ℓ₁ defined by *A* := *B*_{ℓ1} ∩ {(*t_n*)_{*n*∈ℕ} ∈ ℓ₁ : *t_n* ≥ 0} (see Remark 4.1.11). Then, we only need to take into consideration Lemma 4.1.10 to conclude that *K* is closed.
- *K* is weakly compact. Indeed, by bearing in mind the Krein-Smulian Theorem (see Theorem C.3.3), it will be sufficient to show that $K = \overline{\operatorname{co}}(\{0\} \cup \{e_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\})$. Let us see it by double inclusion. On the one hand, $\{0\} \cup \{e_n \in \mathbb{N}\} \subseteq K$, then $\overline{\operatorname{co}}(\{0\} \cup \{e_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}) \subseteq K$, since *K* is closed and convex, as it is shown in the previous item. Besides, observe that every element with the form $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n e_n \in K$ is the limit of a sequence of convex combinations $(\sum_{n=1}^{p} t_n e_n)_{p \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq \operatorname{co}(\{0\} \cup \{e_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\})$, which means that $K \subseteq \overline{\operatorname{co}}(\{0\} \cup \{e_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\})$.
- $\operatorname{inn}(K) = \emptyset$. To prove it, we will follow a similar idea as in (20, Theorem 5.4). Let us suppose on the contrary that there exists $(t_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \in B_{\ell_1}$, $t_n \ge 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, such that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n e_n \in \operatorname{inn}(K)$. Let us see first that $t_n > 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Suppose again on the contrary that $t_n = 0$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, since $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n e_n \in \operatorname{inn}(K)$, there must exist $s_k < 0$ such that $s_k e_k + (1 - s_k) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n e_n \in K$, that is, $s_k e_k + (1 - s_k) \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n e_n = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_n e_n$ with $\alpha_n \ge 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \alpha_n \le 1$. By taking this into consideration, it is possible to reach to the following contradiction:

$$s_k = e_k^* \left(s_k e_k + (1 - s_k) \sum_{n=1}^\infty t_n e_n \right) = e_k^* \left(\sum_{n=1}^\infty \alpha_n e_n \right) = \alpha_n \ge 0.$$

Consequently, $t_n > 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Next, since $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to 0, it is possible to inductively construct a strict increasing sequence $(n_k)_{k \ge 0}$ verifying that $n_0 = 0$, and, for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\frac{t_{n_k}}{t_{n_{k-1}+1}} < \frac{1}{k}.$$

So, for every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let us define

$$s_n := \begin{cases} 0, & n \neq n_k \text{ for all } k \ge 1, \\ t_{n_{k-1}+1} + t_{n_{k-1}+2} + \dots + t_{n_k-1} + t_{n_k}, & n = n_k \text{ for some } k \ge 1. \end{cases}$$

Notice that $s_n \ge 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} s_n = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} s_{n_k} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n \ge 1,$$

meaning that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} s_n e_n \in K$. Since $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n e_n \in inn(K)$, then there exists $\lambda > 1$ such that

$$(1-\lambda)\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}s_ne_n+\lambda\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}t_ne_n\in K.$$

Besides, by construction of K, $(1 - \lambda)s_n + \lambda t_n \ge 0$, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. In particular, for $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $(1 - \lambda)s_{n_k} + \lambda t_{n_k} \ge 0$, which means

$$\begin{split} \lambda &\geq \frac{s_{n_k}}{s_{n_k} - t_{n_k}} = \frac{t_{n_{k-1}+1} + t_{n_{k-1}+2} + \cdots + t_{n_k-1} + t_{n_k}}{t_{n_{k-1}+1} + t_{n_{k-1}+2} + \cdots + t_{n_k-1}} \\ &= 1 + \frac{t_{n_k}}{t_{n_{k-1}+1} + t_{n_{k-1}+2} + \cdots + t_{n_k-1}} < 1 + \frac{t_{n_k}}{t_{n_{k-1}+1}} \\ &< 1 + \frac{1}{t_k}, \end{split}$$

which gives us the contradiction $\lambda \ge 1$.

Finally, a slight modification to the set *D* given in Proposition 4.2.4 gives an example of a w^* -compact convex subset in ℓ_1 with no inner points.

Proposition 4.2.6. The closed convex subset $L := \{(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in S_{\ell_1} : t_n \ge 0, \forall n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ is w*compact in ℓ_1 lacking inner points, $inn(L) = \emptyset$.

Proof. We claim that *L* is *w*^{*}-closed in B_{ℓ_1} by using pointwise convergence. This makes *L w*^{*}-compact. A similar proof as in Theorem 4.2.5 applies to assure that $inn(L) = \emptyset$.

4.3 Structure of Facets and Frames

Some results of this section appear in a light version and in a spread manner throughout the literature of the Geometry of Banach spaces. We generalize some of them and provide all the proofs in sake of completeness. Likewise, we refer the reader to (32; 33; 34; 51; 52) for more information about facets and frames.

We start this section presenting a new property related to the extremal structure of the unit ball which will be a useful tool in order to prove the preservation of particular subsets of the unit ball under surjective isometries (see Theorem 5.2.4). This interesting property is strongly motivated by (2, Definition 3.2). This reference also inspires the next definition, which is original from this work:

Definition 4.3.1 (Pre-maximal face). For a normed space *X*, we will called a proper face *A* a pre-maximal face if it is the intersection of all the maximal faces containing *A*.

Definition 4.3.2 (Property P). We say that a normed space X has Property P or the P-property (Pp) if every proper face of B_X is a pre-maximal face.

The following result provides an example of sufficient condition for Banach spaces lacking Pp.

Lemma 4.3.3. If X is a smooth Banach space with extreme points which are not rotund, that is $ext(B_X) \setminus rot(B_X) \neq \emptyset$, then X fails Pp.

Proof. Let $e \in \text{ext}(B_X) \setminus \text{rot}(B_X)$. We will prove that such point is a face of B_X which is not the intersection of all maximal faces containing it, then X fails Property P. Indeed, there is a maximal face $C \subseteq S_X$ which contains e. If there exists another maximal face D containing e, then there exists $x^* \in S_{X^*}$ such that $D = \{x \in S_X : x^*(x) = 1\}$. The same reasoning shows us that there exists $y^* \in S_{X^*}$ such that $C = \{x \in S_X : y^*(x) = 1\}$. Therefore, since $e \in D$ and $e \in C$, $x^*(e) = 1 = y^*(e)$, concluding that $x^* = y^*$ because of the smoothness of X. As a consequence, C = D is the only maximal face of S_X containing e, but $C \neq \{e\}$, since $e \notin \text{rot}(B_X)$.

It is easy to check that if *Y* is a subspace of a normed subspace *X*, then $rot(B_X) \cap B_Y \subseteq rot(B_Y)$ and $ext(B_X) \cap B_Y \subseteq ext(B_Y)$. Following results shows the behaviour of extremal points under direct sums. **Lemma 4.3.4.** Let $X := Y \oplus_2 Z$, where Y and Z are Banach spaces. Then, $ext(B_Y) \subseteq ext(B_X)$.

Proof. Fix an arbitrary $y \in ext(B_Y)$. Let us show that y satisfies the extremal condition in B_X . Consider $x_1, x_2 \in B_X$, thus $||x_1|| \le 1$, $||x_2|| \le 1$. Let $t \in (0, 1)$ such that $y = tx_1 + (1-t)x_2 \in B_Y$. Since $X = Y \oplus_2 Z$, $x_1 = y_1 + z_1$ and $x_2 = y_2 + z_2$ where $y_1, y_2 \in Y$ and $z_1, z_2 \in Z$ with $Y \cap Z = \{0\}$. Then, $1 \ge ||x_1||^2 = ||y_1||^2 + ||z_1||^2$, where we have used again that $X = Y \oplus_2 Z$. Notice that $||z_1||^2 \ge 0$, so $||y_1||^2 \le 1$. A similar reasoning shows that $||y_2||^2 \le 1$. On the other hand,

$$Y \ni y = tx_1 + (1-t)x_2$$

= $t(y_1 + z_1) + (1-t)(y_2 + z_2)$
= $\underbrace{ty_1 + (1-t)y_2}_{\in Y} + \underbrace{tz_1 + (1-t)z_2}_{\in Z},$

so, the only possibility is that $tz_1 + (1-t)z_2 = 0$. We conclude that $y = ty_1 + (1-t)y_2$, but $y, y_1, y_2 \in B_Y$ and $y \in ext(B_Y)$, therefore, $y = y_1 = y_2$. Besides, $y \in ext(B_Y) \subseteq S_X$, then ||y|| = 1 concluding that $||y_1|| = ||y_2|| = 1$. This last equality forces $||z_1|| = 0 = ||z_2||$, which is equivalent to $z_1 = z_2 = 0$. This means that $x_1 = y_1 = y_2 = x_2 = y$.

Lemma 4.3.5. If Y is a 2-dimensional Banach space, then it is isomorphic to a smooth space Y' satisfying the condition $ext(B_{Y'}) \setminus rot(B_{Y'}) \neq \emptyset$. Moreover, if Z is another Banach space, then $ext(B_{Y'}) \setminus rot(B_{Y'}) \subseteq ext(B_{X'}) \setminus rot(B_{X'})$, where $X' := Y' \oplus_2 Z$.

Proof. It is enough to smoothen the corners of $B_{\ell_{\infty}^2}$ and take Y' as \mathbb{R}^2 endowed with the norm defined by this unit ball. Therefore, Y' is not strictly convex and its unit ball is compact, so any non-singleton maximal face of $B_{Y'}$ contains extreme points by the Krein-Milman Theorem C.3.1, and these extreme points are not rotund. Let us see the last part of the lemma. Consider $x \in \text{ext}(B_{Y'}) \setminus \text{rot}(B_{Y'})$. Notice that if $x \notin \text{rot}(B_{Y'})$ then $x \notin \text{rot}(B_{X'})$. Indeed, if $x \notin \text{rot}(B_{Y'})$ there exists a non-singleton maximal face of $B_{Y'}$, C, such that $x \in C$. If C is a

maximal face of $B_{X'}$, then $x \notin \operatorname{rot}(B_{X'})$. If *C* is not a maximal face of $B_{X'}$, since $X' := Y' \oplus_2 Z$, there exists a maximal face *D* of $B_{X'}$ such that $\{x\} \subsetneq C \subseteq D$, thus, $x \notin \operatorname{rot}(B_{X'})$. Finally, by using Lemma 4.3.4 we end the proof.

We can now state and prove an important result about Banach spaces lacking Property P.

Theorem 4.3.6. Any Banach space X with dimension greater than or equal to 2 which admits a smooth equivalent norm can be equivalently renormed to be smooth and to satisfy $ext(B_X) \setminus rot(B_X) \neq \emptyset$. As a consequence, X fails Pp with this equivalent norm by Lemma 4.3.3.

Proof. Let *X* be a Banach space with dimension greater than or equal to 2 endowed with a smooth norm, and fix a 2-dimensional subspace $Y \subseteq X$. According to Lemma 4.3.5, *Y* is isomorphic to a smooth non-strictly convex Banach space *Y* with dimension 2. Let *Z* be a closed subspace of *X* such that $X = Y \oplus Z$ (the existence of such space is guaranteed by Theorem 3.3.4). Then, *X* is isomorphic to $X' := Y' \oplus_2 Z$, and notice that $Y' \oplus Z$ is smooth. Thanks to Lemma 4.3.5, it is possible to find $e \in ext(B_{Y'}) \setminus rot(B_{Y'})$. Lemma 4.3.5 also assures that $e \in ext(B_{X'}) \setminus rot(B_{X'})$

As a consequence, we present a sufficient condition for a Banach space to fail Property P.

Corollary 4.3.7. Every reflexive or separable Banach space whose dimension is greater than or equal to 2 can be equivalently renormed to fail Property P.

Proof. It is a direct consequence of the fact the reflexive Banach spaces and separable Banach spaces admit an equivalent smooth renorming, see (53, Corollary 4) and (35, Corollary 4.3) respectively.

Now, we will go through the study of faces, facets and frames. But first, let us see the following useful note about maximal segments containing a certain segment.

Remark 4.3.8. Let X be a normed space, and consider the unit ball centered in $x \in X$ with radius r < 0, $B_X(x, r)$, and $x \neq y \in B_X(x, r)$. Let us compute the maximal segment of $B_X(x, r)$ containing [x, y].



Figure 4.1: $B_X(x, r)$

Let $[z_1, z_2]$ be the maximal segment of $B_X(x, r)$ containing [x, y]. It is clear that $z_1, z_2 \in S_X(x, r)$, then $||z_1 - x|| = ||z_2 - x|| = r$. On the other hand, it is known that $z_1 = (1-s)x + sy$, $z_2 = (1+s)x - sy$, with s > 1 (see Figure 4.1). Let us see the reasoning for z_1 and for z_2 is analogous:

$$||z_1 - x|| = r \iff ||(1 - s)x + sy - x|| = r \iff || - sx + sy|| = r \iff s = \frac{r}{||y - x||}.$$

Then, we conclude that the extremes of the maximal segment in $B_X(x,r)$ are given by

$$\left(1+\frac{r}{\|x-y\|}\right)x-\frac{r}{\|x-y\|}y$$
 and $\left(1-\frac{r}{\|x-y\|}\right)x+\frac{r}{\|x-y\|}.$

Notice that these two points are the only ones of the segment

$$\left[\left(1+\frac{r}{\|x-y\|}\right)x-\frac{r}{\|x-y\|}y,\left(1-\frac{r}{\|x-y\|}\right)x+\frac{r}{\|x-y\|}\right]$$

lying on the sphere $S_X(x, r)$.

Lemma 4.3.9. Let X be a normed space with $dim(X) \ge 2$, $x \in S_X$, $f \in S_{X*}$ such that f(x) = 1, and r > 0. Then:

- 1. If $B_X(x,r) \cap S_X \subseteq f^{-1}(\{1\})$, then $B_X(x,\frac{r}{2}) \cap f^{-1}(\{1\}) \subseteq S_X$.
- 2. If $y \in S_X \setminus \{x\}$ satisfies $[x, y] \subseteq S_X \cap f^{-1}(\{1\})$, and [u, v] is the maximal segment of S_X containing [x, y], then $u, v \in cl(S_X \setminus f^{-1}(\{1\}))$.
- 3. If $B_X(x,r) \cap S_X \subseteq f^{-1}(\{1\})$, then $B_X(x,r) \cap S_X$ is convex and r < 1. Even more, if $y \in (B_x(x,r) \cap S_X) \setminus \{x\}$, then

$$\left[\left(1 + \frac{r}{\|x - y\|} \right) x - \frac{r}{\|x - y\|} y, \left(1 - \frac{r}{\|x - y\|} \right) x + \frac{r}{\|x - y\|} \right] \subseteq S_X.$$

4. If $B_X(x,r) \cap f^{-1}(\{1\}) \subseteq S_X$, then $r \leq 1$ and there exists 0 < s < r such that $B_X(x,s) \cap S_X \subseteq f^{-1}(\{1\})$.

Proof. 1. Let $y \in B_X(x, \frac{r}{2}) \cap f^{-1}(\{1\})$ be an arbitrary point, and let us see that $y \in S_X$.

Notice that $1 = f(y) \le ||y||$. Next,

$$\begin{split} \left\| x - \frac{y}{\|y\|} \right\| &\leq \|x - y\| + \left\| y - \frac{y}{\|y\|} \right\| \\ &= \|x - y\| + \frac{\|\|y\|y - y\|}{\|y\|} \\ &= \|x - y\| + \frac{\|y\| - 1\|\|y\|}{\|y\|} \\ &= \|x - y\| + \|\|y\| - 1\| \\ &= \|x - y\| + \|\|y\| - 1| \\ &= \|x - y\| + \|\|y\| - \|x\|| \\ &\leq 2\|y - x\| \\ &\leq r. \end{split}$$

Then, $\frac{y}{\|y\|} \in B_X(x,r) \cap S_X \subseteq f^{-1}(\{1\})$. That means that $f\left(\frac{y}{\|y\|}\right) = 1 = f(y)$, concluding that $\|y\| = 1$.

- It suffices to show that u, v ∉ int_{S_X} (S_X ∩ f⁻¹({1})). Suppose to the contrary that, for example, u ∈ int (S_X ∩ f⁻¹({1})). Then, there exists α > 0 such that u ∈ B_X(u, α) ∩ S_X ⊆ S_X ∩ f⁻¹({1}). In virtue of the previous item, B_X(u, ^α/₂) ∩ f⁻¹({1}) ⊆ S_X, then, we can find s < 0 sufficiently small such that (1 − s)u + sv ∈ B_X(u, ^α/₂). Notice that [x, y] ⊆ [u, v] and [x, y] ⊆ f⁻¹({1}), then [u, v] ⊆ f⁻¹({1}), which clearly implies that (1−s)u+sv ∈ f⁻¹({1}). As a consequence, (1−s)u+sv ∈ B_X(u, ^α/₂) ∩ f⁻¹({1}) ⊆ S_X. In particular, [(1−s)u+sv, v] ⊆ B_X ∩ f⁻¹({1}) ⊆ S_X. We conclude the proof by noticing that [u, v] ⊊ [(1−s)u+sv, v] ⊆ S_X, which contradicts the maximality of [u, v].
- 3. First, let us see that $B_X(x,r) \cap S_X$ is convex. Let $y,z \in B_X(x,r) \cap S_X$, and $t \in [0,1]$. Notice that $ty + (1-t)z \in B_X(x,r) \cap B_X$, then $||ty + (1-t)z|| \le 1$. On the other hand, since $y,z \in B_X(x,r) \cap S_X \subseteq f^{-1}(\{1\})$, then $ty + (1-t)z \in f^{-1}(\{1\})$, therefore,

 $1 = |f(ty + (1-t)z)| \le ||ty + (1-t)z||$. So, we conclude that ||ty + (1-t)z|| = 1, which shows that $B_X(x,r) \cap S_X$ is convex under our hypotheses. Now, let us prove that $r \le 1$ by contradiction. Assume that r > 1. Notice that $x \in S_X = cl(S_X \setminus \{x\})$, because dim $(X) \ge 2$. Then, there exists $y \in (B_X(x,r) \cap S_X) \setminus \{x\}$. By the convexity of $B_X(x,r) \cap S_X$, $[x,y] \subseteq B_X(x,r) \cap S_X$. By using Remark 4.3.8, the maximal segment of $B_X(x,r)$ containing [x,y] is

$$\left[\left(1 + \frac{r}{\|x - y\|} \right) x - \frac{r}{\|x - y\|} y, \left(1 - \frac{r}{\|x - y\|} \right) x + \frac{r}{\|x - y\|} \right] =: [z_1, z_2]$$

We denote by [u, v] the maximal segment of S_X containing [x, y]. Let us distinguish between two options:

[z₁, z₂] ⊆ [u, v]. Since [u, v] ⊆ S_X, then z₁, z₂ ∈ S_X, which take us to the contradiction

$$2 = \operatorname{diam}(B_X) \ge ||z_2 - z_1|| = \\ = \left\| \left(\left(1 - \frac{r}{||x - y||} \right) x + \frac{r}{||x - y||} y \right) - \left(\left(1 + \frac{r}{||x - y||} \right) x - \frac{r}{||x - y|} y \right) \right\| \\ = \left\| x - \frac{r}{||x - y||} x + \frac{r}{||x - y||} y \not \prec - \frac{r}{||x - y||} x + \frac{r}{||x - y||} y \right\| \\ = \left\| 2 \frac{r}{||x - y||} (y - x) \right\| = 2r > 2.$$

[z₁,z₂] ⊈ [u, v]. In this case, either u or v are in the interior of the segment, u ∈ (z₁,z₂) or v ∈ (z₁,z₂). Keeping in mind Remark 4.3.8, z₁, z₂ are the only ones laying in S_X(x, r), which means that (z₁,z₂) ⊆ U_X(x, r). We suppose with no loss of generality that u ∈ U_X(x, r). Let δ > 0 such that B_X(u, δ) ⊆ U_X(x, r). Besides,
since $[x, y] \subseteq [u, v]$ and $[x, y] \subseteq B_X(x, r) \cap S_X \subseteq f^{-1}(\{1\})$, then $[u, v] \subseteq f^{-1}(\{1\})$. By the second item of this lemma, $u \in cl(S_X \setminus f^{-1}(\{1\}))$, which allows us to find $u' \in (S_X \setminus f^{-1}(\{1\})) \cap B_X(u, \delta) \subseteq U_X(x, r) \subseteq B_X(x, r)$. Then, $u' \in (B_X(x, r) \cap S_X) \setminus f^{-1}(\{1\})$, which contradicts the hypothesis of $B_X(x, r) \cap S_X \setminus f^{-1}(\{1\})$.

Therefore, $r \leq 1$. As a consequence, the case $[z_1, z_2] \subseteq [u, v]$ is possible, but not the second one, which implies that $[z_1, z_2] \subseteq S_X$, completing this proof.

- 4. Suppose to the contrary that r > 1. Since dim $(X) \ge 2$, there exists $y \in (B_X(x,r) \cap f^{-1}(\{1\})) \setminus \{x\}$. Let us distinguish two cases:
 - Suppose that ||*y* − *x*|| > 1. Notice that 2*x* − *y* ∈ *B_X*(*x*, *r*) ∩ *f*⁻¹({1}). Therefore, we reach to the contradiction

$$2 = \operatorname{diam}(B_X) \ge ||(2x - y) - y|| = 2||x - y|| > 2.$$

Suppose now that ||y - x|| ≤ 1. We denote by z₂ := r/||y-x|| y + (1 - r/||y-x||) x ∈ B_X(x,r) ∩ f⁻¹({1}), then ||z₂ - x|| = r > 1. Using the same reasoning as above, we reach to the contradiction that diam(B_X) > 2.

Therefore, $r \le 1$. To conclude the proof, let us show that there exists s with 0 < s < rsuch that $B_X(x,s) \cap S_X \subseteq f^{-1}(\{1\})$. Take $s \in (0,r)$ satisfying that $s + \frac{s}{1-s} \le r$, and $y \in B_X(x,s) \cap S_X$. On the one side, $f(y) = f(x) - f(x - y) = 1 - f(x - y) \ge$ $1 - ||x - y|| \ge 1 - s$. On the other side,

$$\begin{split} \left\| x - \frac{y}{f(y)} \right\| &\leq \|x - y\| + \left\| y - \frac{y}{f(y)} \right\| \\ &= \|x - y\| + \frac{\|f(y)y - y\|}{|f(y)|} \\ &= \|x - y\| + \frac{|f(y) - 1| \|y\|}{|f(y)|} \\ &= \|x - y\| + \frac{|f(y) - f(x)|}{|f(y)|} \\ &\leq \|x - y\| + \frac{\|y - x\|}{|f(y)|} \\ &\leq s + \frac{s}{1 - s} \\ &\leq r. \end{split}$$

Therefore, $\frac{y}{f(y)} \in B_X(x,r) \cap f^{-1}(\{1\}) \subseteq S_X$. As a consequence, $\|\frac{y}{f(y)}\| = 1$, concluding that f(y) = 1.

	-	-	-	-	-

The next proposition is an extension of (34, Lemma 2.1). Also, it will show us one of the cases when faces and facets coincide.

Proposition 4.3.10. Let X be a normed space and $C \subseteq S_X$ a convex subset of the unit sphere. If $f \in S_{X^*}$ satisfies that $C \subseteq F(f)$, then $\operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C) = \operatorname{int}_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(C)$ and $\operatorname{bd}_{S_X}(C) = \operatorname{bd}_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(C)$. In particular, $E(f) = \operatorname{bd}_{S_X}(F(f))$.

Proof. \subseteq) Let $x \in int_{S_x}(C) \neq \emptyset$, then, there exists r > 0 such that

$$B_X(x,r) \cap S_X \subseteq C \subseteq F(f) \subseteq f^{-1}(\{1\}).$$
(4.3.1)

We will show that $B_X(x, \frac{r}{2}) \cap f^{-1}(\{1\}) \subseteq C$, which implies that $x \in \operatorname{int}_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(C)$. Notice that, by Lemma (4.3.9)(1) and the previous contention (4.3.1), we have that $B_X(x, \frac{r}{2}) \cap f^{-1}(\{1\}) \subseteq S_X$. Taking into consideration this with (4.3.1) again, we have that $B_X(x, \frac{r}{2}) \cap f^{-1}(\{1\}) \subseteq C$, which was our target.

⊇) Conversely, fix $x \in int_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(C) \neq \emptyset$. Then,

$$\exists r > 0: B_X(x, r) \cap f^{-1}(\{1\}) \subseteq C \subseteq S_X.$$
(4.3.2)

This allows us to use Lemma 4.3.9(4), which asserts that $r \leq 1$ and there exists *s* such that 0 < s < r and $B_X(x,s) \cap S_X \subseteq f^{-1}(\{1\})$. In view of the contention (4.3.2), it only suffices to show that $B_X(x,s) \cap S_X \subseteq f^{-1}(\{1\})$ to reach to $B_X(x,s) \cap S_X \subseteq C$, which means that $x \in int_{S_X}(C)$.

Finally, notice that either S_X and $f^{-1}(\{1\})$ are closed in X, so we have $cl(C) = cl_{S_X}(C) = cl_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(C)$, then

$$\mathrm{bd}_{S_X}(C) = \mathrm{cl}_{S_X}(C) \setminus \mathrm{int}_{S_X}(C) = \mathrm{cl}_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(C) \setminus \mathrm{int}_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(C) = \mathrm{bd}_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(C).$$

The next lemma shows some properties and notions about the behaviour of facets. Notice that the first item is known thanks to (34, Theorem 2.8) as we have mentioned in the previous chapter, but we give here its proof in sake of completeness. Besides, the last point gives an equality about the inner points of a facet.

Lemma 4.3.11. For a normed space X and a facet $C \subset S_X$, we have the following assertions:

- 1. *C* is a convex component of S_X .
- 2. There exists a unique functional $f \in S_{X^*}$ such that $C \subseteq F(f)$. In fact, C = F(f).
- 3. If $c \in int_{S_X}(C)$ and $f \in v(c)$, then C = F(f). This is equivalent to say that if f(c) = 1for some $c \in int_{S_X}(C)$ and $f \in S_{X^*}$, then f(c) = 1 for all point $c \in C$ in the facet.
- 4. $\operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C) \subseteq \operatorname{smo}(B_X)$.
- 5. If $c \in int_{S_X}(C)$ and $f \in v(c)$, then C c is a closed convex neighborhood of 0 in ker(f). Moreover, $int_{S_X}(C)$ is dense in C and $inn(C) = int_{S_X}(C)$.
- *Proof.* 1. Let us see the maximality of *C* by contradiction. Let *D* ⊆ *S*_{*X*} be a convex subset strictly containing *C*. By Hahn-Banach Theorem, there exists *f* ∈ *S*_{*X**} such that *C* ⊆ D ⊆ F(f). Let $d ∈ D \setminus C ≠ Ø$ and $c ∈ int_{S_X}(C)$. By relying on Proposition 4.3.10, $c ∈ int_{S_X}(C) = int_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(C)$, then, there exists r > 0 such that $B_X(c,r) ∩ f^{-1}(\{1\}) ⊆ C$. We have to notice that it is possible to find t > 1 sufficient closed to 1 such that $tc + (1-t)d ∈ B_X(c,r)$. On the other hand, f(tc + (1-t)d) = 1, so $tc + (1-t)d ∈ B_X(c,r) ∩ f^{-1}(\{1\})$. Since *C* is a facet, in particular, is a face, concluding that d ∈ C, which is a contradiction.
 - 2. The maximality of *C* implies the existence of $f \in S_{X^*}$ such that C = F(f). Suppose on the contrary that there exists $g \in S_{X^*}$ verifying C = F(g). By Proposition 4.3.10, $\operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C) = \operatorname{int}_{f^{-1}(1)}(C) = \operatorname{int}_{g^{-1}(\{1\})}(C)$. Fix an arbitrary $c \in \operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C)$. Notice that $\operatorname{int}_{\ker(f)}(C-c) = \operatorname{int}_{\ker(g)}(C-c)$. Besides, observe that $C \subseteq f^{-1}(\{1\}) \cap g^{-1}(\{1\})$, therefore $C - c \subseteq \ker(f) \cap \ker(g)$. Thus, $\ker(f) \cap \ker(g)$ is a subspace of $\ker(f)$ with non-empty interior, so $\ker(f) \cap \ker(g) = \ker(f)$. The same reasoning serves to see that $\ker(f) \cap \ker(g) = \ker(f)$, implying that $\ker(f) = \ker(g)$, then they are proportionals.

Since the functionals coincide in every element of *C*, we have that f = g.

- 3. Let us find a contradiction. Let $y \in C \setminus F(f)$, then f(y) < 1. Take $g \in S_{X^*}$ such that C = F(g). By Proposition 4.3.10, $c \in \operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C) = \operatorname{int}_{g^{-1}(\{1\})}$, thus there exists r > 0 such that $B_X(c,r) \cap g^{-1}(\{1\}) \subseteq C$. This means that we can find t < 0 sufficient closed to 0 such that $ty + (1-t)c \in B_X(c,r)$. We notice that since $y, c \in g^{-1}(\{1\})$, then $sy + (1-s)c \in g^{-1}(\{1\})$, for all $s \in \mathbb{R}$, in particular, it is true for s = t, that is, $ty + (1-t)c \in B_X(c,r) \cap g^{-1}(\{1\}) \subseteq C \subseteq S_X$. Therefore, we reach to the contradiction $1 \ge f(ty + (1-t)c) = tf(y) + (1-t)f(c) = 1 t(1-f(y)) > 1$.
- 4. If $c \in int_{S_X}(C)$, and $f, g \in v(c)$ then, by previous item C = F(f) = F(g). By (2), it holds that f = g, which is the definition of smooth point.
- 5. First of all, notice that, $c \in int_{S_X}(C) = int_{f^{-1}}(\{1\})$, so *C* is a closed $(C = F(f) = f^{-1}(\{1\}) \cap B_X)$ convex neighborhood of *c* in $f^{-1}(\{1\})$. Now, consider the translation

$$\begin{array}{l} X \to X \\ x \mapsto x - c \end{array}$$

which is an homeomorphism mapping $f^{-1}(\{1\})$ to ker(f), C to C - c, $\operatorname{int}_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}$ to $\operatorname{int}_{\ker(f)}(C-c)$ and c to 0. Then, C-c is a closed convex neighborhood of 0 in ker(f). To see the density of $\operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C)$ in C, it is well-known that a convex subset C with non empty interior in a normed space X satisfies $\operatorname{cl}(C) = \operatorname{cl}(\operatorname{int}(C))$, in our case, C - c is a convex subset of ker(f) with non-empty interior, then

$$\operatorname{cl}_{\operatorname{ker}(f)}(\operatorname{int}_{\operatorname{ker}(f)}(C-c)) = \operatorname{cl}_{\operatorname{ker}(f)}(C-c).$$

If we undo the translation and take into consideration that C and $f^{-1}(C)$ are closed,

we obtain

$$cl(int_{S_X}(C)) = cl(int_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(C)) = cl_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(int_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(C)) = cl_{f^{-1}}(C) = cl(C) = C,$$

so $\operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C)$ is dense in *C*. Finally, to see that $\operatorname{inn}(C) = \operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C)$, we use again the fact that C - c is a convex set with non-empty interior in $\operatorname{ker}(f)$, then $\operatorname{int}_{\operatorname{ker}(f)}(C - c) = \operatorname{inn}(C)$ by Lemma 3.2.29(3). To conclude that $\operatorname{inn}(C) = \operatorname{int}_{f^{-1}(\{1\})}(C) = \operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C)$ it is enough to take into consideration that translations preserve inner points by Proposition 3.2.31.

The next result present a new reformulation of the frame of the unit ball. This characterization will be very useful to provide an immediate proof of its invariance in the following chapter (see Theorem 5.2.1). This invariance was already proved by Tanaka in (1, Theorem 3.7).

Theorem 4.3.12. Let X be a normed space. Then

$$\operatorname{frm}(B_X) = S_X \setminus \bigcup_{C \in \mathscr{C}_X} \operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C),$$

where \mathscr{C}_X is the notation given in Definition 3.2.1 for the set of all the facets in the unit ball.

- *Proof.* ⊇) Let $x \in S_X \setminus \bigcup_{C \in \mathscr{C}_X} \operatorname{int}_{S_X} C$. By Hahn-Banach Theorem, there exists $f \in S_{X^*}$ such that $x \in F(f)$. Let us distinguish cases:
 - If int_{S_X}(F(f)) = Ø, by Proposition 4.3.10, F(f) = E(f), then x ∈ E(f) ⊆ frm(B_X), because of the definition of the frame.

- If $\operatorname{int}_{S_X}(F(f)) \neq \emptyset$, then F(f) is a facet, $F(f) \in \mathscr{C}_X$, since $x \notin \operatorname{int}_{S_X}(F(f))$, therefore $x \in F(f) \setminus \operatorname{int}_{S_X}(F(f)) = \operatorname{bd}_{S_X}(F(f)) = E(f) \subseteq \operatorname{frm}(B_X)$.
- ⊆) Conversely, let $x \in \operatorname{frm}(B_X) = \bigcup \{ E(f) : f \in \bigcup_{x \in S_X} \nu(x) \}$. Suppose to the contrary that $\exists C \in \mathscr{C}_X$ such that $x \in \operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C)$. By Lemma 4.3.11(4), $x \in \operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C) \subseteq \operatorname{smo}(B_X)$, then, there exists a unique functional $f \in S_{X^*}$ such that $x \in C = F(f)$. By hypotheses and the definition of the frame, there exists $g \in S_{X^*}$ such that $x \in E(g) \subseteq F(f)$, but f was unique, so g = f. Thus, on one hand, $x \in \operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C) = \operatorname{int}_{S_X}(F(f))$ and $x \in E(f) = \operatorname{bd}_{S_X}(F(f))$, which is a contradiction.

We obtain the following result as a direct consequence of Theorem 4.3.12.

Corollary 4.3.13. Let *X* be a normed space, the following assertions are equivalent:

- $\operatorname{int}_{S_Y}(\operatorname{frm}(B_X)) = \emptyset$.
- $\cup_{C \in \mathscr{C}_X} (C)$ is dense in S_X .

4.4 Flatness

The concept of starlike hull was introduced for the first time in (6, Definition 11) and it was studied for general starlike sets. In this section, we present new and original terms related to starlike sets which fits our purposes much better. Also, we will widely develop these notions and study their invariance in the following chapter.

Definition 4.4.1 (Starlike envelope, almost flat, flat, starlike compatible, starlike generated

sets). Let X be a normed space and $E \subseteq S_X$. The starlike envelope of E is defined as follows

$$\operatorname{st}(E) := \bigcap_{e \in E} \operatorname{st}(e, B_X).$$

Furthermore, we will say that

- *E* is almost flat if $[e, f] \subseteq S_X$ for every $e, f \in E$.
- *E* is flat if $co(E) \subseteq S_X$.
- *E* is starlike compatible if $E \subseteq st(E)$.
- *E* is starlike generated if E = st(E).

It is clear that every flat set is almost flat and it is easy to check that every subset of the unit sphere verifies that is almost flat if and only if is starlike compatible. Notice also that every convex subset of the unit sphere is trivially flat. In general, this assertion holds for every subset of the unit sphere contained in a convex subset of S_X . As a consequence of that and the Hahn-Banach Separation Theorem, a subset of the unit sphere is flat if and only if it is contained in an exposed face of the unit ball. Let us study the relations between the concepts provided in Definition 4.4.1 in the next lemma.

Lemma 4.4.2. Let X be a normed space and $E \subseteq S_X$, then:

- 1. If *E* is convex, then *E* is flat and starlike compatible.
- 2. E is almost flat if and only if E is starlike compatible.
- 3. If E is flat, then it is almost flat.
- 4. *E* is flat if and only if $co(E) \subseteq st(E)$.

- 5. If *E* is flat and *D* is a convex component of the unit sphere containing *E*, then $D \subseteq st(E)$.
- 6. If E is a convex component of S_X , then E is starlike generated.
- 7. If E is convex and starlike generated, then E is a convex component.
- *Proof.* 1. If *E* is convex, then *E* trivially satisfies the condition of flatness. Now, notice that since *E* is convex, for every $e, f \in E \subseteq S_X$, then $[e, f] \subseteq S_X$, which means that $f \in st(e, B_X)$. This implies that $E \subseteq st(e, B_X)$ for all *e*. As a consequence, $E \subseteq \bigcap_{e \in E} st(e, B_X) = st(E)$, meaning that *E* is starlike compatible.
 - 2. It is direct by taking into consideration the Equality 3.2.6.
 - 3. It is also trivial just by bearing in mind the definitions given in 4.4.1.
 - 4. ⇒) Suppose that *E* is flat, then co(*E*) ⊆ *S_X*. Thus, [*x*, *e*] ⊆ co(*E*) ⊆ *S_X* for all *x* ∈ co(*E*), which means that *x* ∈ st(*e*, *B_X*) for all *x* ∈ co(*E*) and *e* ∈ *E* arbitrary. This implies that co(*E*) ⊆ ∩_{*e*∈*E*} st(*e*, *B_X*) = st(*E*).

⇐) Conversely, if $co(E) \subseteq st(E) \subseteq S_X$, we have that *E* is flat.

- 5. Let $d \in D$. Since *E* is flat and *D* is a maximal convex subset of S_X , it holds that for every $e \in E$, $[e, d] \subseteq D \subseteq S_X$, then $d \in st(E)$. Since *d* is arbitrary, $D \subseteq st(E)$.
- 6. By 1. of this lemma, we know that E ⊆ st(E) since E is convex. Let us see the other contention. Fix an arbitrary x ∈ st(E) and notice that

$$E \subseteq \operatorname{co}(E \cup \{x\}) = \bigcup_{e \in E} [x, e] \subseteq S_X,$$

where the last contention is given by $x \in st(E)$, then $[x, e] \subseteq S_X$ for all $e \in E$. The

maximality of *E* implies that $E = co(E \cup \{x\})$, thus $x \in E$. Therefore, we have proved that E = st(E), which is the definition of starlike generated.

7. suppose that D is a convex subset of S_X containing C. Let d ∈ D and e ∈ E. The convexity of D shows that [e, d] ⊆ D ⊆ S_X, then d ∈ st(e, B_X). The arbitrariness of e ∈ E gives as the next

$$d \in \bigcap_{e \in E} \operatorname{st}(e, B_X) = \operatorname{st}(E) = E,$$

then $D \subseteq C$ because $d \in D$ was arbitrary. This proves the maximality of *C*, concluding that *C* is a maximal component of S_X .

Now we present a pair of examples of almost flat sets which are not flat.

Example 4.4.3. The construction of this example is strongly based on Remark 4.1.3 and Lemma 4.1.4. The convex polyhedron displayed in Figure 4.2 is a unit ball whose facets equilateral triangles and diamonds; an easy way to construct it is by taking a regular octahedron and placing a regular tetrahedron (with the same faces or triangles) on the top and the opposite one on the bottom. If E is formed by the four vertices of the top tetrahedron, then E is almost flat but it is clearly not flat, since co(E) is the whole regular tetrahedron which is not contained in the boundary of this unit ball. We also want to notice that this unit ball is a convex polyhedron, then, \mathbb{R}^3 endowed with this unit ball satisfies the MUp by (11, Theorem 4.5). Also, any of the diamonds that compose the boundary of this unit ball is a maximal convex component, then, starlike generated by Lemma 4.4.2(6).



Figure 4.2: Pacheco-Campos unit ball

The key of failing the flat condition is to consider a set formed by the four vertices: three of them of the same face and the other one in an adjacent face. Keeping that in mind, it is easy to give a simpler example of an almost flat set which is not flat, specifically, it is enough to consider the set $E = \{A, B, C, D\}$ in the Figure 4.3. As we can see, all the possible segments whose extremes bellowing to *E* lay in the unit sphere, but the convex hull of *E* has points of the unit ball which are not in the sphere, implying that *E* is not flat.



Figure 4.3: Another example of an almost flat set which is not flat

We will make use of the original Example 4.4.3 to construct a non-convex starlike generated set (see the green set in Figure 4.4).

Theorem 4.4.4. Let us consider the upper regular tetrahedron of the unit ball given in Example

4.4.3. If we denote by a the upper vertex and by b, c, d the ones forming the base of that regular upper tetrahedron, then $E := [a, b] \cup [a, c] \cup [a, d]$ is a non-convex starlike generated set.



Figure 4.4: An example of a non-convex starlike generated set

Proof. It is clear that *E* is not convex. Notice that *E* is almost flat by definition, then, by Lemma 4.4.2(2), *E* is starlike compatible, meaning that $E \subseteq \operatorname{st}(E)$. It only remains to show that $\operatorname{st}(E) \subseteq E$. Suppose to the contrary that there exists $x \in \operatorname{st}(E) \setminus E$. First, observe that $\operatorname{st}(E) = \bigcap_{e \in E} \operatorname{st}(e, B_X) \subseteq \operatorname{st}(a, B_X) = \operatorname{co}(\{a, b, c\}) \cup \operatorname{co}(\{a, c, d\}) \cup \operatorname{co}(\{a, b, d\})$. Then, *x* is in the interior of one of these three faces $\operatorname{co}(\{a, b, c\}), \operatorname{co}(\{a, c, d\}), \operatorname{co}(\{a, b, d\})$. Suppose, for example and without any loss of generality, that $x \in \operatorname{co}(\{a, b, c\})$. Then, $(x, d) \subset U_X$, which contradicts the fact that $x \in \operatorname{st}(E) \subseteq \operatorname{st}(d, B_X)$.

The examples given in Figures 4.2 and 4.3 motivate the following property.

Definition 4.4.5 (Flat property). We will say that a normed space has the flat property or the *F*-property (*Fp*) if every almost flat of its unit ball is flat.

Remark 4.4.6. Note that \mathbb{R}^3 endowed with the unit ball constructed in Example 4.4.3 satisfied the MUp. However, it does not satisfied the Flat property, as we have shown in Theorem 4.4.4.

Examples above shows the existence of Banach spaces lacking the F-property. In fact, let us show that it is possible to equivalently renormed a Banach space (with dimension greater or equal to 3) to fail Fp.

Theorem 4.4.7. Let X be a Banach space with dimension $\dim(X) \ge 3$. Then, there exists an equivalent norm on X for which X fails Fp.

Proof. Let us consider a 3-dimensional Banach space $Y \,\subset X$. Then, there exists a closed subspace $Z \subseteq X$ satisfying $X = Y \oplus Z$. It holds that Y is isomorphic to the 3-dimensional Banach space given in Example 4.4.3, so it is possible to endow Y with the equivalent norm given by the unit ball of Example 4.4.3, and we call the space with this norm by Y'. If we keep the norm considered in Z, then X is isomorphic to $X' := Y' \oplus_2 Z$. Finally, notice that X' fails Pp since so does Y'.

The following lemma gives a sufficient condition for an almost flat set to be flat. It also provides conditions for a convex subset of the unit ball to be contained in the unit sphere, in particular, it will be enough the convex subset to contain inner points which are also in the unit sphere.

Lemma 4.4.8. Let $D \subseteq B_X$ be a convex subset of the unit ball of a normed space X. Then:

- 1. If $inn(D) \cap S_X \neq \emptyset$, then $D \subseteq S_X$.
- 2. If $D \subseteq S_X$ is an almost flat subset satisfying that $\exists d \in D$ such that $d \in inn(co(D))$, then D is flat.
- *Proof.* 1. Fix an arbitrary $d_0 \in inn(D) \cap S_X$ and take $d \in D \setminus \{d_0\}$. Since d is an inner points, by definition, there exists $e \in D \setminus \{d, d_0\}$ such that $d_0 \in (d, e)$. As $d_0 \in S_X$ and

 $d, e \in D \subseteq B_X$, the only possibility is that $[d, e] \subseteq S_X$.

2. We strongly based in the assertion previously proved: because $d \in inn(co(D)) \cap S_X$, then, $co(D) \subseteq S_X$, which is the definition of flatness for *D*.

Next lemma presents some generalization of the results belonging to (5). In particular, Lemma 4.4.9(1) is a generalization to infinite dimensional normed spaces of (5, Lemma 2), and Lemma 4.4.9(2,5) constitutes the infinite dimensional version of (5, Corollary 3). This result was firstly proved in (3, Lemma 8) and it gives a deeper perspective about starlike sets.

Lemma 4.4.9. For a normed space X and $E \subseteq S_X$, the following holds:

- 1. Let *E* be a face, $e \in inn(E)$ and $y \in S_X$ satisfying that $[e, y] \subseteq S_X$, then $co(E \cup \{y\}) \subseteq S_X$ and $E \subseteq st(y, B_X)$.
- 2. If *E* is a convex component of the unit sphere S_X and $\exists e \in E$ for which *E* is the only convex component of S_X containing *e*, then it has to be its starlike set, $E = st(e, B_X)$.
- 3. If E is a facet, then for every $e \in int_{S_X}(E)$, E in the only convex component of S_X containing e.
- 4. If *E* is a maximal convex subset of S_X such that there exists a dense sequence $(e_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in *E* satisfying that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{e_n}{2^n}$ is convergent, then *E* is the only convex component containing $e := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{e_n}{2^n}$.
- 5. If E is a maximal face of B_X with inner points, $inn(E) \neq \emptyset$, then E is the only convex component of S_X containing its inner points $e \in inn(E)$.

- *Proof.* 1. Notice that $co(E \cup \{y\}) = \bigcup_{d \in E} [d, y]$. Fix $d \in E \setminus \{e\}$ and $[e, y] \subseteq S_X$ by hypothesis. Since $e \in inn(E)$, there exists $c \in E \setminus \{e, d\}$ such that $e \in (d, c)$.
 - If c, d, y are aligned, then, the extremal condition of E guarantees that y ∈ E.
 Besides, the convexity of E implies that co(E ∪ {y}) = E ⊆ S_X. Finally, keeping in mind the definition of starlike set given in Equation 3.2.6, E ⊆ st(y, B_X).
 - If c, d, y are not aligned, by Remark 3.2.28, (e, y) ⊆ inn(co({d, c, y})) = {rd+sc+ ty: r,s, t ∈ (0, 1), r+s+t = 1}, and (e, y) ⊆ [e, y] ⊆ S_X, thus, by Lemma 4.4.8(1) co({d, c, y}) ⊆ S_X. In particular, [d, y] ⊆ S_X. The arbitrariness of d ∈ E \ {e} implies that co(e ∪ {y}) = ∪_{d∈E}[d, y] ⊆ S_X. This reasoning together Equation 3.2.6 implies that E ⊆ st(y, B_X) = {x ∈ S_X : [x, y] ⊆ S_X}.
 - 2. ⊆) Since *E* is convex, by Lemma 4.4.2(1), *E* is starlike compatible, which means that $E \subseteq st(E) = \bigcup_{d \in E} st(d, B_X) \subseteq st(e, B_X).$
 - ⊇) Let $x \in \text{st}(e, B_X)$. By Equation 3.2.6, $[x, e] \subseteq S_X$. Let *D* be the convex component of S_X containing [x, e], in particular $e \in [x, e] \subseteq D$. But, by hypothesis, D = E, concluding that $x \in E$.
 - 3. It is sufficient to take into consideration Lemma 4.3.11(4) to claim that $e \in int_{S_X}(E)$ is a smooth point of B_X , then *E* is the only maximal convex subset of S_X satisfying $e \in E$.
 - 4. Id $D \subseteq S_X$ is the maximal convex subset of S_X containing e, we know that there exists $g \in S_{X^*}$ such that D = F(g). Notice that g(e) = 1 since $e \in D$. Therefore, $g(e_n) = 1$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and the density of $(e_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ implies that $g(E) = \{1\}$, implying that $E \subseteq F(g) = D$, which contradicts the maximality of E.
 - 5. We will follow a similar reasoning to the first item proved in this lemma. Suppose on

the contrary that there exists D another convex component of S_X containing $e \in inn(E)$, and fix $d \in E \setminus \{e\}$. It holds that there exists $c \in E \setminus \{e, d\}$ such that $e \in (d, c)$. The extremal condition satisfied by D implies that $d, c \in D$, but the arbitrariness of $d \in E \setminus \{e\}$ concludes that $E \subseteq D$. Finally, the maximality of E forces that E = D.

Next result is borrowed from (3, Theorem 9). This theorem gives us two important properties about starlike sets: the first one is that every starlike set satisfies the extremal condition. The second one is about the uniqueness respect to the maximal faces containing the centre of the starlike set when we asked for convexity.

Theorem 4.4.10. For every point $x \in S_X$ of the unit sphere of a normed space X, its related starlike set $st(x, B_X)$ satisfies the extremal condition respect to B_X . Moreover, if $st(x, B_X)$ is convex, then $st(x, B_X)$ is the only maximal face of B_X containing x.

Proof. Let us check the extremal condition for $st(x, B_X)$: let $y, z \in B_X$ and $t \in (0, 1)$ such that $ty + (1-t)z \in st(x, B_X)$. By the equality given in 3.2.6,

 $st(x, B_X) = \bigcup \{ C \subseteq S_X : C \text{ is a maximal face of containing } x \},$

we know that there exists a maximal face *C* such that $ty + (1-t)z \in C$. Since *C* satisfies the extremal condition, $y, z \in C \subseteq st(x, B_X)$.Now suppose that $st(x, B_X)$ is also convex. Then, $st(x, B_X)$ verifies the definition of face, and let *D* be a maximal face of B_X containing *x*. Again, by Equation 3.2.6, $D \subseteq st(x, B_X)$, concluding the uniqueness of $st(x, B_X)$.

The set of rotund points of the unit ball can be described in terms of the starlike sets as follows.

Remark 4.4.11. For a normed space X,

$$rot(B_X) = \{x \in S_X : st(x, B_X) = \{x\}\}.$$

This characterization of rotund points through singleton starlike sets allows us to express rotund points in another form.

Remark 4.4.12. A rotund point $x \in rot(B_X)$, where X is a normed space, is a singleton maximal face $\{x\}$ of S_X . This is equivalent to next condition: for all $y \in B_X$ such that $\left\|\frac{x+y}{2}\right\| = 1$, then y = x. Indeed, suppose on the first place that $x \in rot(B_X)$, and let $y \in B_Y$ such that $\left\|\frac{x+y}{2}\right\| = 1$, equivalently, $\|x + y\| = 2$. By Equation 3.2.6 and Remark 4.4.11, $y \in st(x, B_X) = \{x\}$, then x = y. Conversely, assume that for all $y \in B_X$ satisfying $\|y + x\| = 2$, then y = x. This fact forces that $st(x, B_X) = \{y \in B_X : \|x + y\| = 2\} = \{x\}$. Again, in view of Remark 4.4.11, $x \in rot(B_X)$.

Next result combined with Theorem 4.4.10 constituted a generalization of (54, Lemma 2.7). It also gives a sufficient condition for a starlike set to be convex.

Theorem 4.4.13. Let $x \in \text{smo}(B_X)$ be a smooth point of the unit ball of a normed space X. Then, $\text{st}(x, B_X) = F(v(x))$. In particular, $\text{st}(x, B_X)$ is convex.

Proof. The smoothness of x means that there exists a unique functional, let us denote it by v(x), attaining its norm at x. This implies that there is only one exposed face of B_X containing x, which is F(v(x)). This exposed face is also the only maximal face of B_X containing x. By Equation 3.2.6, $st(x, B_X)$ is forced to be that maximal face, implying the convexity of the starlike set.

Chapter

Geometry of the unit ball under surjective isometries of the unit sphere

Contents

5.1 New simpler proofs for already proved invariants 6	68
5.2 Preservation of Flatness and Faces under surjective isometries 7	70
5.3 Invariance of Segments	82

The main topic of this chapter is the study of the invariants of the unit sphere under surjective isometries. During the investigation of the unit ball, we have realized that the proofs of some already known invariants could be simplified by using the our own investigation. This is the goal of the first section, where we present different proofs for the invariance of the

5. GEOMETRY OF THE UNIT BALL UNDER SURJECTIVE ISOMETRIES OF THE UNIT SPHERE

starlike sets (see Theorem 5.1.1) or the equation $T(-st(x, B_X)) = -T(st(x, B_X))$, with T our surjective isometry (see Corollary 5.1.2). The second section of this chapter shows, on the one hand, that the new geometrical terms defined in the flatness study are also invariants under surjective isometries (see Theorem 5.2.3) and, on the other hand, the invariance of faces in arbitrary Banach spaces by relying on the *P*-Property (Theorem 5.2.4). As far as we know, faces have not been proved as invariants under surjective isometries. In this section, we also proved in a simpler way the invariance of the frame by using the reformulation given in Theorem 4.3.12 and the invariance of the set of rotund points (Theorem 5.2.8). As a consequence of this result, we conclude the preservation of antipodal rotund points, that is, T(-x) = -T(x) for all rotund point x and T, the surjective isometry under the same hypotheses as always, and we also deduce the invariance of the strict convexity of the large Banach space X. The latter invariance motivates to define the Inner Property (see Definition 5.2.10). Spaces with this property are under the hypotheses of Theorem 5.2.15 (as we have gathered in Corollary 5.2.16), which is a generalization of Tingley's results (5, Lemma 12 and 13) to infinite dimensions. We end this chapter by proving the invariance of segments under certain circumstances in Theorem 5.3.1.

5.1 New simpler proofs for already proved invariants

Along the study of the invariants under surjective isometries and the geometry of the unit ball, we have given new (simpler) proofs for already known results. The first we present here is the invariance of the starlike sets under surjective isometries defined between unit spheres. This invariance for the starlike sets was stated and proved in (9, Corollary 2.2), and so it does (7, Corollary 5.2), where the proof was omitted. Our different and more direct proof is based on Theorem 3.2.9. **Theorem 5.1.1.** Let $T : S_X \to S_Y$ be a surjective isometry defined between the unit spheres of two Banach spaces X, Y. Then, $T(st(x, B_X)) = st(T(x), B_Y)$, for every $x \in S_X$.

Proof. Relying on Theorem 3.2.9 and taking into consideration Definition 3.2.5, we have the following chain of equalities:

$$T(\operatorname{st}(x, B_X)) = T\left(\bigcup \{C \subseteq S_X : C \text{ is a maximal face containing } x\}\right)$$
$$= \bigcup \{T(C) : T(C) \text{ is a maximal face of } B_X \text{ containing } x\}$$
$$= \bigcup \{D \subseteq S_Y : D \text{ is a maximal face of } B_Y \text{ containing } T(x)\}$$
$$= \operatorname{st}(T(x), B_Y).$$

In Corollary 5.2.16(2), we provide a different proof of Theorem 5.1.1 for a wide class of Banach spaces containing the finite-dimensional Banach spaces. Besides, Theorem 5.1.1 together with Remark 3.2.17 lead us to the following original result.

Corollary 5.1.2. Let X, Y be Banach spaces and $T : S_X \to S_Y$ be a surjective isometry between the unit spheres of those Banach spaces. Then, $T(-\operatorname{st}(x, B_X)) = -T(\operatorname{st}(x, B_X))$ for all $x \in S_X$.

Proof. In virtue of Theorem 5.1.1 and Remark 3.2.17 the next holds:

$$T(-st(x, B_X)) = T(st(-x, B_X)) = st(T(-x), B_Y) = -st(-T(-x), B_Y) = -T(st(x, B_X)).$$

5.2 Preservation of Flatness and Faces under surjective isometries

We will begin this section by giving a simpler proof of (1, Theorem 3.7) using some results given in the previous study, in detail, Theorem 3.2.9, Remark 3.2.12, and Theorem 4.3.12. The following result can be found for the first time in (3, Theorem 11), and shows that the frame is an invariant under surjective isometries defined between unit spheres.

Theorem 5.2.1. Let $T : S_X \to S_Y$ be a surjective isometry defined between the unit spheres of Banach spaces X, Y. Then, $T(\text{frm}(B_X)) = \text{frm}(B_Y)$.

Proof. Notice that $T(\mathscr{C}_X) = \mathscr{C}_Y$ (see Theorem 3.2.9 together with Remark 3.2.12). By bearing in mind that *T* is an homeomorphism (see Remark 3.2.12), and the reformulation given in Theorem 4.3.12, we have that

$$T(\operatorname{frm}(B_X)) = T\left(S_X \setminus \bigcup_{C \in \mathscr{C}_X} \operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C)\right) = T(S_X) \setminus \bigcup_{C \in \mathscr{C}_X} T(\operatorname{int}_{S_X}(C))$$
$$= T(S_X) \setminus \bigcup_{C \in \mathscr{C}_X} \operatorname{int}_{S_Y}(T(C)) = S_Y \setminus \bigcup_{D \in \mathscr{C}_Y} \operatorname{int}_{S_Y}(D)$$
$$= \operatorname{frm}(B_Y).$$

The following example shows that the interior of the frame is a topological invariant under surjective isometries.

Example 5.2.2. Let X be a Banach space such that $int_{S_X}(frm(B_X)) = \emptyset$, and let Y be another Banach space satisfying that there exists a surjective isometry $T : S_X \to S_Y$. According to the previous Theorem 5.2.1, we have that $T(frm(B_X)) = frm(B_Y)$. Even more, since T is an homeomorphism, it holds

$$\operatorname{int}_{S_Y}(\operatorname{frm}(B_Y)) = \operatorname{int}_{S_Y}(T(\operatorname{frm}(B_X))) = T(\operatorname{int}_{S_X}(\operatorname{frm}(B_X))) = T(\emptyset) = \emptyset.$$

We would like to make the reader notice that some items of the following result, Theorem 5.2.3(2) and Theorem 5.2.3(5), state the same assertion according to Lemma 4.4.2(2). We have made the differentiation because Theorem 5.2.3(2) relies on Theorem 5.1.1, whereas Theorem 5.2.3(5) does not. The following result shows the invariance of other terms of the unit ball under surjective isometries, for instance, the starlike envelope, and the original proof can be found in (3, Theorem 12).

Theorem 5.2.3. Let $T : S_X \to S_Y$ be a surjective isometry between the unit spheres of Banach spaces X, Y, and let $E \subseteq S_X$. Then:

- 1. T(st(E)) = st(T(E)).
- 2. If E is starlike compatible, so it is T(E).
- 3. If E is starlike generated, then T(E) is starlike generated too.
- 4. If E is flat, then, T(E) is flat.
- 5. If E is almost flat, then T(E) is almost flat.



easy to observe that

$$T(\operatorname{st}(E)) = T\left(\bigcap_{e \in E} \operatorname{st}(e, B_X)\right) = \bigcap_{e \in E} T\left(\operatorname{st}(e, B_X)\right)$$
$$= \bigcap_{e \in E} \operatorname{st}(T(e), B_Y) = \bigcap_{d \in T(E)} \operatorname{st}(d, B_Y) = \operatorname{st}(T(E))$$

- 2. By hypothesis, *E* is starlike compatible, so $E \subseteq st(E)$, then $T(E) \subseteq T(st(E)) = st(T(E))$, which means that T(E) is starlike compatible.
- 3. The proof is very similar to the previous one.
- 4. By hypothesis, $co(E) \subseteq S_X$, and let *D* be a convex maximal subset of S_X , *D* is a convex component, containing $co(E) \subseteq D$. The invariance of maximal convex subsets of S_X (Theorem 3.2.9) assures that T(D) is a convex component of S_Y . Besides, since $E \subseteq co(E) \subseteq D$, then $T(E) \subseteq T(co(E)) \subseteq T(D)$. The convexity of T(D) gives us $co(T(E)) \subseteq T(D) \subseteq S_Y$, which is the condition for T(E) of being flat.
- 5. We start by fixing two arbitrary elements of E, $e, f \in E$, and we want to prove that $[T(e), T(f)] \subseteq S_Y$ for T(E) to satisfy the almost flat condition. Since E is almost flat by hypothesis, then $[e, f] \subseteq S_X$. Also, there exists a convex component $F \subseteq S_X$ such that $[e, f] \subseteq F$. Again, by Theorem 3.2.9, T(F) is a maximal face of B_Y . Notice also that, since $[e, f] \subseteq F$, then $T([e, f]) \in \subseteq T(F)$. This means that $T(e), T(f) \in T(F)$, and the convexity of T(F) assures that the whole segment is contained, this is $[T(e), T(f)] \subseteq T(F) \subseteq T(F) \subseteq S_Y$.

Let *C* be a flat subset of S_X , where *X* is a normed space. We will denote

 $M_C := \{ D \subseteq S_X : D \text{ is a maximal face of } B_X \text{ containing } C \}.$

When $C = \{c\}$ is a singleton, we will simply write M_c . Observe that $M_C = M_{co(C)}$.

Next result presents the invariance of faces under particular circumstances: the hypothesis for the Banach space X of having the Property P. This theorem is originally presented in (3, Theorem 13), and it serves as an example of the interest in Pp. The proof of this result strongly relies on the invariance of maximal faces under surjective isometries (Theorem 3.2.9).

Theorem 5.2.4. Let X, Y be two Banach spaces, $T : S_X \to S_Y$, a surjective isometry, and $E \subseteq S_X$, a flat subset. Then:

- 1. $T(M_E) = M_{T(E)}$.
- 2. If X has also Pp and E is a face of B_X , then T(E) is a face of B_Y .
- *Proof.* 1. Let us fix an arbitrary $D \in M_E$. By Theorem 3.2.9, we know that T(D) is also a maximal face of B_Y which contains T(E), that is $T(D) \in M_{T(E)}$. This shows that $T(M_E) \subseteq M_{T(E)}$. The other inclusion is analogous by using T^{-1} .
 - 2. Since *X* satisfies property P, every (proper) face is the intersection of all maximal faces containing it, that is $E = \bigcap_{D \in M_E} D$ by hypothesis. Besides, by Theorem 5.2.3(4), T(E) is flat, and $T(M_E) = M_{T(E)}$ by previous item on this result. Then, keeping in mind that *T* is an homeomorphism,

$$T(E) = T\left(\bigcap_{D\in M_E} D\right) = \bigcap_{D\in M_E} T(D) = \bigcap_{C\in M_{T(E)}} C.$$

Observe that the equality above shows that T(E) is the intersection of (maximal) faces of B_Y , therefore, T(E) is a face of B_Y .

In order to prove Corollary 5.2.7, the following lemma will be necessary.

Lemma 5.2.5. Let X be a normed space and $x, y \in S_X$. Then:

- 1. If $v(x) \subseteq v(y)$, then $M_x \subseteq M_y$, where $v(x) := \{x^* \in S_{X^*} : x^*(x) = 1\}$.
- 2. If $x, y \in \text{smo}(B_X)$, and $M_x \subseteq M_y$, then $M_x = M_y$ and v(x) = v(y).
- 3. $st(x, B_X) \subseteq st(y, B_X)$ if and only if $M_x \subseteq M_y$.
- 4. The equality $st(x, B_X) = st(y, B_X)$ holds if and only if $M_x = M_y$.
- *Proof.* 1. Let $D \in M_x$ be an arbitrary maximal face containing $x \in S_x$. Since maximal faces are exposed faces, there exists $f \in S_{X^*}$ such that $x \in D = F(f)$, which implies $f \in v(x)$. by hypothesis, $v(x) \subseteq v(y)$, then f(y) = 1, thus $y \in F(f) = D$, concluding that $D \in M_y$.
 - 2. Since x, y ∈ smo(B_X), we call on Theorem 4.4.13 to assert that st(x, B_X) and st(y, B_X) are both convex. Also, Theorem 4.4.10 states that those starlike sets are the only maximal faces containing each center, that means, M_x = {st(x, B_X} and M_y = {st(y, B_X)}. Thus, M_x and M_y are both singleton satisfying M_x ⊆ M_y, the only possibility is that M_x = M_y. Finally, by using again Theorem 4.4.13, F(v(x)) = st(x, B_X) = st(y, B_X) = F(v(y)). The smoothness of x and y forces v(x) = v(y).
 - 3. \Rightarrow Suppose on the first place that $st(x, B_X) \subseteq st(y, B_X)$ and let $D \in M_X$ be an arbitrary

maximal face containing x. Observe that $D \subseteq \operatorname{st}(x, B_X)$ by using Equation 3.2.6. If we show that $\operatorname{co}(D \cup \{y\}) \subseteq S_X$, then the maximality of D implies that $\operatorname{co}(D \cup \{y\}) \subseteq D$, thus $y \in D$, which means that $D \in M_y$. The arbitrariness of D shows the contention $M_x \subseteq M_y$. Let us proof that $\operatorname{co}(D \cup \{y\}) \subseteq S_X$. Indeed, since $\operatorname{co}(D \cup \{y\}) = \bigcup_{d \in D} [d, y]$ and, by hypothesis, $D \subseteq \operatorname{st}(x, B_X) \subseteq \operatorname{st}(y, B_X)$, thus, keeping in mind again Equation 3.2.6, we claim that $[d, y] \subseteq S_X$ for all $d \in D$, hence $\operatorname{co}(D \cup \{y\}) = \bigcup_{d \in D} [d, y] \subseteq S_X$, concluding this part of the proof.

 \Leftarrow Conversely, suppose that $M_x \subseteq M_y$, therefore, by using again the Equality 3.2.6,

$$\operatorname{st}(x, B_X) = \bigcup_{D \in M_x} D \subseteq \bigcup_{D \in M_y} D = \operatorname{st}(y, B_X)$$

• This fourth statement is a direct consequence of the item proved above.

Next example shows that the converse of Lemma 5.2.5(1) does not hold in general.

Example 5.2.6. Let us consider \mathbb{R}^2 endowed with the norm given by the unit ball resulting from the intersection of the Euclidean ball $B_{\ell_2^2}$ with the band $\{(x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : -\frac{1}{2} \le x_2 \le \frac{1}{2}\}$, denoted by X, and take $x := \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right)$, $y := (0, \frac{1}{2})$ (see Figure 5.1). In this case, note that $M_x = M_y = \{\left[\left(-\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right), \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}, \frac{1}{2}\right)\right]\}$, but $v(x) \notin v(y)$ since $y \in \text{smo}(B_X)$, then v(y) is a singleton, while v(x) does not, since $x \notin \text{smo}(B_X)$.



Figure 5.1: A counter-example of Lemma 5.2.5(1)

A direct consequence of Lemma 5.2.5 is the following.

Corollary 5.2.7. Let X and Y be two Banach spaces, $T : S_X \to S_Y$, a surjective isometry and Y, smooth. Then, v(T(-x)) = -v(T(x)).

Proof. First, Remark 3.2.17 and Theorem 5.1.1 establish that $T(st(x, B_X)) = st(-T(-x), B_Y)$ and $T(st(x, B_X)) = st(T(x), B_Y)$ respectively. Then, the next equality for starlike sets holds

$$T(\operatorname{st}(x, B_X)) = \operatorname{st}(-T(-x), B_Y) = \operatorname{st}(T(x), B_Y).$$

The equality above allows us to use Lemma 5.2.5(4) and claim that $M_{-T(-x)} = M_{T(x)}$. Finally, since *Y* is smooth, Lemma 5.2.5(2) assures that $-\nu(T(-x)) = \nu(-T(-x)) = \nu(T(x))$.

We recall that singleton maximal faces of the unit ball are precisely the rotund points. Keeping this in mind, the following result is a particular case of Theorem 3.2.9 for singleton maximal faces, which allows us to provide a very simple proof of this invariance (the original proof was shown in (3, Theorem 14), and it is not the same as the one presented here, which is even simpler).

Theorem 5.2.8. Let X and Y be Banach spaces and $T : S_X \to S_Y$, a surjective isometry. Then, $T(rot(B_X)) = rot(B_Y)$. Moreover, T(-x) = -T(x) for all rotund point $x \in rot(B_X)$.

Proof. Let $x \in rot(B_X)$, in particular, $\{x\}$ is a maximal face. Keeping in mind Equation 3.2.6, $\{x\} = st(x, B_X)$. Besides, Remark 3.2.17 gives the next equality

$$T(\lbrace x \rbrace) = T(\operatorname{st}(x, B_X)) = \operatorname{st}(-T(-x), B_Y).$$

Notice that $T({x}) = {T(x)}$ is convex, hence $st(-T(-x), B_Y)$ is convex. In view of Theorem 4.4.10, $st(-T(-x), B_Y) = {T(x)}$ is the only maximal face containing $\{-T(-x)\}$, in particular, ${T(x)}$ is a maximal face, hence, $T(x) \in rot(B_Y)$.

As a direct consequence of the previous theorem, we have the following result, which shows that the strict convexity is invariant under surjective isometries defined between the unit spheres.

Corollary 5.2.9. Let X and Y be Banach spaces and $T : S_X \to S_Y$ a surjective isometry. Then, if X is strictly convex, Y is also strictly convex.

Last result motivates the following definition. This property will be a useful tool when we prove the invariance of some kind of sets and properties, as well as a generalization of Lemmas 12 and 13 in (5) to the infinite dimensional case for maximal faces of the unit sphere with inner points.

Definition 5.2.10. A Banach space X is said to satisfy the inner property or the I-property (Ip)

if it is strictly convex or every non-singleton maximal face of B_X has inner points.

In (20, Theorem 5.1) it was proved that every finite dimensional Banach space has the Ip. The following examples show the existence of Banach spaces lacking the Ip for the infinite dimensional case.

Example 5.2.11. We call a Banach space X transitive if for every $x, y \in S_X$, there exists a surjective linear isometry $T : X \to X$ such that T(x) = y. Keeping in mind (55, Corollary 2.21), where it was proved that every Banach space can be isometrically regarded as a subspace of a transitive Banach space, we can take a non-strictly convex Banach space Y and consider a transitive Banach space X such that it contains a subspace isometrically isomorphic to Y. As X contains a non-strictly convex subspace, X is not strictly convex. Besides, in (56, Theorem 3.2) it was proved that every non-singleton maximal face of a non-strictly convex and transitive space is free of inner points, then X has not the Ip.

Example 5.2.12. Let us consider ℓ_1 , the space of all absolute summable sequences

$$\ell_1 = \left\{ (x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in \mathbb{R}^{\mathbb{N}} : \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |x_n| < \infty \right\},\,$$

where the norm is given by

$$||(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}||_1 := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} |x_n|.$$

In (20, Theorem 5.4) it was presented an example of a maximal face free of inner points. In particular,

$$D := \left\{ (x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \in S_{\ell_1} : x_n \ge 0 \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{N} \right\}$$

is a maximal face of B_{ℓ_1} satisfying $inn(D) = \emptyset$. As a consequence, ℓ_1 does not satisfy Ip.

Example 5.2.13. In Example 5.2.11, we have presented a non-strictly convex and transitive

Banach space X lacking the Ip. Notice that B_X is also free of rotund points, otherwise, the transitivity forces that $rot(B_X) = S_X$, contradicting the non-strict convexity. Now, if we consider another Banach space Y and a surjective isometry $T : S_X \to S_Y$, and a maximal face $C \subseteq S_X$ with $inn(C) = \emptyset$ (the existence of such maximal face is guaranteed by the condition of lacking the Ip), then T(C) is also a maximal face in view of Theorem 3.2.9 and $rot(B_Y) = \emptyset$ by using Theorem 5.2.8, then, Y also fails Ip.

We recall that a topological space is said to be homogeneous if for any two points x, y in the topological space, there exists an homeomorphism (on the whole space) mapping one to another.

Theorem 5.2.14. Let X and Y be Banach spaces and $T : S_X \to S_Y$, a surjective isometry. If X is transitive, then S_Y is homogeneous. If X is also separable, then Y is strictly convex.

Proof. Let $y_1, y_2 \in S_Y$. The transitivity of *X* guarantees the existence of a surjective linear isometry *S* : *X* → *X* such that $S(T^{-1}(y_1)) = T^{-1}(y_2)$. Now, the wanted homeomorphism is given by the surjective isometry $T \circ S \circ T^{-1} : S_Y \to S_Y$, which clearly maps y_1 to y_2 . To conclude the proof, if we ask *X* to be separable, then it is also rotund by (57, Theorem 28). Finally, by Corollary 5.2.9, *Y* is also strictly convex.

Next theorem constitutes a generalization of Lemmas 12 and 13 proved by Tingley in (5). The result we are going to present was originally proved in (3, Theorem 15).

Theorem 5.2.15. Let X and Y be Banach spaces and $T : S_X \to S_Y$ a surjective isometry. Consider a maximal face $F \subseteq S_X$ such that $inn(F) \neq \emptyset$. Then,

- 1. T(-F) = -T(F).
- 2. If there exists $x \in inn(F)$ for which there exists $E \in M_{T(x)}$ satisfying $inn(E) \neq \emptyset$, then

 $T(F) \subseteq E$.

- *Proof.* 1. Firstly, let us see that $T(-F) \subseteq -T(F)$. Let $x \in inn(F)$. Then, by Lemma 4.4.9(2,5), we know that $F = st(x, B_X)$. Additionally, $T(F) = T(st(x, B_X)) = st(-T(-x), B_Y)$ by Lemma 4.4.2. Then, $-T(-x) \in T(F)$, so $T(-x) \in -T(F)$. Since $x \in inn(F)$ is arbitrary, the contention $T(-inn(F)) \subseteq -T(F)$ holds. Keeping in mind Remark 3.2.27, inn(F) is dense in F (since F is also closed). On the other hand, T is continuous, so T(F) is closed in S_Y . Putting both consequences together, we conclude that $T(-F) \subseteq -T(F)$. For the other inclusion, notice that -F is also a maximal face with $inn(-F) \neq \emptyset$, since $inn(-F) \neq \emptyset$ if and only if $inn(F) \neq \emptyset$. Then, making the same reasoning, we reach to $T(F) \subseteq -T(-F)$.
 - 2. Let us consider $e \in inn(E)$. Hence, by Lemma 4.4.9(2,5), $E = st(e, B_Y)$. By applying Remark 3.2.17 to $T^{-1} : S_Y \to S_X$, we have that $T^{-1}(st(e, B_Y)) = st(-T^{-1}(e), B_X)$, thus $T^{-1}(E) = st(-T^{-1}(-e, B_X)$. By hypotheses, $E \in M_{T(x)}$, then $x \in T^{-1}(E)$, so $x \in st(-T^{-1}(-e), B_X)$. This last equality guarantees that $[x, -T^{-1}(-e)] \subseteq S_X$. So, Fis under the conditions of Lemma 4.4.9(1), concluding that $F \subseteq st(-T^{-1}(-e), B_X) =$ $T^{-1}(E)$, which is equivalent to $T(F) \subseteq E$.

We recall to the reader that (5, Lemma 13) has already been generalize to infinite dimensions in (7, Lemma 5.1) and in (1, Lemma 3.5) (see Theorem 3.2.9). The purpose of the Corollary 5.2.16(1) is to provide a simpler proof when the Banach space has the Ip. Also, in Corollary 5.2.16(2), we prove the invariance of the starlike sets showed in Theorem 5.1.1 without relying on Theorem 3.2.9.

Corollary 5.2.16. Let X and Y be Banach spaces and consider $T : S_X \to S_Y$. Suppose that X

and Y satisfy the Ip. Then,

- 1. If F is a maximal face of B_X , T(F) is a maximal face of B_Y .
- 2. $T(st(x, B_X)) = st(T(x), B_Y)$ for all $x \in S_X$.
- *Proof.* 1. Let us assume that *F* is not a singleton (if $F = \{x\}$, then $x \in rot(B_X)$ and the proof is a particular case of Theorem 5.2.15). By hypothesis, $inn(F) \neq \emptyset$, so we can fix $x \in inn(F)$. The same reasoning allows us to consider $e \in inn(E) \neq \emptyset$, where $E \in M_{T(x)}$. Then, by Theorem 5.2.15(2), it holds that $T(F) \subseteq E$. Now, consider any $D \in M_{T^{-1}(e)}$, since $inn(D) \neq \emptyset$, by Theorem 5.2.15(2) again, we have that $T^{-1}(E) \subseteq D$, hence $F \subseteq T^{-1}(E) \subseteq D$. The maximality of *F* forces that T(F) = E, which was already maximal.
 - 2. By Remark 3.2.17, we have the equality $T(st(x, B_X)) = st(-T(-x), B_Y)$, so it only suffices to prove that $st(-T(-x), B_Y) = st(T(x), B_Y)$, which is equivalent to prove that $M_{T(x)} = M_{-T(-x)}$ by Lemma 5.2.5(4). Let us see that $M_{T(x)} \subseteq M_{-T(-x)}$: fix an arbitrary $C \in M_{T(x)}$, then $x \in T^{-1}(C)$, thus $-x \in -T^{-1}(C) = T^{-1}(-C)$, where the latter equality is given by Theorem 5.2.15(1). So, we have that $T(-x) \in -C$, hence $-T(-x) \in C$. This shows that $C \in M_{-T(-x)}$. The arbitrariness of C guarantees that $M_{T(x)} \subseteq M_{-T(-x)}$. The other inclusion follows a similar reasoning: Let $D \in M_{-T(-x)}$, this means that $-T(-x) \in D$, so $T(-x) \in -D$, then $-x \in T^{-1}(-D) = -T^{-1}(D)$, where the latter equality is due to Theorem 5.2.15(1). Hence, $x \in T^{-1}(D)$, meaning that $T(x) \in D$, thus $D \in M_{T(x)}$ concluding the proof.

5.3 Invariance of Segments

The aim of this section is the study of the invariance of segments under surjective isometries and it is motivated as a refinement of Tanaka's result about the invariance of maximal faces proved in (1, Lemma 3.5). Meanwhile, affine properties of surjectives isometries on maximal-face segments is accomplished, reaching one step further in the achievement of linearity for surjective isometries.

The following result was proved in (3, Theorem 17) and it presents the invariance of segments under certain hypotheses.

Theorem 5.3.1. Let X and Y be Banach spaces and $T : S_X \to S_Y$ a surjective isometry. Let $x, y \in S_X$ be two different points such that $[x, y] \subseteq S_X$. If we ask T([x, y]) to be convex, then T([x, y]) = [T(x), T(y)] and T is affine in the whole segment [x, y], that is, T(tx+(1-t)y) = tT(x) + (1-t)T(y) for all $t \in [0, 1]$.

Proof. The proof uses strongly the fact that $T: S_X \to S_Y$ is an homeomorphism. Keeping this in hand, it is clear that T([x, y]) is compact and convex (by hypothesis). Moreover, T([x, y])is homeomorphic to [x, y]. Let us prove in the first place that T([x, y]) is a segment. If we suppose on the contrary that T([x, y]) is not a segment, since T([x, y]) is convex, it has to contain at least three points not aligned. Besides, notice that $[x, y] \setminus \{\frac{x+y}{2}\}$ is not connected, then $T([x, y] \setminus \{\frac{x+y}{2}\}) = T([x, y]) \setminus \{T(\frac{x+y}{2})\}$ is not connected either. But Remark 4.1.2 claims that $\{T(\frac{x+y}{2})\}$ has to be connected. Then, T([x, y]) is a segment, that is T([x, y]) = [a, b] with $a, b \in S_Y$.

Now, consider $t, s \in [0, 1]$ such that T(tx + (1-t)y) = a and T(sx + (1-s)y) = b. Keeping

in mind that isometries preserves diameters, the following holds

$$||x - y|| = \operatorname{diam}([x, y])$$

= diam(T([x, y]))
= ||a - b||
= ||T(tx + (1 - t)y) - T(sx + (1 - s)y)||
= ||tx + (1 - t)y - (sx + (1 - s)y)||
= |t - s|||x - y||,

therefore, the only possibility is that t = 0 and s = 1 or t = 1 and s = 0. In any case, T([x, y]) = [T(x), T(y)]. Finally, let see that T is affine on the whole segment [x, y]. Indeed, fix an arbitrary $t \in (0, 1)$. Then, there exists $s \in (0, 1)$ such that T(tx + (1 - t)y) =sT(x) + (1 - s)T(y). Following a similar reasoning as before,

$$(1-s)||x-y|| = (1-s)||T(x) - T(y)||$$

= $||(sT(x) + (1-s)T(y)) - T(x)||$
= $||T(tx + (1-t)y) - T(x)||$
= $||tx + (1-t)y - x||$
= $(1-t)||x-y||,$

thus, t = s, concluding the proof.

Theorem 3.2.9 together with the previous result give us the next direct consequence.

Corollary 5.3.2. Let X and Y be Banach spaces and $T : S_X \to S_Y$, a surjective isometry. Consider two different points $x, y \in S_X$, $x \neq y$ such that $[x, y] \subseteq S_X$. If [x, y] is a maximal face of B_X , then T is affine on [x, y], that is T(tx + (1 - t)y) = tT(x) + (1 - t)T(y) for all

 $t \in [0, 1].$

Proof. Theorem 3.2.9 guarantees that T([x, y]) is also a maximal face of B_Y , in particular, it is convex. Then, we are under the hypotheses of Theorem 5.3.1.

Example 5.3.3. An interesting example was presented in (57, Example 3.8). Here, a 3dimensional Banach space was constructed whose unit ball is formed by rotund points except for two maximal segments which are maximal faces, so its unit ball satisfies the conditions of Corollary 5.3.2.
CHAPTER

Geometry of the unit ball under projections

Contents		
6.1	A new class of norm-one projections: <i>S</i> -projections	86
6.2	Extremal Structure under 1-Complementation	90

In Section 3.3 we have recalled the concepts of projections and supporting vectors in order to use them in the study of the extremal structure in this section. This chapter features the results presented in (23, Section 5) and it could be seen as a continuation of the research done in (26). In particular, we present a new type of norm-one projections called *S*-projections (Definition 6.1.2) motivated by the characterization given in (26, Proposition 3.1). This projections $P : X \to X$ are just those 1-projections satisfying that $S_{P(X)} = \text{suppv}(P)$. As well, we characterize the supporting vector of an L^{∞} -projection (also called *M*-projections) and the *S*-projections (Lemma 6.1.6). Notice that *M*-projections are not *S*-projection in general (see Proposition 6.1.4). This section ends with Theorem 6.1.7 by showing that the extremal condition in the projected unit ball $B_{P(X)}$ is kept if we consider the extremal subset respect to the whole unit ball B_X . In the last section of this chapter we introduce the concept of strongly maximal face. As the reader expects, every strongly maximal face is a maximal face (see Lemma 6.2.2) and they are invariants under L^2 -projections, that is, if *F* is a strongly maximal face of the projected unit ball $B_{P(X)}$, the same condition holds in B_X (see Theorem 6.2.4). As a consequence, the same statement holds for (non-necessary strongly) maximal faces and the contention $rot(B_{P(X)}) \subseteq rot(B_X)$.

6.1 A new class of norm-one projections: S-projections

First of all, we want the reader to notice the following relation.

Remark 6.1.1. Notice that if $P : X \to X$ is a 1-projection, then $S_{P(X)} \subseteq \text{suppv}(P)$. Indeed, let $P(x) \in S_{P(X)} = S_X \cap P(X)$, that is, ||P(x)|| = 1. In this case, $\text{suppv}(P) = \{x \in S_X : ||P(x)|| = 1\}$. Then, $P(x) \in \text{suppv}(P)$ if ||P(P(x))|| = 1. But this equality holds by using the idempotence of P

$$||P(P(x))|| = ||P(x)|| = 1 = ||P||.$$

Next original definition is motivated by this previous observation.

Definition 6.1.2. For a Banach space X, a 1-projection $P : X \to X$ is called and S-projection provided that $S_{P(X)} = \text{suppv}(P)$.

Let us show some examples of S-projections.

Proposition 6.1.3. Every L^p -projection is an S-projection, with $1 \le p < \infty$.

Proof. Indeed, since every projection satisfies $||P|| \ge 1$, let us show that $||P|| \le 1$. The next holds for every L^p -projection

$$||x||^p = ||P(x)||^p + \underbrace{||(I-P)(x)||^p}_{\geq 0} \geq ||P(x)||^p,$$

then, $||x||^p \le ||P(x)||^p$ for every $x \in X$. Take the *p*-th root, which is strictly increasing, and the supremum in S_X , hence,

$$1 = \sup_{x \in S_X} ||x|| \le \sup_{x \in S_X} ||P(x)|| = ||P||.$$

A similar reasoning for I-P reach us to the fact that every L^p -projections is a (1, 1)-projection. Finally, let us see that $S_{P(X)} = \text{suppv}(P)$. The contention $S_{P(X)} \subseteq \text{suppv}(P)$ remains true for every norm-one projection. Since $\text{suppv}(P) \subseteq S_X$, it only suffices to prove that $\text{suppv}(P) \subseteq$ P(X). Let $x \in \text{suppv}(P)$, then ||x|| = 1 = ||P(x)||, besides, using that P is an L^p -projection,

$$1 = ||x||^{p} = \underbrace{||P(x)||^{p}}_{=1} + ||(I-P)(x)||^{p},$$

which forces that (I - P)(x) = 0, meaning that $x \in P(X)$.

Next result proves the existence of projections which are not S-projections.

Proposition 6.1.4. Let $P : X \to X$ be a non-trivial *M*-projection defined in a Banach space *X*. Then, *P* does not satisfy the condition of being an *S*-projection.

Proof. Let M := P(X) and $N := \ker(P)$, then $X = M \oplus_{\infty} N$, that is, every element $x \in X$ has an expression x = m + n, with $m \in M$ and $n \in N$. In order to see that $S_{P(X)} \neq \operatorname{suppv}(P)$, it suffices to show that $A := \{m + n \in S_X : \|m\| = 1, \|n\| = 1\} \subseteq \text{suppv}(P)$, since $\{m + n \in X : \|m\| = 1, \|n\| = 1\} \notin S_{P(X)}$. Since every *M*-projections is a norm-one projection, suppv $(P) = \{x \in S_X : \|P(x)\| = 1 = \|P\|\}$. Fix an arbitrary $x \in A$, then, since *P* is an *M*-projection, $\|x\| = \max\{\|m\|, \|n\|\} = 1$, then $x \in S_X$. Notice that $\|P(x)\| = \|P(m) + P(n)\| = \|P(m)\| = \|P(m)\| = 1$, because $m \in P(X)$, then P(m) = m. This proves that $x \in \text{suppv}(P)$. \Box

The reader have to notice that this proof motivates the following characterization of the set of supporting vectors for an arbitrary M-projection.

Theorem 6.1.5. Let $P : X \rightarrow X$ be an *M*-projection. Then,

$$suppv(P) = \{m + n \in S_{\chi} : ||m|| = 1, ||n|| \le 1\},\$$

and

$$suppv(I - P) = \{m + n \in S_X : ||n|| = 1, ||m|| \le 1\}.$$

Proof. As in the proof of Proposition 6.1.4, $X = M \oplus_{\infty} N$. Let $x \in \{m + n \in S_X : \|m\| = 1, \|n\| \le 1\}$, then $\|x\| = \max\{\|m\|, \|n\|\} = 1$ and P(x) = P(m) + P(n) = P(m), then $\|P(x)\| = 1$, implying that $x \in \operatorname{suppv}(P)$. Conversely, consider $x \in \operatorname{suppv}(P) \subseteq X$, thus x = m + n, and $\|x\| = 1 = \|P(x)\| = \|P(m) + P(n)\| = \|m\|$, since $m \in P(X) = M$. By using again that *P* is an *M*-projection, then $\|x\| = \max\{\|m\|, \|n\|\}$, which forces that $\|n\| \le 1$. Finally, (26, Proposition 3.1) claims that *M*-projections are (1, 1)-projections, then $\|I - P\| = 1$, and the same reasoning as before shows that

$$suppv(I - P) = \{m + n \in S_X : ||n|| = 1, ||m|| \le 1\}.$$

Next lemma characterizes the those norm-one projections which are S-projections.

Lemma 6.1.6. Let X be a Banach space. A 1-projection $P : X \to X$ is an S-projection if and only if for every $x \in X$ the condition ||x|| = ||P(x)|| implies x = P(x).

Proof. ⇒) On the first place, suppose that $P : X \to X$ is an *S*-projection, that is $S_{P(X)} =$ suppv(*P*). Let $x \in X$ be an arbitrary element such that ||x|| = ||P(x)||. Let us assume that $x \neq 0$, otherwise, P(0) = 0 by linearity and there is nothing to prove. Now define $y := \frac{x}{||x||}$. Notice that $y \in$ suppv(*P*). Indeed,

$$||P(y)|| = \left| \left| P\left(\frac{x}{||x||}\right) \right| = \frac{1}{||x||} ||P(x)|| = 1 = ||P||.$$

By hypothesis, *P* is an *S*-projection, thus, $y \in \text{suppv}(P) = S_{P(X)} = S_X \cap P(X)$, meaning that there exists $z \in X$ such that z = P(y). Using the idempotence of *P*, it holds that P(y) = P(P(z)) = P(z) = y, then

$$x = ||x||y = ||x||P(y) = P(||x||y) = P\left(||x||\frac{x}{||x||}\right) = P(x).$$

⇐) Conversely, suppose that for every x ∈ X, the equality ||x|| = ||P(x)|| implies that x = P(x). We already know that S_{P(X)} ⊆ suppv(P) for an arbitrary norm-one projection P. Let us see the other inclusion. Take y ∈ suppv(P) = {x ∈ S_X : ||P(x)| = ||P|| = 1}. Notice that ||y|| = 1 = ||P(y)||. By hypothesis, y = P(y) ∈ P(X). Then, y ∈ S_{P(X)} = S_X ∩ P(X), concluding the proof.

Lemma 6.1.6 shows that orthogonal projections (L^p -projections for p = 2) are trivial ex-

amples of S-projections.

Next result generalizes Lemma 4.3.5 to the extent of extremal subsets. This theorem was originally proved in (23, Theorem 5.3).

Theorem 6.1.7. For a Banach space X and an S-projection $P : X \to X$, if $F \subseteq S_{P(X)}$ is extremal in $B_{P(X)}$, then F is extremal in B_X . In particular, $ext(B_{P(X)}) \subseteq ext(B_X)$.

Proof. Let $y \in F \subseteq S_{P(X)} = S_X \cap P(X)$. Take $u, v \in S_X$ such that $y \in (u, v)$ and let us prove that $u, v \in F$. Since $y \in P(X)$, by Remark 3.3.5, P(y) = y and $y \in (u, v)$, then $y = P(y) \in (P(u), P(v))$. Using that *P* is a norm-one projection, $||P(u)|| \le ||P||||u|| = 1$, then $P(u) \in B_{P(X)}$. The same reasoning gives $P(v) \in B_{P(X)}$. But *F* is extremal in $B_{P(X)}$, then $P(u), P(v) \in F \subseteq S_{P(X)}$, so ||P(u)|| = 1 = ||u|| and ||P(v)|| = 1 = ||v||. In view of Lemma 6.1.6, we have that $u = P(u) \in F$ and $v = P(v) \in F$, that is $u, v \in F$, which proves the extremal condition for *F* in B_X . □

Since M-projections are not S-projections, the previous theorem does not remain true for M-projections, as it is shown in the following example.

Example 6.1.8. In $\ell_{\infty^2} := (\mathbb{R}^2, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$, the point (1,0) is extreme in the unit ball $B_{P(X)} = \{(x,0): x \in \mathbb{R}\}$, but is not an extreme point in $B_{\ell_{\infty}^2}$.

6.2 Extremal Structure under 1-Complementation

Before proving Theorem 6.2.4, we will introduce a novel definition in Extremal Theory. We want the reader to notice that this definition has some similarities with the one given in (6, Definition 11), but the one we present here is a generalization whose name is linked to the

term of maximal face. As a matter of fact, this relation will be proved in Lemma 6.2.2.

Definition 6.2.1 (Strongly maximal face). For a convex subset in the unit sphere $F \subseteq S_X$ of a normed space, we say that F is a strongly maximal face of B_X if $F = \bigcup_{e \in F} \operatorname{st}(e, B_X)$.

As it is expected, every strongly maximal face is, in fact, a maximal face of B_X . We feature this fact in next result.

Lemma 6.2.2. If $F \subseteq S_X$ is a strongly maximal face of B_X , in a real vector space X, then, F is a maximal face of B_X .

Proof. Let $D \subseteq S_X$ be a convex component containing $F = \bigcup_{e \in F} \operatorname{st}(e, B_X)$, and take $d \in D$, $f \in F$. Observe that $f \in F \subseteq D$, which is convex, then $[d, f] \subseteq D \subseteq S_X$. By using Equation 3.2.6, $d \in \operatorname{st}(f, B_X) \subseteq F$, hence D = F.

However, there exist examples of maximal faces which are not strongly maximal faces.

Example 6.2.3. Any of the maximal faces of the unit ball $B_{\ell_{\infty}^2}$ is not a strongly maximal face, where $\ell_{\infty}^2 := (\mathbb{R}^2, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$.

An easy example of strongly maximal faces are rotund points of the unit ball.

Theorem 6.2.4. Let $P : X \to X$ be an L^2 -projection defined in a Banach space. If F is a (strongly) maximal face of $B_{P(X)}$, then F is a (strongly) maximal face of B_X . In particular, $rot(B_{P(X)}) \subseteq rot(B_X)$.

Proof. We will only prove when *F* is a strongly maximal face of B_X . The other case follows a similar proof. This inclusion $F \subseteq \bigcup_{f \in F} \operatorname{st}(f, B_X)$ holds by bearing in mind Equation 3.2.6. Let us see the other one. Fix an arbitrary $x \in \bigcup_{f \in F} \operatorname{st}(f, B_X)$, in particular, there exists $f \in F$ such that $x \in \operatorname{st}(f, B_X)$. Then, by using again Equation 3.2.6, ||x + f|| = 2, that is, $||x + f||^2 = 4$.

Besides, notice that the linearity of *P* gives P(x+f)+(I-P)(x) = P(x)+P(f)+x-P(x) = f + x, where we have also used the fact that P(f) = f since $f \in F \subseteq P(X)$. Putting this together with $||x+f||^2 = 4$, the following chain of equalities holds

$$\begin{aligned} 4 &= ||x + f||^2 \\ &= ||P(x + f) + (I - P)(x)||^2 \\ &= ||P(x + f)||^2 + ||(I - P)(x)||^2 \\ &\leq (||P(x)|| + ||f||)^2 + ||(I - P)(x)||^2 \\ &= ||P(x)||^2 + ||f||^1 + 2||P(x)||||f|| + ||(I - P)(x)||^2 \\ &= ||x||^2 + ||f||^2 + 2||P(x)||||f|| \\ &= 1 + 1 + 2||P(x)|| \\ &\leq 2 + 2||P||||x|| = 4. \end{aligned}$$

The chain above forces that ||P(x)|| = 1. Notice that $||x||^2 = ||P(x)||^2 + ||(I-P)(x)||^2$ and ||x|| = 1, implying that ||x - P(x)|| = 0, hence $x = P(x) \in S_{P(X)}$. This means that $x \in =$ st $(f, B_X) \cap S_{P(X)} =$ st $(f, B_{P(X)}) \subseteq F$. This proves that st $(f, B_X) \subseteq F$, concluding the proof.

Theorem above does not remains true for general S-projections.

Example 6.2.5. In $\ell_1^2 := (\mathbb{R}^2, \|\cdot\|_1)$, the point (1,0) is a rotund point of the unit ball $\{(x,0): x \in \mathbb{R}\}$ which is not a rotund point in $B_{\ell_1^2}$.

APPENDIX

Conclusions

We have revisited the geometric aspects of real Banach spaces related to the Mazur-Ulam property and Tingley's problem providing new original results, which, in some cases, indicate that Tingley's problem might be solved in the affirmative. For instance, one of our most remarkable result assures that if a maximal face of the unit ball of a Banach space has inner points, then any surjective isometry preserves opposite (or antipodal) faces (Theorem 5.2.15). Another strong result that we have obtained is the fact that if a unit sphere contains a maximal face consisting of a segment, then any surjective isometry is affine on such segment (Theorem 5.3.1). This result has strong consequences on the behavior of surjective isometries after equivalent renormings since every strictly convex Banach space can be equivalently renormed so that the new unit sphere contains only extreme points and maximal faces consisting of segments (Objective 5). All of these results are strong generalizations of classical results of Tingley and are aimed towards a positive solution of Tingley's problem,

A. CONCLUSIONS

namely, Theorems 5.2.4, 5.2.15 and Lemma 4.4.9.

Also, these results, among others in the same chapter, indicate that we have accomplished the first five objectives of this dissertation. For instance, Objective 3 is studied throughout Chapter 5, where Theorems 5.2.8, 5.2.1, 5.1.1, and 5.2.3 show the invariance of some parts of the facial structure (which also serves to achieve Objective 6). Besides, one of the consequences of determining the invariance of facets under surjective isometries (Objective 4) is Theorem 4.3.12. As well, we want to underline that strict convexity is an invariant under surjective isometries as a consequence of the invariance of rotund points as it is shown in Corollary 5.2.9. Another important achievement we want to highlight in the study of the geometric structure is the equivalence between starlike sets and maximal faces when the starlike set is convex (Theorem 4.4.10) in contrast with Tanaka's result, who asked for the Banach space to be separable (1, Lemma 3.3).

On the other hand, with respect to the final objective of this dissertation, we have introduced a new definition in the literature of the Mazur-Ulam property and Tingley's problem. This definition drove us to provide a positive partial solution to Tingley's problem, accomplishing also the sixth objective of this dissertation.

We will denote by \mathscr{B} to the class of all real Banach spaces. A subclass $\mathscr{C} \subseteq \mathscr{B}$ is said to be isometric (isomorphic) if \mathscr{C} is invariant under surjective linear isometries (isomorphisms), that is, if $X \in \mathscr{C}$, $Y \in \mathscr{B}$, and $T : X \to Y$ is a surjective linear isometry (isomorphism), then $Y \in \mathscr{C}$.

Definition A.0.1 (MUp class). A subclass $\mathscr{C} \subseteq \mathscr{B}$ is said to be an MUp class if \mathscr{C} is invariant under surjective isometries between unit spheres, that is, if $X \in \mathscr{C}$, $Y \in \mathscr{B}$, and $T : S_X \to S_Y$ is a surjective isometry, then $Y \in \mathscr{C}$.

Notice that every MUp class is an isometric class. According to classical results in the literature, the class of strictly convex Banach spaces is an MUp class (Objective 2). In view of our Theorem 5.2.8, the class of all Banach spaces whose unit sphere has a dense amount of rotund points is also an MUp class. Finally, the subclass of all Banach spaces whose unit sphere is made of extreme points except for two maximal segments (opposite to each other) is also an MUp class.

APPENDIX

Notation

Next, we will proceed to explain the main notation followed in this dissertation:

3_X the closed unit ball in X
U_X the open unit ball in X
S_X the unit sphere in X
$B_X(x,r)$ the closed ball of center x and radius r in X
$U_X(x,r)$ the open ball of center x and radius r in X
$S_X(x,r)$ the sphere of center x and radius r in X
nt(<i>M</i>) the topological interior of <i>M</i>
$nt_A(M)$ the topological interior of M relative to A
$\mathbb{Cl}(M)$ the topological closure of M
$\operatorname{cl}_A(M)$ the topological closure of M relative to A
$\operatorname{pd}(M)$ the topological boundary of M

$\mathrm{bd}_A(M)$	the topological boundary of M relative to A
ext(<i>M</i>)	the set of extreme points <i>F</i>
X*	\dots the topological dual of <i>X</i>
X**	\dots the topological bidual of <i>X</i>
F(f,A) the su	apporting hyperplane relative to $f \in X^*$ in A
<i>F</i> (<i>f</i>) th	he supporting hyperplane relative to f in B_X
$\exp(B_X)$	the set of exposed points of B_X
<i>E</i> (<i>f</i>) is the	edge of the unit ball with respect to $f \in S_{X^*}$
$rot(B_X)$	the set of rotund points of B_X
$pexp(B_X)$	the set of proper exposed points of B_X
\mathscr{C}_X	the set of facets of B_X
$\operatorname{st}(x,B_X)$	the starlike set of center <i>x</i>
$\operatorname{smo}(B_X)$	the set of the smooth points of B_X
$\mathscr{P}(\mathscr{X})$	the power set of $\mathscr X$
ν	the spherical image map from S_X to S_{X^*}
$\operatorname{frm}(B_X)$	the frame of the unit ball
inn(<i>M</i>)	the set of inner points of <i>M</i>
span(<i>M</i>)	the linear span of <i>M</i>
span(M)	the closed linear span of M
co(<i>M</i>)	the convex hull of <i>M</i>
co (<i>M</i>)	the closed convex hull of <i>M</i>
inter(<i>M</i>)	\dots the set of the internal points of <i>M</i>
adj(<i>M</i>)	the set of the adjacent elements of <i>M</i>
sadj(<i>M</i>) the	e set of the strongly adjacent elements of M
suppv(<i>T</i>) the	e set of supporting vectors of the operator T
$suppy_1(x^*)$ the set	of 1-supporting vectors of the functional x^*

nsupp(M)the set of non-support points of M μ_A the Minkowski functional of AMUpthe Mazur-Ulman propertyPpthe P-property or property PIpthe I-property or inner propertyFpthe F-property or flat property

APPENDIX

Pillars of Functional Analysis

Along the development of the papers backing up the dissertation, it was necessary the usage of some well-known results, most of them in Functional Analysis, which are mentioned below in pursuit to establish a shared framed between the reader and the author. We suggest (47) and (41) to the reader as a complete bibliography on this area.

C.1 Basic background

Next, we list several versions about one of the greater results in Mathematical Analysis.

Theorem C.1.1 (Hahn-Banach Theorems). 1) Analytic Version. Let X be a vector space and p a sublinear functional in X. If M is a proper subspace of X and g is a linear functional in M such that $\operatorname{Re} g(m) \leq p(m)$, $\forall m \in M$, then there exists a linear functional f in X whose restriction to M is g and verifying $\operatorname{Re} f(x) \leq p(x)$, for all $x \in X$. In other words, every linear functional dominated by p could be extended to a linear functional in the whole space such that it continues being dominated by p. Even more, if p is a seminorm, it holds $|f(x)| \le p(x)$, for all $x \in X$.

2) Geometric Versions.

Let A and B be non empty convex disjoint subsets of a vector space X and suppose that there exists $a_0 \in A$ such that $A - a_0$ is absorbent. Then, there exists a non zero linear functional, and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\operatorname{Re} f(a) \leq \alpha \leq \operatorname{Re} f(b)$, for each $a \in A, b \in B$.

3) Extension Hahn-Banach Theorem for normed spaces.

Let X be a normed space, Y a subspace of X, and $g \in Y^*$. Then, there exists $f \in X^*$ such that ||f|| = ||g|| and f(y) = g(y) for all $y \in Y$. As a consequence, if X is a normed space, for each $0 \neq x \in X$ there exists $f \in X^*$ with ||f|| = 1 and f(x) = ||x||, therefore, we have the following expression for the norm in X

$$||x|| = \max\{|f(x)|: f \in S_{X^*}\}, \text{ for each } x \in X.$$

4) Separation Theorems for normed spaces.

- i) Let X be a real normed space, A and B non empty convex and disjoint subsets, such that B is open. Then, there exists a continuous linear functional $f \in X^*$ such that f(a) > f(b), if $a \in A, b \in B$.
- ii) Let X be a normed space, A, B non empty convex subsets such that $int(A) \neq \emptyset$ and $B \cap int(A) = \emptyset$. Then, there exists a continuous linear functional $f \in X^*$ (even, we can

take f with ||f|| = 1), and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ satisfying

$$\operatorname{Re} f(a) \le \alpha \le \operatorname{Re} f(b), \text{ with } a \in A, b \in B.$$

In fact, it holds that $\operatorname{Re} f(a) < \alpha$ for all $a \in \operatorname{int}(A)$.

In the particular case that A is closed with non empty interior, and $B = \{x_0\}$, where $x_0 \in bd(A)$, we obtain a continuous linear functional $f \in X^*$ verifying $Re(f)(x) \leq Re f(x_0)$, for all $x \in A$, which is equivalent to max $Re f(A) = Re f(x_0)$. In that case, the real affine hyperplane $H = \{x \in X : Re f(x) = Re f(x_0)\}$ touches A in x_0 , leaving A on one side of the hyperplane. This is used to say that f is a supporting hyperplane of A at x_0 , or H is a supporting hyperplane for A at x_0 . To sum up, if X is a normed space and A is a non empty convex closed subset with non empty interior, for each point $x_0 \in bd(A)$ there exists $f \in S_{X^*}$ such that max $\{Re f(x) : x \in A\} = Re f(x_0)$.

- iii) For a normed space X and $A \subset X$ a non empty convex open subset, let V be an affine variety such that $V \cap A = \emptyset$. Then, there exists an affine closed hyperplane H such that $V \subset H$ and $H \cap A = \emptyset$.
- iv) Strong separation for normed spaces. Let A and B be non empty convex subsets of a normed space X, and suppose that dist(A, B) = d > 0. Then, there exists a continuous linear functional $f \in S_{X^*}$ such that $sup \operatorname{Re} f(A) + d \leq \inf \operatorname{Re} f(B)$, in which case it is said that f strongly separate the sets A and B.

As a consequence, we have the following expression for the closed convex hull in a normed space. Let $A \subset X$ be a non empty subset of a normed space X. Then,

$$\overline{co}(A) = \bigcap_{f \in X^*} \{ x \in X : \operatorname{Re} f(x) \le \sup \operatorname{Re} f(A) \}.$$

- **Theorem C.1.2** (Riesz Theorem). *a*) Let X be an infinite dimensional normed space, then, there exists a sequence $\{x_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in the unit sphere such that $||x_n - x_m|| \ge 1$ for every $n \ne m$. As a consequence, both the unit sphere, S_X , and the unit ball, B_X , are not compact subsets. Even more, none ball with positive radius is compact, though, every compact set has empty interior.
- b) For each normed space X the following sentences are equivalent
 - *i*) The norm topology on *X* is locally compact.
 - *ii)* Every closed-bounded subset is compact.
 - iii) The unit ball, B_X , is compact.
 - iv) The unit sphere, S_X , is compact.
 - *v*) *X* is infinite dimensional.

The following result is used to give a natural (isometric) identification between a Hilbert space and its dual.

Theorem C.1.3 (Riesz-Frèchet Theorem). Let H be a Hilbert space and $\phi : H \to H^*$ the map given by $y \mapsto \phi(y)$, where $\phi(y) : H \to \mathbb{K}$ is the functional defined by $\phi(y)(x) := \langle x, y \rangle$, for each $x \in X$, and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denotes the scalar product. Then, phi is an isometric conjugated-linear bijection from H onto H^* .

We recall to the reader that if $A \subset E$, where *E* is a topological space, *A* is said to be first category in *E* if *A* is contained in a countable union of closed subsets in *E*, each of them with non-empty interior. Otherwise, we said *A* is second category in *E*.

Theorem C.1.4 (Banach-Steinhaus Theorem). Let X be a Banach space, Y a normed space

and $A \subset L(X, Y)$, where L(X, Y) is the set of all linear and continuous operators from X onto Y. Consider $B = \{x \in X : \sup\{||Tx|| : T \in A\} < \infty\}$. The following assertions are equivalent:

- a) B is second category in X,
- b) B = X, which means A in punctually bounded.
- c) A is uniformly bounded, that means, there exists M > 0 such that $||T|| \le M$ for all $T \in A$.

C.2 Weak and Weak* Topologies

We recall the reader that if *X* is a normed space and $x \in X$, then

$$||x|| = \max\{|x^*(x)| : ||x^*|| \le 1\} = \max\{|\hat{x}(x^*)| : ||x^*|| \le 1\}.$$

This equality shows that the functional $\hat{x} \in X^{**}$ attains its norm in B_{X^*} , where X^* and X^{**} are the dual and bidual of X, and $\hat{x} : X^* \to \mathbb{R}$ is the evaluate functional $\hat{x}(x^*) := x^*(x)$. On the other side, if $x^* \in X^*$, then there exists $x^{**} \in X^{**}$ such that $||x^{**}|| = 1$ and $x^{**}(x^*) = ||x^*||$. Moreover, if X is reflexive, the functional is actually of the form $x^{**} = \hat{x}$ for some $x \in X$, with ||x|| = 1, therefore

 $||x^*|| = \max\{|x^*(x)| : ||x|| \le 1\}$, with $x^* \in X^*$, X reflexive.

In other words, x^* attains its norm in B_X . These equalities shows that the supremums are attained, and it has to be proved as consequences of the Hahn-Banach Theorem, and not

through the compacity, since even the unit ball of an infinite dimensional normed space is not compact, neither its dual's unit ball. As a matter of fact, this lacking of compact subsets in the infinite dimensional case is a direct consequence of the Riesz Theorem, because every compact subset has empty interior for those cases.

Since the compacity is a very useful property, in stead of the norm topology, mathematicians are pointed to consider smaller topologies, which make continuous the elements of the dual space and provide compact subsets, solving the lacking of compact sets for the case of infinite dimensional Banach spaces with the norm topology. These are the weak and weak* topologies, the first one considered for every normed space, and the latter, for its duals. These two topologies are essential to proof important results in functional analysis.

C.2.1 Initial topology

We refer the reader to (47) for all the missed proofs and details about this section.

Let *X* be a non-empty set, (Y, τ) a topological space and \mathscr{F} a family of maps from *X* onto *Y*. We can consider the smallest topology in *X* for which every element of \mathscr{F} is continuous (by *smallest topology* we mean that the topology is minimal respect to the number of open sets). This is called **the initial topology** in *X* for the family \mathscr{F} , and we shall denote it by $\tau_{\mathscr{F}}$. A basis of open sets for this topology is formed by

$$\bigcap_{i=1}^{q} f_i^{-1}(\mathcal{O}_i): \ f_i \in \mathcal{F}, \ \mathcal{O}_i \in \tau, \ 1 \leq i \leq 1,$$

and, for each $x \in X$, if we take \mathcal{O}_i as a neighborhood of $f_i(x)$ in Y, we have a basis of neighborhoods for $x \in X$. Next, we recall some basic properties of this topology (check (47,

chapter 9) for detailed proofs):

- **Proposition C.2.1.** 1. The convergence $\{x_n\} \subset X$ verifies that $\{x_n\} \to x$ in $(X, \tau_{\mathscr{F}})$ if, and only if, $\{f(x_n)\} \to f(x)$ for every $f \in \mathscr{F}$,
 - 2. If Z is a topological space, a map $T : Z \to X$ is continuous if, and only if, $f \circ T : Z \to Y$ is continuous for every $f \in \mathcal{F}$.

C.2.2 Weak topology for a normed space

We keep following the lecture notes (47) in this section, where the reader could check the proofs and details missed.

Let *X* be a normed space and *X*^{*} is dual, that is, the set of continuous and linear functionals. If we consider the particular case of the initial topology in *X* for the family *X*^{*}, we have what is called the **weak topology**. The usual notations for this topology is $\sigma(X, X^*)$, w(X), τ_w or simply *w*, and every concept in this topology shall usually be preceded by *w* or weak (weak-compactness, *w*-convergence, etc.). In case it is possible to confuse the topologies, the terms for the norm topology shall be ahead of $\|\cdot\|$. For a point $x_0 \in X$, a neighborhood basis in the weak topology is formed by

$$\begin{split} V(x_0, f_1, \dots, f_n, \varepsilon) &= \{ x \in X : \ |f_i(x) - f_i(x_0)| < \varepsilon, \ i = 1, \dots, n \} \\ &= \bigcap_{i=1}^n \{ x \in X : \ |f_i(x) - f_i(x_0)| < \varepsilon \} = x_0 + \bigcap_{i=1}^n \{ x \in X : \ |f_i(x)| < \varepsilon \} \\ &= x_0 + V(0, f_1, \dots, f_n, \varepsilon), \quad \text{with } \varepsilon > 0, \ n \in \mathbb{N}, \ f_1, \dots, f_n \in X^*. \end{split}$$

Some properties for the weak topology are

- 1. The weak topology is Hausdorff, and (X, τ_w) is a **topological vector space**, which means that the addition and the scalar multiplication are continuous. Therefore, the translations and homotecies are homeomorphism in *X* respect to the weak topology.
- 2. The weak closure of a subspace or a convex set is also a subspace or convex.

Let us see some examples for specific normed spaces with the weak topology.

Example C.2.2. If *H* is a Hilbert space, as a consequence of Riesz-Frèchet Theorem, see Theorem (C.1.3), the basic weak-neighborhoods for zero are

$$V(0, x_1, x_2, \dots, x_m, \varepsilon) = \bigcap_{i=1}^m \{x \in H : |\langle x, x_i \rangle| < \varepsilon\}, \quad \text{with } \varepsilon > 0, x_i \in H, \forall i = 1, \dots, m.$$

Let p, q ∈ N such that 1/p+1/q = 1, or p = 1, q = ∞ (conjugated indices). We consider the sequence space l_p, and its dual l_p^{*} ≅ l_q (see (47, Chapter 2) for a wider study of sequence spaces), then, in l_p with the weak topology, the basic w-neighborhoods of zero have the form

$$V(0, y_1, y_2, \dots, y_m, \varepsilon) = \bigcap_{i=1}^m \left\{ x \in \ell_p : \left| \sum_{k=1}^\infty y_i(k) x(k) \right| < \varepsilon \right\},$$

with $\varepsilon > 0$, $y_i \in \ell_q$, $i = 1, \dots, m$.

 If Ω is a set with positive Lebesgue measure, for the quotient functions space L_p(Ω) with the weak topology, we know that L_q(Ω) ≅ L_p(Ω)^{*} and p,q are under the hypotheses of the above example, the w-neighborhoods of zero are

$$V(0,g_1,g_2,\ldots,g_m,\varepsilon) = \bigcap_{i=1}^m \left\{ f \in L_p(\Omega) : \left| \int_{\Omega} f(x)g_i(x)dx \right| < \varepsilon \right\},$$

with $\varepsilon > 0, g_i \in L_q(\Omega), i = 1, \dots, m$.

The next result will be a useful tool in proofs along this memoire.

Proposition C.2.3. Let $\{f_1, f_2, ..., f_n\}$ be a family of linear functionals on a vector space X. The following assertions are equivalent

- 1. $f \in \text{span}\{f_1, f_2, \dots, f_n\} := Lin(\{f_1, \dots, f_n\}).$
- 2. There exist $C \ge 0$ such that $|f(x)| \le C \max\{|f_i(x)| : 1 \le i \le n\}$ for all $x \in X$.
- 3. *f* is bounded, (majorated or minorated) in $\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \ker(f_i)$.

4.
$$\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \ker(f_i) \subset \ker(f)$$
.

Remark C.2.4. Since $f \in X^*$ is continuous respect to the norm topology, it verifies $\tau_w \subseteq \tau_{\|\cdot\|}$. Even more, the topological dual characterizes the weak continuity, that is, if $f : X \to \mathbb{K}$ is a linear form, f is w-continuous, if and only if, $f \in X^*$.

As a consequence of the proposition above, if $\{f_1, \ldots, f_n\}$ are linear forms in X such that $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \ker(f_i) = \{0\}$, then $\bigcup_{i=1}^{n} \ker(f_i) \subset \ker(f)$, and $f \in \langle \{f_1, \ldots, f_n\} \rangle$. We conclude that $X^{\#}$ is finite dimensional, where $X^{\#}$ denotes the algebraic dual of X, that is, the set of linear forms in X. Therefore, X is also finite dimensional. On the other hand, if X has infinite dimension, the vector subspace $\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \ker(f_i) \neq \{0\}$. Then, a w-neighborhood of zero $\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \{x \in X : |f_i(x)| < \varepsilon\}$ contains a non-zero vector subspace $\bigcap_{i=1}^{n} \ker(f_i)$. Thus, if X is an infinite dimensional normed space, every w-neighborhood of zero is not bounded respect to the norm, in particular, the unit ball is not a weak neighborhood of zero, concluding that when the environment is the infinite dimensional case, the contention seen in C.2.4 is strict. In turn, through translations, we gather that every weak neighborhood contains, at least, an affine line, and so these wneighborhood are not norm-bounded.

Proposition C.2.5. The weak and the norm topologies coincide if and only if the normed space is finite dimensional.

The following result establishes the behaviour of convergence respect to the weak topology.

Proposition C.2.6. Let $\{x_n\}$ be a sequence of a normed space X and $x \in X$. It holds

- 1. $\{x_n\} \to x$ if and only if $\{f(x_n)\} \to f(x)$, for all $f \in X^*$.
- 2. Norm convergence implies weak convergence.
- 3. If $\{x_n\} \xrightarrow{w} x$, then, the sequence $\{x_n\}$ is bounded and $||x|| \le \liminf\{||x_n||\}$.
- 4. If $\{x_n\} \xrightarrow{w} x$ and $\{f_n\} \xrightarrow{\|\cdot\|} f$ in X^* , then $\{f_n(x_n)\} \to f(x)$.

Corollary C.2.7. The weak topology is not metrizable for infinite dimensional normed spaces.

As a consequence of this result, some terms and properties used in metric space are not true in the weak topology environment. This assertion is a direct consequence of (41, Theorem 6.1.6)

The weak and norm topologies are pretty different for infinite dimensional spaces, as we show in the following result.

Proposition C.2.8. If X is an infinite dimensional normed space, the $\overline{S_X}^w = B_X$. As a consequence, the mapping $x \to ||x||$ is w-lower semicontinuous but not weak-continuous.

The following well-known result is a consequence of the Separation Theorems previously recalled for convex sets, and it will be useful in the study of the convex and inner structure of the unit ball in this dissertation.

Theorem C.2.9 (Mazur's Theorem). *The norm-closure and the weak-closure are the same for a convex set C of a normed space X*.

The next result gives a sufficient condition for the weak convergence.

Proposition C.2.10. Let X be a normed space and $F \subset X^*$ such that $\overline{\langle F \rangle} = X^*$. If a sequence $\{x_n\} \subset X$ is norm-bounded and there exists $x \in X$ such that $\lim\{f(x_n)\} = f(x)$ for all $f \in F$, then $\{x_n\} \xrightarrow{w} x$.

The following example holds as a particular case for this proposition.

- **Example C.2.11.** If $\{x_n\}$ is a bounded sequence in c_0 , the space of sequences convergent to 0, and there exists $x \in c_0$ such that $\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n(k) = x(k)$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, then $\{x_n\}$ is weakly convergent to x.
 - A bounded sequence $\{x_n\}$ in ℓ_p , with p < 1, satisfying that there exists $x \in \ell_p$ such that $\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n(k) = x(k) \text{ for all } k \in \mathbb{N}, \text{ satisfies that } \{x_n\} \xrightarrow{w} x.$

In these cases, the hypotheses are sufficient but also necessary, that is, the weak convergence in the spaces ℓ_p and c_0 is equivalent to require both pointwise convergence and norm-bounded.

Another consequence is when H is a Hilbert space: let {e_i : i ∈ I} be an orthonormal basis of H, then, the weak convergence {x_n} → x is equivalent to ask {x_n} to be bounded and {⟨x_n, e_i⟩} → ⟨x, e_i⟩ for all i ∈ I.

C.2.3 Weak* topology for the dual of a normed space

This section is borrowed from (47), and we omit the proofs for a simpler reading.

Let X be a normed space and X^* , its dual. As we have seen, we can consider the weak

topology in every normed space, in particular, in X^* . This topology is the initial topology for the linear forms of X^{**} . Besides, we can take the family formed by the evaluation mappings, $\hat{x} : X^* \to \mathbb{K}$, $\hat{x}(x^*) = x^*(x)$, for all $x^* \in X^*$, in other words, the linear forms defined by the elements of X in X^* , which are continuous. What is known as the **weak* topology** of X^* is precisely this initial topology, which is denoted by $\sigma(X^*, X)$. All the topological notions will be preceded by the prefix w^* when the topology involved is the weak* topology. Note that this topology is coarser that the weak topology $\sigma(X^*, X^{**})$.

For an element $x_0^* \in X^*$, a neighborhood basis in the weak^{*} topology has the following form

$$V(x_0^*, x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n, \varepsilon) = \{x^* \in X^* : |x^*(x_i) - x_0^*(x_i)| < \varepsilon, \ 1 \le i \le n\}$$
$$= \bigcap_{i=1}^n \{x^* \in X^* : |(x^* - x_0^*)(x_i)| < \varepsilon\} = x_0^* + \bigcap_{i=1}^n \{x^* \in X^* : |x^*(x_i)| < \varepsilon\}$$

with $\varepsilon > 0$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n \in X$.

The following result is a consequence of (C.2.1).

Proposition C.2.12. Let (Y, τ) be a topological space. A mapping $T : (Y, \tau) \to (X^*, w^*)$ is continuous if, and only if, for all $x \in X$ the mapping $\hat{x} \circ T : (Y, \tau) \to \mathbb{K}$ is continuous, where

$$(\hat{x} \circ T)(y) = (T(y))(x), \forall y \in Y.$$

Some properties for the weak* topology are gathered in the next result.

Proposition C.2.13. 1. (X^*, w^*) is Hausdorff and a topological vector space. As a consequence, translations and homotecies are homeomorphisms of that topological space.

 The weak* closure of a subspace or a convex subset are also a subspace or a convex subset, respectively.

Remark C.2.14. Following a similar reasoning as in the weak topology, every w*-open subset contains an affine subspace which is not a singleton and, therefore, it is not norm-bounded. Then, in the infinite dimensional case, the open balls are not bounded for the weak* topology.

In summery, in a dual space, we could consider three topologies: the topology of the norm, the weak topology and the weak* topology, each one contained in the previous one.

Proposition C.2.15. Let X be a normed space. A linear functional $f : X^* \to \mathbb{K}$ is w^{*}-continuous if, and only if, there exists $x \in X$ such that $f = \hat{x}$, a evaluation functional. That means, the weak and the weak^{*} topologies for X^{*} are the same when X is reflexive.

As a consequence, the norm, the weak and the weak^{*} topologies coincide if, and only if, X is finite dimensional.

Proposition C.2.16. Let $\{x_n^*\}$ be a sequence in X^* , the dual space of a normed space X, and $x^* \in X^*$, then:

- 1. $\{x_n^*\} \xrightarrow{w^*} x^*$ if, and only if, $\{x_n^*(x)\} \to x^*(x)$ for all $x \in X$.
- 2. If X is a Banach space, and $\{x_n^*\} \xrightarrow{w^*} x^*$, then $\{x_n^*\}$ is norm-bounded and $||x^*|| \le \liminf\{||x_n^*||\}$.

The following example displays a w^* -convergent sequence which is not bounded.

Example C.2.17. Let $X := (c_{00}, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$. Notice that X^* is linearly isometric to $(\ell_1, \|\cdot\|_1)$. For every $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let

$$x_n^* := \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{2^k} e_k + \frac{n}{\sum_{k=n+1}^\infty \frac{1}{2^k}} \sum_{k=n+1}^\infty \frac{1}{2^k} e_k.$$

For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $(x_n^*(e_k))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to 0 because if n > k, then $x_n^*(e_k) = \frac{1/n}{2^k}$. As a consequence, $(x_n^*(x))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to 0 for all $x \in c_{00}$ due to the fact that $c_{00} = \operatorname{span}\{e_n : n \in \mathbb{N}\}$. In other words, $\{x_n^*\} \xrightarrow{w^*} 0$. However, notice that

$$\begin{aligned} \|x_n^*\|_1 &= \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{2^k} + \frac{n}{\sum_{k=n+1}^\infty \frac{1}{2^k}} \sum_{k=n+1}^\infty \frac{1}{2^k} \\ &= \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^n \frac{1}{2^k} + n \\ &\ge n \\ &\to \infty \text{ as } n \to \infty. \end{aligned}$$

Under the settings of Example C.2.17, notice that, if now $X := (c_0, \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$, then $\{x_n^*\} \xrightarrow{w^*} 0$. Indeed, if $\{x_n^*\} \xrightarrow{w^*} 0$, the completeness of c_0 forces that $\{x_n^*\}$ is norm-bounded in view of Proposition C.2.16(2), contradicting that $\|x_n^*\|_1 \to \infty$ as $n \to \infty$.

For a dual normed space, it is interesting how to split w^* -closed convex subsets via w^* continuous functionals.

Theorem C.2.18 (Separation Theorem for convex subsets with the w^* topology). If X is a normed space, $A \subset X^*$ a non-empty subset, w^* -closed and convex, and $x_0^* \in X \setminus A$, then, there exists $x \in X$ such that

$$\sup\{\operatorname{Re} a^*(x): a^* \in A\} < \operatorname{Re} x^*_0(x).$$

Note that under the hypotheses of theorem above, if $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ is an arbitrary number satisfying that

$$\sup\{\operatorname{Re} a^*(x): a^* \in A\} < \alpha < \operatorname{Re} x_0^*(x),$$

then, the w^{*}-closed hyperplane $H = \{x^* \in X : \text{Re } x^*(x) = a\}$ strictly splits A and x_0^* , since

 $A \subset \{x^* \in X^* : \text{Re } x^*(x) < \alpha\} \text{ and } x_0^* \in \{x^* \in X^* : \text{Re } x^*(x) > \alpha\}.$

The Mazur Theorem is not true in the weak^{*} environment (it is sufficient to consider a non reflexive normed space *X*, and the hyperplane $H = \{x^* \in X^* : f(x^*) = 0\}$ with $f \in X^{**} \setminus X$).

Proposition C.2.19. If X is an infinite dimensional normed space, then $\overline{S_{X^*}}^w = B_{X^*}$. As a consequence, the mapping $x^* \mapsto ||x^*||$ is w^{*}-lower semicontinuous but not w^{*}-continuous.

Proposition C.2.20. Let X be a normed space and $F \subset X$ such that $\overline{\text{span}\{F\}} = X$. If $\{x_n^*\} \subset X^*$ is a norm-bounded sequence, and there exists $x^* \in X^*$ such that $\lim\{x_n^*(y)\} = x^*(y)$, for each $y \in F$, then $\{x_n^*\} \xrightarrow{w^*} x^*$.

One of the main advantages of building up the weak* topology is appearance of a somehow "large amount" of compact subset For this, we present an important theorem. Firstly, let us consider a non-empty set X and a family of non-empty sets $\{Y_x : x \in X\}$. The cartesian product of such family is denoted by $\prod_{x \in X} Y_x$, and it is the family of all the mappings f: $X \to \bigcup_{x \in X} Y_x$ satisfying $f(x) \in Y_x$, for all $x \in X$. For each $x \in X$, it is also considered the projection mappings $\pi_x : \prod Y_x \to Y_x$, defined by $\pi_x(f) = f(x)$, for all $f \in \prod_{x \in X} Y_x$, and suppose that each (Y_x, τ_x) is a topological space. In this case, the *product topology* in $\prod_{x \in X} Y_x$ is the initial topology for the family $\{\pi_x : x \in X\}$, that is, it is the smaller topology in $\prod_{x \in X} Y_x$ which make the projections continuous. The sets which form the basis of this topology are

$$\bigcap_{x \in J} \pi_x^{-1}(U_x) = \bigcap_{x \in J} \left\{ f \in \prod_{x \in X} Y_x : f(x) \in U_x \right\}, \ U_x \in B_x, \ J \subset X, J \text{ finite, } B_x \text{ basis of } \tau_x.$$

Theorem C.2.21 (Tychonoff Theorem). The product of compacts topological spaces, with the

product topology, is a compact topological space.

In the particular case $Y_x = \mathbb{K}$ for all $x \in X$, the product $\prod_{x \in X} Y_x = \mathbb{K}^X$ are all the mappings from X to \mathbb{K} . This reasoning is key for the proof of the following well-known result (it is detailed in the reference given at the beginning of this section).

Theorem C.2.22 (Banach-Alaoglu Theorem). The closed unit ball of a dual space is w^* -compact. As a consequence, every subset of the dual of a normed space verifying that is w^* -closed and norm-bounded, is w^* -compact.

The following results shows the behaviour of a normed space seen into its bidual.

Theorem C.2.23 (Goldstein Theorem). Let X be a normed space, and X^{**} its bidual. Then, the unit ball B_X seen into X^{**} is dense in $B_{X^{**}}$ respect to the weak* topology in X^{**} . As a consequence, $X \subset X^{**}$ is dense in X^{**} respect to its w^{*}-topology.

Corollary C.2.24. If X is an infinite dimensional normed space, then $S_X \subset X^{**}$ is w^{*}-dense in $B_{X^{**}}$.

Nest results solves the lacking of compact sets for the weak topology when the environment normed space is reflexive.

Theorem C.2.25 (Dieudonné Theorem). A normed space is reflexive if, and only if, its unit ball is weakly compact. Therefore, every w-closed subset which is norm-bounded is w-compact for a reflexive normed space.

The following consequence shows how assorted are the C(K) type spaces.

Corollary C.2.26. Let X be a normed space. Then, there exists a Hausdorff compact topological space, K, such that X is isometrically isomorphic to a subspace of C(K).

C.3 Another important results in Functional Analysis

The purpose of this section is to give a compilation of some important results in functional analysis that will be used along this memory. For details about the proofs or a wider perspective on this topics, we refer the reader to (41).

We start by recalling a so-called result related to the Extreme Theory in topological vector spaces:

Theorem C.3.1 (Krein-Milman Theorem). For a Hausdorff locally convex topological vector space X and a non-empty compact subset $K \subseteq X$, it holds that $K \subseteq \overline{co}(ext(K))$. In particular, if K is closed and convex, then it is the closed convex hull of its extreme points.

Another important results in the study of weakly compacity.

Theorem C.3.2 (Eberlein-Smulian Theorem). Let X be a normed space. A subset $K \subseteq X$ is relatively weakly compact if and only if every sequence of K has a weakly convergent subsequence.

Theorem C.3.3 (Krein-Smulian Theorem). *If K is a weakly compact subset of a Banach space X*, then, the closed convex hull of K, denoted by $\overline{co}(K)$, is weakly compact.

Following result established an equivalence between w-convergence and $\|\cdot\|$ -convergence in ℓ_1 .

Theorem C.3.4 (Schur Theorem). Let $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of ℓ_1 . Then, (x_n) is weakly convergent if and only if $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is convergent respect to the norm. In this case, $w \lim_{n \to \infty} (x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} = \lim_{n \to \infty} (x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$.

Bibliography

- [1] Ryotaro Tanaka. A further property of spherical isometries. Bull. Aust. Math. Soc., 90(2):304–310, 2014. xvi, xvii, 5, 7, 12, 54, 70, 80, 82, 94
- [2] Ryotaro Tanaka. The solution of Tingley's problem for the operator norm unit sphere of complex $n \times n$ matrices. *Linear Algebra Appl.*, 494:274–285, 2016. xvi, xvii, 7, 42
- [3] Almudena Campos-Jiménez and Francisco Javier García-Pacheco. Geometric invariants of surjective isometries between unit spheres. *Mathematics*, 9(18), 2021. xvi, xvii, xviii, 35, 62, 64, 70, 71, 73, 76, 79, 82
- [4] Ryotaro Tanaka. On the frame of the unit ball of Banach spaces. *Cent. Eur. J. Math.*, 12(11):1700–1713, 2014. xvii, 5, 11
- [5] Daryl Tingley. Isometries of the unit sphere. *Geom. Dedicata*, 22(3):371–378, 1987.
 xvii, xviii, 4, 8, 9, 10, 13, 28, 62, 68, 77, 79, 80
- [6] Doina Ionac and Stefan Tigan. On some properties of the starlike sets and generalized convex functions. Application to the mathematical programming with disjunctive constraints. *Studia Univ. Babeş-Bolyai Math.*, 49(2):53–64, 2004. xvii, 55, 90

- [7] Lixin Cheng and Yunbai Dong. On a generalized Mazur-Ulam question: extension of isometries between unit spheres of Banach spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 377(2):464– 470, 2011. xvii, 68, 80
- [8] Ri Sheng Wang. Isometries between the unit spheres of $C_0(\Omega)$ type spaces. Acta Math. Sci. (English Ed.), 14(1):82–89, 1994. xvii
- [9] Xi Nian Fang and Jian Hua Wang. Extension of isometries between the unit spheres of normed space *E* and *C*(Ω). *Acta Math. Sin. (Engl. Ser.)*, 22(6):1819–1824, 2006. xvii, 68
- [10] Dong-Ni Tan. Extension of isometries on unit sphere of L^{∞} . Taiwanese J. Math., 15(2):819–827, 2011. xvii
- [11] Vladimir Kadets and Miguel Martín. Extension of isometries between unit spheres of finite-dimensional polyhedral Banach spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 396(2):441–447, 2012. xvii, 58
- [12] Francisco J. Fernández-Polo, Jorge J. Garcés, Antonio M. Peralta, and Ignacio Villanueva. Tingley's problem for spaces of trace class operators. *Linear Algebra Appl.*, 529:294–323, 2017. xvii
- [13] Ryotaro Tanaka. Tingley's problem on finite von Neumann algebras. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 451(1):319–326, 2017. xvii
- [14] Antonio M. Peralta and Ryotaro Tanaka. A solution to Tingley's problem for isometries between the unit spheres of compact C*-algebras and JB*-triples. *Sci. China Math.*, 62(3):553–568, 2019. xvii, xviii
- [15] Antonio M. Peralta. On the unit sphere of positive operators. Banach J. Math. Anal., 13(1):91–112, 2019. xvii
- [16] Taras Banakh. Any isometry between the spheres of absolutely smooth 2-dimensional Banach spaces is linear. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 500(1):125104, 27, 2021. xviii
- [17] Javier Cabello Sánchez. A reflection on Tingley's problem and some applications. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 476(2):319–336, 2019. xviii
- [18] Taras Banakh and Javier Cabello Sánchez. Every non-smooth 2-dimensional Banach space has the Mazur-Ulam property. *Linear Algebra Appl.*, 625:1–19, 2021. xviii
- [19] Taras Banakh. Every 2-dimensional banach space has the mazur–ulam property. *Linear Algebra and its Applications*, 632:268–280, jan 2022. xviii
- [20] Francisco Javier García-Pacheco and Enrique Naranjo-Guerra. Inner structure in real vector spaces. *Georgian Math. J.*, 27(3):361–366, 2020. xviii, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 32, 36, 37, 39, 78
- [21] F. J. García-Pacheco. A solution to the faceless problem. J. Geom. Anal., 30(4):3859–3871, 2020. xviii, 12, 15
- [22] Francisco Javier García-Pacheco, Soledad Moreno-Pulido, Enrique Naranjo-Guerra, and Alberto Sánchez-Alzola. Non-linear inner structure of topological vector spaces. *Mathematics*, 9(5), 2021. xviii, 16, 36
- [23] Almudena Campos-Jiménez and Francisco Javier García-Pacheco. Compact convex set free of inner points in infinite-dimensional topological vector spaces. *Math. Nachr.*, (submited), 2022. xviii, xix, 28, 36, 38, 85, 90
- [24] Clemente Cobos-Sánchez, José Antonio Vilchez-Membrilla, Almudena Campos-Jiménez, and Francisco Javier García-Pacheco. Pareto optimality for multioptimization of continuous linear operators. *Symmetry*, 13(4), 2021. xix, xxi, 24

- [25] Almudena Campos-Jiménez, José Antonio Vílchez-Membrilla, Clemente Cobos-Sánchez, and Francisco Javier García-Pacheco. Analytical solutions to minimum-norm problems. *Mathematics*, 10(9), 2022. xix, xxi, 24
- [26] Francisco Javier García-Pacheco and Enrique Naranjo-Guerra. Supporting vectors of continuous linear projections. International Journal of Functional Analysis, Operator Theory and Applications, 9(3):85–95, 2017. xix, 23, 25, 85, 88
- [27] Alberto Sánchez-Alzola, Francisco Javier García-Pacheco, Enrique Naranjo-Guerra, and Soledad Moreno-Pulido. Supporting vectors for the ℓ_1 -norm and the ℓ_{∞} -norm and an application. *Math. Sci. (Springer)*, 15(2):173–187, 2021. xxi
- [28] Alberto Sánchez-Alzola, Soledad Moreno-Pulido, Enrique Naranjo-Guerra, and Francisco Javier García-Pacheco. Supporting vectors for the l_p-norm. J. Math. Inequal., 16(4):1605–1620, 2022. xxi
- [29] Clemente Cobos Sanchez, Francisco Garcia-Pacheco, Jose-Maria Guerrero-RodrÂguez, and Justin Hill. An inverse boundary element method computational framework for designing optimal tms coils. *Engineering Analysis with Boundary Elements*, 88, 11 2017. xxi
- [30] Clemente Cobos-Sánchez, José Antonio Vilchez-Membrilla, Almudena Campos-Jiménez, and Francisco Javier García-Pacheco. Topological multi-optimization via functional analysis. J. Global Optim., (submited), 2021. xxi
- [31] Mahlon M. Day. *Normed linear spaces*. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, Band 21. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, third edition, 1973. 3
- [32] Joseph Diestel. *Geometry of Banach spaces—selected topics*. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 485. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1975. 3, 10, 41

- [33] Robert E. Megginson. An introduction to Banach Space Theory, volume 183 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1998. 3, 10, 23, 30, 33, 41
- [34] F. J. Garcia-Pacheco. Vertices, edges and facets of the unit ball. J. Convex Anal., 26(1):105–116, 2019. 5, 8, 41, 50, 51
- [35] Robert Deville, Gilles Godefroy, and Václav Zizler. Smoothness and renormings in Banach spaces, volume 64 of Pitman Monographs and Surveys in Pure and Applied Mathematics.
 Longman Scientific & Technical, Harlow; copublished in the United States with John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1993. 10, 44
- [36] Haïm Brezis. Analyse fonctionnelle. Collection Mathématiques Appliquées pour la Maîtrise. [Collection of Applied Mathematics for the Master's Degree]. Masson, Paris, 1983. Théorie et applications. [Theory and applications]. 12
- [37] L.E. Dubins. On extreme points of convex sets. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 5(2):237–244, 1962. 12
- [38] F. J. García-Pacheco. Relative interior and closure of the set of inner points. *Quaest. Math.*, 43(5-6):761–772, 2020. 12
- [39] Per Enflo. A counterexample to the approximation problem in Banach spaces. *Acta Math.*, 130:309–317, 1973. 14
- [40] Fernando Albiac and Nigel J. Kalton. Topics in Banach Space Theory, volume 233 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, New York, 2006. 14
- [41] Antonio Aizpuru Tomás. Apuntes incompletos de análisis funcional. Departamento de Matemáticas, Universidad de Cádiz, 2004. 14, 19, 32, 101, 110, 117
- [42] N. Bourbaki. Topological vector spaces. Chapters 1–5. Elements of Mathematics (Berlin).

Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1987. Translated from the French by H. G. Eggleston and S. Madan. 15, 19

- [43] Francisco Javier García-Pacheco and Enrique Naranjo-Guerra. Balanced and absorbing subsets with empty interior. *Adv. Geom.*, 16(4):477–480, 2016. 16
- [44] F.J. García-Pacheco and E. Naranjo-Guerra. A family of balanced and absorbing sets with empty interior. *Journal of Nonlinear Functional Analysis*, 2017(0):1–10, 2017. 16
- [45] Gottfried Köthe. Topological vector spaces. I. Translated from the German by D. J. H. Garling. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, Band 159. Springer-Verlag New York Inc., New York, 1969. 19
- [46] John B. Conway. A course in functional analysis, volume 96 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1990. 19
- [47] Francisco Javier Pérez González. Análisis Funcional en Espacios de Banach. Departamento de Análisis Matemático, Universidad de Granada. (Lecture Notes). 21, 22, 25, 26, 101, 106, 107, 108, 111
- [48] Clemente Cobos-Sánchez, Francisco Javier García-Pacheco, Soledad Moreno-Pulido, and Sol Sáez-Martínez. Supporting vectors of continuous linear operators. Ann. Funct. Anal., 8(4):520–530, 2017. 23
- [49] Beata Randrianantoanina. Norm-one projections in Banach spaces. volume 5, pages 35–95. 2001. International Conference on Mathematical Analysis and its Applications (Kaohsiung, 2000). 25
- [50] Francisco J. García-Pacheco. Isometric reflections in two dimensions and dual L¹structures. Bull. Korean Math. Soc., 49(6):1275–1289, 2012. 33, 34

- [51] F. J. García-Pacheco. Convex components and multi-slices in real topological vector spaces. Ann. Funct. Anal., 6(3):73–86, 2015. 41
- [52] F. J. García-Pacheco. A Solution to the Faceless Problem. J. Geom. Anal., 30(4):3859– 3871, 2020. 41
- [53] S. L. Troyanski. On locally uniformly convex and differentiable norms in certain nonseparable Banach spaces. *Studia Math.*, 37:173–180, 1970/71. 44
- [54] Dongni Tan and Rui Liu. A note on the Mazur-Ulam property of almost-CL-spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 405(1):336–341, 2013. 65
- [55] Julio Becerra Guerrero and A. Rodríguez-Palacios. Transitivity of the norm on Banach spaces. *Extracta Math.*, 17(1):1–58, 2002. 78
- [56] Francisco Javier García-Pacheco. Advances on the Banach-Mazur conjecture for rotations. J. Nonlinear Convex Anal., 16(4):761–765, 2015. 78
- [57] Francisco J. García-Pacheco and Bentuo Zheng. Geometric properties on non-complete spaces. *Quaest. Math.*, 34(4):489–511, 2011. 79, 84